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Network Rail helps bring the country
together. We own, operate and maintain
Britain’s rail network, increasingly
delivering improved standards of safety,
reliability and efficiency. Our investment
programme to enhance and modernise the
network is the most ambitious it has ever
been. Delivering a 21st century railway for
our customers and society at large.

Every day. Everywhere.




Meeting the challenges

of success

In 2007/08 demands on Britain’s rail network

increased across all sectors — commuting, inter-urban,

long distance and freight. The railway is the busiest it
has been since 1946. The challenge facing everyone
in the railway industry is to manage further growth
and respond to changing travel patterns.

Network Rail has achieved a great deal
since the Company took responsibility
for the network in 2002

Bnitain has the fastest growing raiway

in Europe Passenger numbers and
freight volumes continue {0 grow every
year with aver 1 2bn passenger journays
made in 2007

Safety has improved every year The
railway continues to be the safest form
of transport in Brtain and the accident
frequency rate for our workforce 1S the
lowesl It has ever been

Punctuality has also improved 1t1s now
the best it has been since records
started in 1996

And all this has been achieved while
dnving out costs at a rate that has
delivered a 23 per cent improvement
in efficiency aver the last four years

But success has created Its own
challenges The railway currently carries
around three millien people every
weekday this is forecast Lo grow to some
four millicn withen 10 years We have to
correct decades of underinvastment in
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maintenance and renewals, we also have
to enhance the network o manage this
growth This year our £4bn investment
programme delivered arownd 5,000
major projects across the network Over
the next five years the number, size and
complexity of these projects are set lo
Increase dramatically

Everyone involved in the GB rail industry
has a clear vision of the future a bigger,
better and higher performing railway
Qur challenge s to deliver this vision
On time On budget And with minimum
chsruption to these using the radway




Our performance

Safety

Rail travel continues to be
the safest form of transport
in Britain

During 2007/08 there were no train
accidents resuling in fatahties to people
on beard trains and there was a 13 per
cent reduction In the rate of *significant
train accidents’ {collisions and
derailments} Safety also improved for
workers on the rartways, although live
track working remains hazardous
Despite a continuous drive to iImprove
safety, sadly there were two workforce
fatalities duning the year

The most significant area of risk on the
railways 1s around level crossings There
were eight fatalities involving occupants
of vehicles on level crossings dunng the
year This s five fewer than in the
previous year but each one 1s a tragic
event and we remain focused on
educating users of the dangers
associated wiih level crossings

Oth year

There were 181 broken rails in the
year, the lowest annual total ever
Better inspection techmques, new
track and relatively mild weather all
contributed to the ninth consecutive
year of improvement for this key
safety indicator

14%

We are focused on improving safety
for those who work on the rallways
Last year's accident frequency rate

of 0 226 accidents per 100,000 hours
worked 1s the lowest level ever and
represents a 14 per cent improvement
on the previous year

Rehability
Train punctuality continues
to improve

Britam's ralway 15 a complex network
Some three millon passengers made
over 1 2bn journeys last year
Improvemnents in performance are driven
by the investments and hard work of
everyone involved - the train and freight
operattng companies, infrastructure
contractors and ourselves 2007 showed
rehability )mprovements in all key metncs

22,000

Around 22,000 trains are currently
run each weekday — that represents
a near 30 per cent increase since
privatisation

89.9%

By the end of 2007 train punctualhty
reached 89 9 per cent — the highest
figure in recorded history We anticipate
exceeding 90 per cent this year

10%

During the year there were some 9 5m
delay minutes attributable to Network
Rail This represented a 10 per cent
improvement on the previous year and
was well ahead of the Office of Rail
Regulation’s (ORR) target

Financial highlights

Efficiency

Running an affordable
rallway remains our key
financial focus. Achieving
better cost efficiency
enables us to invest more
in enhancing the railway
network

We continue to drive down the costs
involved 1n running the raibway This

year alone a further £178m in real terms
was cut from the cost base At the same
time we continued to Invest around £4bn
a year in renewals and enhancements
The results can be seen in the
improvement of the asset stewardship
index (a measure of the reliability of our
raitway assets)

£1.2bn

£1 2bn profit for the year All of this
15 being invested in the railway

£178m

A further £178m in real terms was
cut from the annual cost of running
the railway

£1bn+

In 2007/08 over £1bn was invested in
network enhancements £0 5bn more
than in 2006/07

for the year ended 31 March 2008 2008 2007

£m £m
Revenue 5,960 5,795
Operating profit 2,412 2,278
Profit before tax 1,597 1,478
Profit after tax 1,189 1,035
Net cash from operating activities 2,434 2.428
Net debt (19,743) {(18,394)
Net assels 7,162 5,658
Railway network fixed assets 31,443 28,304
Investment property 949 948
Capiai expenditure 3,952 3,326
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People
35,000 people delivering
day and night

Our 35,000 people not only enable

the raitway lo run more safely, efficiently
and reliably, they also deliver same 5,000
individual engineernng projects a year

to enhance the network Overrunning
engineenng works at Rugby, Liverpool
Street and Shields Junction at the
beginning of 2008 damaged our
reputation, but every day, every weekend,
every bank holiday, cur people deliver
hundreds of similarly demanding projects
with the mimmum of disruption

160,000

During 2007/08 we delivered 160,000
vocational training days to our people

£23m

We spent £23m on training
for our people

5,000

We delivered 5,000 individual
engineering projects durning the year

£3.9bn

We invested £3 9bn in the rallway

Safety is our number
one priority
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Chairman’s statement

lan McAllister Chairman

Network Rail will deliver
a £30bn investment
programme to grow
capacity on the network

This 1s an exciting time for Bntain's railways, and for Network Rail itself, as we look
to build on the successes of the last five years for the Company and the industry

as a whole

Netwerk Rail has now owned and
operated Britain's rallway for more than
five years, and over that time the railway
has been transformed It is safer than it
has ever been More trains are running
than ever before Average punctualty for
the year, at 89 9 per cent, 1s the highest
since records began in 1996 Passenger
journeys are at their highest level for
more than 60 years Cost efficiencies

of 23 per cent have been delivered
Meanwhile, investment in the network
has grown and, over the next five years,
it will double and then double again

| am proud of the part Netwark Rall has
played in these successes, bul it s also
a record of which the whole industry
can be proud

Duning the past year performance and
safety across the network has conbnued
to improve and grow, and the cost of
running the railway has continued to falk
The year has also been free of passenger
fatalites and the key safety indicators
contnue to improve, with the raillway
recognised as the safest form of
transport Since Network Ratt was
estlablished the number of broken rails
has been reduced by over 50 per cent

| pay tnbute to two colleagues who have
lost therr ives this year Therr tragic deaths
remind us of the difficult nature of the
work carned out by Network Rail's people
all year round | thank them all for the
valuable work they do Notwithstanding
these two ternble incidents, huge stndes
have heen made in recent years o
improve safety for those both working

on and using the raillway
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Qur customers, the train and freight
operaling companies, make a huge
contnbution to helping deliver greater
levels of rellability and a better railway
overall | am dehghted with the work
Network Rall has been able to undertake
in partnership with our customers
throughout the year and across the
country to improve the network for
passengers and fretght users alike

By the end of March 2009 the cost of
running the rail network will have fallen, in
real terms, by around a third in five years
However, In 2007/08, for a number of
factors, Network Raii’s financial efficiency
target has not been reached This is
disappainting, but should not detract from
the progress that has been made since
2002 in controling costs Our plans for
the next five years would see the overall
cost of the rail network fall by almost half,
in real terms, in a decade By any
standards, this would be a remarkable
achievement Alongside this Network Rail
will deliver a £30bn investment
programme 1o grow capacity on the
network to meet the increasing demand
for rail

All those of us invoived in the industry
can be proud that rall 1Is now a success
story Three million passengers use the
railway every weekday Freight volumes
have nsen dramatically Every forecast
expects this growth to continue In the
years to come The indusiry must
respond to this success, and grow

the railway to meel the ever-increasing
demand {rom its users




In July, the Department for Transport
pubished 4s White Paper ‘Delivenng a
Sustainable Railway' This outlined the
Government's 30-year strategic vision for
the raitway of England and Wales As
part of this vision, the Department also
sel out in detail what 1t wants the industry
to deliver in the five years from Apnil
2009 The Scottish Executive published
the same for Scotland In Oclober,
Network Rail published its Strategic
Business Plan This was developed in
partnership with the whole industry, and
contlained ambitious plans 10 grow the
railway, to improve performance across
the network, to make raill an even greener
transport choice to make the rallway
avallable more consistently across the
week and to do all this while reducing
costs even further

The industry has made substantial
pregress, though the year has not been
without its own challenges, in January,
at Rugby, Liverpool Street and Shields
Junclion, overrunning engingenng works
led to huge disruption for passengers
and freight users At the time, nghtly,
Network Rail apolegised Importanily,
many lessons were learned as a result
of the interna! and external investigations
carned out The regulator imposed a
fine of £14m on Network Raif as a result
of the overruns The adversities the
Company experienced on three hnes

in January, and the problems at
Portsmouth earlier in the year which
resulted in a £2 4m fine were a stark
remender of the challenges that have

to be faced as we rebuild and expand
the ratiway However, It 15 impariant to
remember these were I1solaled cases

In the context of the thousands of pieces
of work carned out across the network
throughout the year Additionatly, whilst

I accept 1 may be of hittle consolation

10 those who experienced disruption at
he time, the work undertaken will bring
substantial benefits

| am enttrely confident that, in lain Coucher
and his Executive Team, Network Rail

has the nght people in place to meet the
challenges ahead 1am zalso delighted

to welcome Steve Russell Lo the Board

as a non-executive Director He brings
valuable experence and | am sure he

will make a substantial contnbution in

the years to come

There are challenges ahead for Netwark
Rail, but they are a result of the success
of the last five years The Company's
record 1s one of genuineg achievement
This year's financial results underline that
achievement Network Raill remains
entirely committed to working with the
whaole industry to build on the successes
of the last few years and to deliver a
network which meets the needs of its
users, both passengers and freight,

and the nation as a whole

Do Mt QuiaCC

lan McAllster
Chairman
27 May 2008

Three million passengers
every weekday are
choosing ralil

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Annuat Report and Accounts 2008 5




Chief Executive’s review

lain Coucher Chiel Executive

This 1s my first annual review since becoming Chief Executive of Network Rail, in
August 2007 The last 12 months have been an enormously exciting time for the
rail industry, during which demand for rail has continued to grow in all sectors
commuting, inter-urban, long distance and freight As an industry, we are now
delivening the highest levet of passenger journeys since 1946, and on a railway
that has not seen significant expansion for decades

The challenge for the rail industry and,
therefore, Network Rail 1Is managing a
further growth in demand - not just In
the numbers of people wishing to travel
by train or putting freight onto the rai!
system, but responding to changes in
travel patterns The rallway of the future
needs o provide services earlier in the
moraing, later at night, and more at
weekends and at bank holidays This
has huge implications for Network Rail

During 2007/08, Network Rail has
continued to deliver a more reliable

and higher perfarming railway to our
customers, the train and freight operating
companies, reaching the lowest levels of
delay minutes since 1999/200C This has
contnbuted to delivering the best levels
of punctuality since records Deganin
1996 We have continued to make steady
progress In removing costs from the
operation of the railway

| am proud of this record of achievement,
we have a great team at Network Rall
and it 1s the coninbution of everybody

at Network Rall that has enabled us to
deliver this

2007/08 represented a turning point

for the industry in July, the Government
published its Rail White Paper, setting out
the outputs for the rail network in England
and Wales The Scottish Executive also
published the same, for Scotland In
QOctober, Network Rail published its
Strategic Business Plan, presenting how
the rall Industry, together, would deliver
these outputs These documents present
a very clear wision of the future This
means a safer, bigger, better and higher
performing railway Every weekday, the
rallway carries around three million
people, in the foreseeable future this will
become four milllon Freeing up capacity
on the railway to allow this to happen will
be key In terms of performance, 1n the
nexi five years we will push the reliability
of the railway to levels never seen before
in Great Britain
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Network Rail recognises the key role

it plays in the delivery of a safe, efficient
and reliable ralway that forms part of an
integrated transportation system Milions
of people depend upon the railway - to
get to work, to visit family and fnends
and to travel the length and breadth of
the country

Brtain's rail network 1s ‘mixed use’ -
carrying passengers and freight at
increasing levels Network Rail recognises
that freight operators are not franchises,
but long term businesses that have
invested accordingly Ral freight brings
tangible social and environmental
benefits o society

The challenge for Network Rail 1s clear
we need 1o provide a railway that s more
avallable and more reliable We need lo
manage annual, mult-billion pound
Investment programmes 1N a way that
minimises the impact on those that wish
to use the railway, and we need to
continue to achieve further efficiencies,
on top of the 23 per cent we have
delivered in the last four years However,
thus 1s a challenge we relish The whole
of Network Rail 1s determined lo mest
our vision one in which passengers and
freight users rate rail as the best mode
of lransport for overall safety, reliability,
accessibility, conventence and value for
money, and where Bntain's railway 1s
recognised by taxpayers as heing
amongsl the best in the warld for safety,
reliability and affordability

Safety

The Rallway Safety and Standards Board
{RSSB) published tts Annual Safety
Report in May 2008 This confirmed that
there 1s no safer form of transport in
Great Bntain than rail During 2007/08,
there were no train Incidents resuling in
fatalities to people on trains

There were, however, eight fatahbies of
occupants of road vehicles, due to trains
striking vehicles at level crossings — down
from 12 dunng the previous year Dunng
the year we continued with the 'Don't run
the nsk’ public awareness campaign,




designed to educate users on the risks
associated with levet crossings and the
dangers of misuse This included a
hard-hitting advert on pnme-iime
television, supported by national and
local media Lecal radio, regional press
adverts, outdoor posters and direct
marketing were also used to largel
‘hotspots’ of misuse

Duning 2007/08, the ‘accident frequency
rate’ for our workforce has improved

to the iowes! ever level - now 0 226
accidents for every 100,000 hours
worked This represents a 14 per cent
improvement over the previous year and
a 55 per cent reduction since Network
Rail was established However, i saddens
me 1o report that, during the year, there
were two workforce fataliies On 19 Aprik
2007, a welder died when struck by a
train whilst undertaking maintenance
work at a crossing near Reading On

29 November, another maintenance
waorker died when struck by a train, in
the middle of the mght, at Kennet Bridge
These tragic incidents provide a salutary
reminder that, despite improving trends,
there can be no room for complacency
1n our drive to improve safety

Last year, we reported a substantal
improvement in the number of broken
rails Thal improving trend has continued
with 181 broken rails in 2007/08 This 1s,
once again, the lowest annual figure ever
- beating the 192 in the previous year
and 317 in the year before that, and it
means the total has been halved since
Network Rail took aver the network

Thus has been as a result of continued
investment in new track, better inspection
techniques and a mild winter

Performance

The dramatic improvements in punctuality
seen over the last five years have
continued By the end of the year,
punctuality of trains reached 89 9 per cent,
ahead of the target of 89 5 per cent

fn terms of 'delay minutes’, there was

a 10 per cent iImprovement over the
previous year — equivalent to 1m delay
minutes — and we finished the year with

a final figure of around 9 5m delay
minutes attributable to Network Rat The
assels on the railway are now performing
at or around the best level for a decade
and performance 15 well ahead of the
targel set by the Office of Rail Regulation

Many of the improvements In
performance stem directly from the work
we do, In partnership, with our customers
and we are grateful for the support we
receive to deliver an improving raitway

And despite the fact the rallway was
designed for a different ime and for
a different use, and despite the age
of many of the assets on the railways,
we now have a rail network that can
be depended upaon to deliver over

1 2on passenger jJourneys a year

Growing the raillway

After decades of undennvestment,
Network Rail 1s in the position of having
to cope with a backlog of renewals, and
having to deliver the capacity to meet
future growth This year, Network Rall
managed an investment programme
totalling around £4bn - probably the
iggest and most complex capital
investment programme of any company
in the UK We delver around 5,000
separale major projects on the network,
every year Each one requires careful
planning, secmetimes years and months
In advance, but also demands
meticulous execution in just a few days

The work to upgrade the fines from
London Euston to Rugby, Birmingham,
Manchester, Liverpool and onwards to
Scotland nears completion This multi-
billion pound scheme will provide fast,
frequent, efficient and modern rail
services for millions of people

We are now planning a dramatic increase
In the number, size and complexty of
schemes for the next five years — each
one designed te bring significant
passenger benefits Programmes such
as Thameslink, Airdrie-Bathgate, Reading
station, King's Cross staton and
Birmingham New Street station will
transform the travel expenences of the
milions of people who use the railway
But in addition to these g, high-profile
schemes, most of our work to enhance
the rallway conssts of relatively small
schemes — work to allow longer trains,
more trains and faster trains

In October, three months aiter the
Government gave the go-ahead
for the Thameslhnk Programme, the
£5 5bn project gol underway with
the work {0 lengthen the platforms
at Luton Airport Parkway
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This year, Network Rail
managed an investment
programme totalling
around £4bn




Chief Executive’s review

The dramatic
improvements in
punctuality seen over
the last five years
continued in 2007/08

Since funding was approved a great
deal of other preparalory work has been
underway including the final stages of
appointing the main contracters for the
major works required at Blackfnars,
Borough Viaduct and Farningdon When
phase 11s completed by the end of 2011
this wiil aliow improved capacity on the
North/South Thameslink rouie from the
current eight trains per hour to 16 frains
per hour Dunng peak periods trains will
Increase to 12 from eight car trains

In 2007/08, Network Rail delivered over
£1bn of enhancement investment on
the railway, around £500m more than n
2006/07, a significant proportton of this
being funded by third parties

Improving the assets

There have been further improvements
In asset reliakihty over the year Points
and track circurt fallures reduced by

14 @ per cent to 14,498 and, overall,
asset fallures fell by 9 9 per cent o
52,476 A number of mitiatives have
played thewr part in this success These
include the continued and increased use
of joint pomnt care teams, local coaching
and mentoring of fronthne staff by
engineers and a focus at a local level on
understanding the root cause of asset
failures, and particularly repeat fallures
in short, though, it has been about
always looking for ways to do our day
job better

In addition, the ‘asset stewardship index’
targel was beaten once again during
2007/08, and marked another significant
improvement on the previous year

A number of initiatives over the year
have contnbuted to improving asset
performance, including standardised
designs driven by our in-house design
group and an increased use of modutar
components Improvements made to the
way we deliver our work have helped us
reach a stage where temporary speed
restrictions are at the lowest levels ever
recorded
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Costs and finance

The need to run an affordable railway
network remains a priority and Network
Rail coninues to sinve for greater levels
of cost efficiency By achieving increased
levels of efficiency, resources will
become availlable to invest In growing

the railway network

The ORR has challenged Network Rail

to dehver efficiencies of 31 per cent

over the five year Control Penod ending
31 March 2009 The Company Is striving
to meet this challenge and has already
achweved a 23 per cenl reduction by

31 March 2008 These savings Include
29 per cent on controllable Opex (Control
Period to date target 26 per cent), 31 per
cent on maintenance {target 28 per cenl)
and 18 per cent on renewals (target

26 per cent)

In the year to 31 March 2008 operating
costs before depreciation fell by £73m
or £178m in real terms Thus builds on
improvements made over the first three
years of the deterrmination

As the cost base of the Company
contracts, driving out further efficiencies
becames more difficult This Is particularly
the case with track renewals Although
umit costs are faihng 1n real terms they

are not reducing guickly enough to meat
the tough targets set for the Company

five years ago The year under review

has seen an overall reduction in renewals
efficiencies {from 23 per cent to 18 per
cent) We continue to focus on addressing
this 1ssue but it 1s clear we will nol meet
the renewals efficiencies chailenge for
this Control Penod, in particular the area
of track renewals This does have to be
seen In the context of efficiency gains in
the round

The savings made have contnbuted to
profits of over £1bn, as delaled n the
Group Finance Director's review on

page 10 This 15 in Ine with the business
plan for the year Network Rail has no
shareholders so profits are not distnbuted,
but retnvested in the railway network




Network Rail invested a record £4bn

in the railway network durng the year
using all the profit generated, and more,
to fund these projects This high leve!

of investment continues to iImprove
punctuality and asset condition

Delivering such large levels of investment
has not been without problems The
disappointing New Year overruns resutted
in an ORR fine which in turn contnbuted to
narrowly missing the Company’s financial
efficiency targei That aside, financal
efficiency has improved by five per cent
on the previous year's perfarmance

Network Rail has one of the biggest
capital investment programmes in the
UK and we continue to win praise for the
way we finance lhat investment through
our debt issuance programme As we
maiure as a company we continue 1o
develop the way we raise our finance

In April 2007, we launched our highly
successful index-linked debt programme
and we have already 1ssued £3 4bn

to a wide range of UK and international
instituiions Looking forward, we continue
to work with the ORR and DfT in
developing our plans tc raise corporate
debt in the next Controi Periog without

a government indemnity

It has also been an excellent year {or

the Commercial Property team which
generated a profit of over £250m to
improve the rathway Despite a challenging
market place better than market growth
has been achieved from our retall asseis
and our Spacia estate The development
and sales activity I1s being transformed
from a sales organisation to one
delivering, through partnerships, mixed
use development that will create excellent
facities for passengers and train
operators and improved financial returns
for Network Rail

Challenges

I11s imporiant | acknowledge the
negative aspects of the year Network
Rail was in the news for all the wrong
reasons at the start of 2008, when
overrunning engineenng work at Rugby,
Lverpool Street station and at Shields
Junction just outside Glasgow caused

significant disruption to passengers and
freight users | would like to reiterate
what | said al the tme the disruption
was unacceptable and damaged the
reputation of Network Rail and of

the rail indusiry

The industry has worked exceptionally
hard over recent years to create a rail
service upon which people can depend
And Network Rail has played a full

and important part This 1s the contexi —
a context of an excellent track record
of delivery — in which these overruns
occurred Network Rail remains a

good company, but we recognise the
adverse effeci these events had upon
our reputahon

Every day, every weekend and at every
bank holiday we are under great
pressure to deliver ncredible volumes
of work in extremely short penods Every
one of the 5,000 projects we execule or,
indeed. any maintenance aciivity we
undertake has the potential 1o cause
disruption if we do not complete in time
Network Rall has a good record of
delvery, but we have got it wrong In

a number of locations, this year

But we are a fearning organisation

and we will learn lessons A number

of investigations have been concluded
and we have made a number of changes
to our processes, all designed (o
minimise the chances of disruption (o
the travelling public

The easy answer would be to take maore
lime to do the work This would be the
wrong way forward, as it would reduce
lhe avalability of the railway for
passengers and freight users When our
activiles become visible, as they did over
the New Year penod, it means we have
not done our job properly Qur measure
of success is invisibitity - to get in, do
our work and get out again without rait
users npolicing
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Conclusion

| was honoured to foillow in the footsteps
of John Armuit, and become the second
Chief Executive of Network Rail As
Deputy Chief Executive, | worked with
John to stabilise the Company and lo
create the strong, profitable and
successful company that 1s Nelwork Raul
today | had a great opportunity to walch
and learn from a consummate and
professional leader

My challenge 1 to take this Company

on the next phase of its journey, to
become a world-class, customer-focused,
infrastructure manager and {o build a
safer, bigger, better and higher
performing raiway

With our people and our values - our
determination to improve the railway,

our respect ior the environment and
communities in which we work, our
teamwork, as well as our passion and
pride in what we do — we are well placed
to meet the challenge

lain Coucher
Chief Executive
27 May 2008




Group Finance Director’s review

Ron Henderson Group Finance Diector

This has been another
year of financial stability
and efficiency

The year ended 31 March 2008 has seen stable profitability, with consistent
revenuas and costs continuing on a downward trend The reduction in the running
costs of the rasiway has been dehivered by our regime of strong budgetary control,
together with our improved understanding of the cost bases and cost dnvers

This tugh level of predictability has
further assisted us, together with our
prudent treasury policies, in ensuring
that there 1s strong control over our
funding and related finance costs

Whilst great progress has been made
in reducing costs in most areas (with

Opex and maintenance ahead of target},

it (s clear that the pace of unit cost
efficiency In the area of track renewals
15 behind schedule and will cause us,
for the first time, to fall behind our
targeled efficiencies Consequently

it looks likely that we will miss the Office
of Rail Regulation's (ORR} overall
challenge of 31 per cent reductions

by 31 March 2009

Although 11 disappointing that not al!
the regulatory cost targets will be met,
we rematn committed to bullding on the
strong foundations that have been pul in
ptace to produce an increasngly cost
effective rallway Our recently published
Strategic Business Plan update set out
how we intend to continue to manage

a rehable, punctual, safe and expanding
railway netwaork in a financially efficient
and viable manner

Financial performance
Financial highlights

lurnover was £5,860m, an increase

of £165m agamnst prior year turnover
of £5,795m

operating costs before depreciation
totalled £2,389m, a decrease of

£73m compared to the prior year totai
of £2,462m and a reduction in real
terms of some £178m

profits of £62m were achieved from the
sale of properties (2006/07 E47m)
nel interest charges {finance costs
offset by Investment revenues) have
nsen marginally to £882m from £877m
last year, despite increases in net debt
levels This has been achieved by
obtaining comparatively higher returns
on surplus funds raised in advance of
refinancing the £1 3bn of debt that
matured in March 2008 Net cebt
increased 10 £19 7bn from £18 4bn

in the year

total non-current assets have
increased from £29 7on to £32 9bn
net assets at 31 March 2008 iotalled
£7 16bn (2006/07 £5 66bn)

Progress towards the ORR's 31 per cent target

3103038

30306 0307 310308 Cumulaths

£m Em £m &m  Prograss
Controllable Opex 1,036 937 916 878 29%
Maintenance 1,410 1291 1,195 1,118 28%*
Renewals (excluding West Coast}) 1,794 2 166 2,522 2,534 18%
Qverall efficiency (ORR year 4 target 27%) 23%

After accounting for the impact of traffic growth the saving increases 10 34 per cent
These drafl results will be incorporated n the forthcorming Annual Return 2008 & regulatory documant planned
for publcaton in August 2008 which 1s subject to review by the QRR s independent reporter
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Performance against the ORR
Control Period 3 determination
The table opposite outlines the oullurn on
the key areas of expenditure n 2007/08
prices for the business as defined within
the Access Charges Review 2003

The overall ORR challenge was 1o
produce combined efficiencies of

27 per cent {or operating, maintenance
and renewals costs in the first four years
of the Controt Penod The current cutturn
based on the above results 1s a saving
of 23 per cent with good performance in
both controllable Opex and maintenance
Overall renewal efficiencies have
reduced over the year and are now at

18 per cent against an ORR four year
target of 26 per cent Aside from track
renewals improvements in signalling,
electrihcalion and plant, civils and
estates are needed Our focus (s firmly
on delivering improvements, both in the
finat year of this Control Peried and
going forward

Controllable Opex and maintenance
costs fell six per centin real terms

over the year Controllable Opex costs
produced a 4 1 per cent reduchion in real
terms despite the imposition of ORR fines
for the Chnstmas and New Year overruns
and the Portsmouth resignalling icence
breach Maintenance costs continue to
reduce iy real terms a 6 4 per cent saving
In the year, with more maintenance work
being delivered for less money than in
prior years Expenditure has contracled
through the favourable commercial terms
negotiated in recent years, particularly on
plant, vehicles and matenals Significant
benefils were derived from improved
labour utihsation as the capiial investment
portfolio delivered by the maintenance
team increased by a further 37 per cent
compared to 2006/07 wiih ten per cent
of total Investment now delivered
in-hguse by the maintenance function
Further improvements in fabour
productivity were secured through the
depot improvemeni programme  This
enabled further release of contingent
labour and specialist contractors

The year under review delivered
substantial investment with some £4bn
of renewals and enhancements The
increastng use of innovative delivery and
contracting mechanisms, as well as the
contribution from high-output plant and
equipment, 15 laying solid foundations to
deliver further efficiencies in the medium
1o long term

Our recently published Strategic
Business Plan update focused on
continuing high levels of investment in
the network over the remainder of this
regulatory Contral Penod and through
into the next In particular this outlined
significant enhancement expenditure to
improve train performance and Increase
capacity During 2007/08 we spent over
£1bn enhancing the network and plan
to dehver a further £1 4bn in 2008/09

We reported last year that we would
struggle to meet the ORR larget on track
renewals and, as outhned above, the
year under review has borne this out
Whilst significant progress has been
made in improving the track renewals
perfarmance delivered by the Company
and its supply base, it 1s recognised that
further steps need to be taken to
coniinue to dnve performance onwards
These steps will bulld on some of the
inttiatives introduced over the past four
years, such as high output mechanisation
and future planned mitiatives, such as
modular switches and crossings

For the year ahead we are commitied

to deliver the outputs of the West Coast
Route Madernisalion project amed at
improving travelhing times, rehability and
punctualty of the route We have engaged
the train operators In agreeing a revised
plan far delivery of the December 2008
tmetable for the West Coast There 1s
added pressure on the project budget
and we are working through the final cost
implications It1s evident though that the
final project cost will be in excess of

the £8 45bn as set oul In our Strategic
Business Plan
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Key performance indicator —
financial efficiency index

This year the Company marginally faled
to deliver iis targeted Financial Efficiency
Index {FEI}) The FE! 1s a weighted index
of controllable Opex, maintenance, irack
renewals and major resignalling schemes
which broadly measures the value for
money of the Company's spend in relation
lo prior years The index's coverage has
also widened since last year

The fina! FEI at 31 March 2008 stands

at 78 1, which despite baing worse than
target1s sull an actual improvement of
some 5 0 per ceni on the prior year This
includes the impact of the ORR fines,
excluding which the FEI would have been
77 7, areduction of 55 per cent and
better than the target for the year

Carrying value of the rallway

network

The value of rallway fixed assels has ‘
increased by £3 1bn from £28 3bn to

£31 4bn The increase in the carrying ‘
value reflects capial expenditure of

£4 0bn less depreciation of £1 2bn

and an upwards revaluation of £0 4bn

Under depreciated replacement cost i
accounting the network 1s valued in the
accounis at the lower of Its same stale
replacement cost (which is estimated

at circa £63bn) and its value in use This
value in use 1s based on a discounted
future cash flow that assesses the value
to the business of the net income stream
produced by the railway network This 1s
a function of the Regulatory Asset Base
(RAB) set by the ORR and as such, this
RAB 15 used as a proxy for thal value
together with appropnate adjustiment

for any forecast cash flow vanance from
the determination

In addiion, investment properlies
{2007/08 £949m, 2006/07 £348m)
experienced a reduction in their market
value of £28m (n the year, but this loss
was offsel by a transfer from operational
properties of £21m and net investment
In existing properties of £8m




Group Finance Director's review

Pensions

included withun the Income staiement
for the period 1s a charge of £107m
(2006/07 £104m) In respect of pension
costs of which £126m (2006/07 £121m)
represents service costs and £19m
(2006/07 £17m)1s a net interest return on
assets The Balance sheet hability, which
represents the Company's share (60 per
cent) of the deficit of the Network Rail
section of the Railway Pension Scheme
(RPS), increased by nearty 50 per cent
from £248m to £370m The main dnver
for the increase in the accounting deficit
has been an assumed ncrease in
longevily In the censuliation proposals
for the actuarnal funding valuation which
reports the overall positon of the scheme
The RPS actuary, Watson Wyatt, intends
Lo publish this valuation in September
this year

Taxation

Of the lax charge in the Income statement
of £408m (2006/07 £443m), all bar £14m
(2006/07 £10m) 1s deferred tax Deferred
tax 1s prowded on differences in iming
with regard to recognising gamns and
losses for tax purposes and accounting
purposes The current tax payable relates
primanly t¢ profits from the Group's
property portfoho

The charge in the Income statement
indicates an effective rate of tax of

25 5 per cent This Is less than the
current corporation tax rate of 30 per
cent or the 2008/09 rate of 28 per cent
because of an adjustment to the prior
year deferred tax position from 30 per
cent down to the 2008/09 corporation
tax rate

The Gavernment's 2007 budgel proposed
changes lo phase out Industnat Bulldings
Allowances over a four year period from
2008 As this legisiation has not vel been
enacled the impact on deferred tax has
not been reflected in the accounts ltis
estimated that f the legislation had been
enacled already there would be an
ncrease in the deferred tax labiity

of approximately £380m

Cash flow and funding

During the year the Group’s operating
actvities generated cash of £2 4bn
(2006/07 £2 4bn) This went a long way
to funding the investment programme,
on which £3 5bn (2006/07 £3 3bn) was
spent, In net cash terms, In the year

Network Rail s principal financing vehicle
1s Network Rall Infrastructure Finance PLC
(NRIF), a special purpose financing
company, which acts as the issuer under
Network Rail's Debt Issuance Programme
(DIP) and 15 not a member of the Network
Rail group. although for accounting
purposes NRIF 1s ireated as a subsidiary
in the consolidated accounts of Network
Rall Infrastructure Limited

The DIP 1s supported by a financial
indemrnity from the Secretary of State
for Transpart which expires in 2052

As at 31 March 2008, substantially all
Network Rail's debt sits under the DIP
other than £3 9bn equivalent of medium
term notes which sit under Network Rail
MTN Finance PLC Withinthe DIP 1s a
£20bn note programme which has been
highly rated (AAA by Fitch, Aaa by
Moody's and AAA by Standard & Poor's}

In April 2007 Network Rail launched

a new programme of RPI index-linked
bond 1ssuance under the Company's
debt 1ssuance programme The majority
of Network Rail's revenues are linked {0
inftation so aligning debt cost to iIncome
1s a prudent, cost effective way of
financing the raitways over the long term

During the year ended 31 March 2008

£3 9bn of bonds have been 1ssued under
the DIR £3 4bn of which was long dated
inflation hnked As with all previous
non-sterling public 1ssuance under the
programme the $1bn bond was swapped
into fixed sterhng interest rates to protect
against movements n interest and
foreign exchange rates
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The Company had £5bn of undrawn
committed faciities available at 31 March
2008 through the DIP working capital
faciity (£1bn) and the Secretary of State
for Transport standby facihity A (£4bn})
The Secretary of State for Transport
standby facility 1s undrawn but will onty
be called upon as a last resort

Financial instruments

The Group and Company uses dervative
financial nstruments to reduce exposure
to foreign exchange nsk and inierest rate
movements This 15 in accerdance with

a comprehensive nsk management
process which 1s monitored by the Board
and includes documented treasury
policies, counterparty kmits, contraling
and reporting struciures

Denvative financial instrumernits are
marked to market in accordance with

IAS 39 and thesr value 1s shown on the
face of the Balance sheet Those that are
designated as part of a cash flow hedge
accounting relationship are measured
for effectiveness in remowving foreign
exchange and mnterest rate risk These
movemenis are reflected in the hedge
reserve and shown on the face of the
Statement of recogmised income and
expense (SORIE) 1t should be noted

that changes in the value of a hedging
dernvative should theoretically mirror
movements in the value of the underlying
hedged item

instruments not qualifying for hedge
accounting and ineffective portions

of cash flow hedge relationships are
recorded in the Income statement The
Group has successfully mplemenied
hedge accounting for its Medium Term
Note and Debt Issuance Programme
bonds The net fair value of derivatives
on the Group's Balance sheet at

31 March 2008 was an asset of £276m
(2008/07 labihity of £262m) based on
a notional value of swaps of £10 3bn
(2006/07 £11 8bn)




The netmpact on the Group's Income
statement of 1AS 32 and IAS 39 1n the
year ended 31 March 2008 was income
of £33m (2006/07 expense of £25m}
and a negative movement in the SORIE of
£23m (2006107 gawn of £168m) This
SORIE movement reflects the Group's
cash flow hedges increasing in value by
£370m, due primarily to a decline in the
value of sterling aganst the Euro, off-set
by £393m of foreign exchange losses

in the underlying hedged debt

The reason that the gains and losses

n the accounts are not equal and
opposite s that the hedging instrument
protects against movements in interest
rates as well as foreign exchange It
follows that if the value of the denvative
was split into 115 constituent parts i would
show broadly that £393m of forexgn
exchange losses were avoided by
hedging, but around £23m of addilional
interest was payable as a result

Treasury operations

The Group's treasury operations are co-
ordinated and managed in accordance
with policies and procedures approved
by the Board which prohibit trades

of a speculative nature The Treasury
depariment 1s subject to regular reviews
by internal audit

Group policy 1s 1o ensure that there are
sufficient faciliies (excluding re-financing
of existing debt) and short-term
Investments {o cover, as a mimimum, the
next 12 months' funding requirements

The major financing rnisks that the Group
faces are its foreign exchange sk,
interest rate fluctuation nsk and hquidity
nsk Treasury ensures sufficient lguidity
15 avallable to meet the Group's needs,
while reducing financial nsks and
prudenily investing surplus cash

Counterparty imits are set with reference
to published credit ratings These hmits
dictate how much and for how long
Treasury may deal with each counterparty
and are monitored on a regular basis

Summary

This has been arother year of financial
stability and efficiency The Group has
delivered further profits 1o enable both
investment in the railway network and
effective debt management Cost savings
continue to be made and the Group
continues 1o invest heawily in the railway
network 15 1n the area of renewals that
meeting the efficiency targets has proved
most challenging and the Group 1s fully
commitied to addresstng this 1ssue

Sgnificant effort and focus 1s being

given towards securing & farr and positive
determination for the next Control Penod
that wiil benehit the Company and the
entire industry This will further secure

the long term rehability, viabiity and
competitiveness of the raibway

WAA"LM

Ron Henderson
Groug Finance Director
27 May 2008
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The year under review
delivered substantial
investment with some
£4bn of renewals and
enhancements



Directors’ report

Under its network licence the Company 1s required to publish such corporate
governance information as would be required if it was a listed company and also
to comply with the principles of good governance and code of best practice under,
or approved for the purposes of, the isting rules of the Financial Services Authonty

As such, it s publishing this Report
and audited Accounts which contain
information required o be disclosed
by a2 listed company

Details of the Group's business activities,
key events and changes during the year
and likely future deveiopments are
contained in the Chairrman’s slatement,
the Chief Executive’s review and the
Group Finance Director's review This
report should also be read in conjunchon
with the Corporate governance report
and the Directors remuneration report

Business review and principal
activities
Network Rall Infrastructure Limited has
respons:bility for the management of the
national rail infrastructure s principal
acltivities are the operation, maintenance,
renewal and, in co-operation with train
aperators and funders, the development
or enhancement of the national ras
network and in particular
+ provision o train operators of railway
track access
* management of train timetabling,
irain planning and signalling
* maintenance, renewal and
enhancement of the infrastructure
and underlaking major capital
programmes

In June 2005 the relevant provisions

of the Rallways Act 2005 came Into

force facilitating a number of significant
changes to the structure and organisation
of the railway These included giving
Network Rail additional responsibilities
for industry performance, planning and
projects The changes are designed to
deliver improvements in reliabihity and

the effectiveness of industry planning,
bullding on the already close collaboration
between Network Rail and train operators

Significant events subsequent
to 31 March 2008

On 4 Apnil 2008 Network Rail published
Its Strategic Business Plan update
providing an update and further
justification for elements of the Strategic
Business Plan published by Network Rail
in Oclober 2007

Results

The profit before tax was £1,597m
(2006707 profit of £1,478m) and the profit
after tax was £1,189m (2006/07 profit of
£1,035m) Further detalls of the financial
results can be found in the financial
statements commencing on page 42

Share capital

50,084,937 ordinary shares of 0 1p
and 160,000,000 redeemable shares
of £1 of the Company are held by its
immediate parent company Network
Rail Holdco Limited

Key future issues

Given the nature of its business and the
enwironment within which it must meet the
challenges involved, the key future 1ssues
for the Company remain those reported
in the Annual Report for 2007

General

Network Rall s key prionty 1s o deliver
a safe, reliable and efficient railway
warking with our industry partners to
provide acceptable and improving levels
of performance Looking forward it
intends to achieve further sustainable
improvements for its cuslomers,
employees and wider stakeholders as
well as seeking ways (0 meet where
possible the increases in demand for
beth passenger and freight traffic

With its responsibilities relaling 1o the
national rail network, Network Rail has
a pivotal role in a complex ingustry

The way tn which it looks after iis assets
affects a wide range of peocple and
Network Rail works collaboratively with
is customers and funders to facilitate
the delivery of their plans It needs also
to work with Is stakeholders to take
account, where possible, of the wider
soclial Impacts of the operation of

the national rail infrastructure With a
background of strong growth, improving
safety and sustained improvements
across the whole rail industry, the next
Control Period {CP4} presents a unique
opportunity for continuing iImprovement
in services for the benefit of passengers
and freight users, the rail industry,
taxpayers, the economy and the
environment in which we live
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Of the 1ssues facing Network Rail in the
future the following contnue 10 be key lo
the deliverability of iis objectives

Safety

Rail travel 15 safer than it has ever

been and safety remains Network Rail's
highest prionty Whilst rad continues to
be the safest form of transport in Bntain,
there remains the need for constant
vigilance in maintaining the safety of

the railway This ts still at the forefront

of the Company s focus

Continuing improvement has been made
in most of the key safety performance
indicators The nsk from signals passed
at danger s down by 87 per cent since
2001, due fargely to the introduction of
technology — TPWS and TPWS+ The
number of broken rails continues to
reduce to another all ime low

Tragically there were two workforce
fataiiies in 2007/08 notwithstanding

a continuing reduction in the accident
frequency rate for the business The
Company s committed to its focus on
improving safety of traveling on the
network and the safety environment for
working on the railway including safer
working practices This 1s due in part to
safety awareness campaigns focusing
on raising the profile of safety within
Network Rail and contractor teams, and
other mitiatives designed to develop
safety cultural and behavioural changes
The workforce accident rale has declined
markedly over the last four years, and
improved by a further 13 per cent in the
past year At the end of 2007/08 the rate
was down to less than 0 228 reportable
accidents per 100,000 hours worked

Network Rail's 'Safety in the Line’
pregramme was Implemented duning
2006/07 This s designed o embed safety
accountability improvements and decision-
making maore fully into the key delivery
functions within the Company It represents
the most significant component of Network
Rall's sirategy to deliver a continuing step
change in safety pedormance

The biggest sk on the raillway 1S now
at level crossings and dunng 2006/07




Network Rail launched a national level
crossing awareness campaign This
campaign has been refreshed and
developed since its launch and contnues
1o be a major focus for the Company

tn assisting in addressing the need to
heighten public awarenass of the rnisks
associated with misuse of level crossings
by the public Progress continues with the
development of sutable new detection
technologies to warn of vehicles
obstructing a level crossing

Service reliability and network
capacity

Punctuality on the railway 1s the highest
in recerded history The average
puncluality over the past year was

89 9 per cent This has been achieved
earler than the target set by National
Task Force for reaching 90 per cent
pefore the end of the current Control
Period (31 March 2009)

Achigving continued improvements in
punctuakty i1s, however, a challenge
Improvements {c date are the result of
the hard work of everyone nvolved in

the operation and management of the
railways — both Network Rail and the train
operators Joint planning and delivery
processes between Network Rall and the
train operators have conirbuted 1o thes,
as has the introduction of mere Integrated
control centres Improving productivity
and effectiveness of maintenance
activites have generally also assisted

This improvement In punctuality has
come about despile continuous
increases in the number of train services
using the network The demand for rail
has grown strongly over the last ten years
for both passengers and freight services
This trend In passenger demand has
continued over the past year with a
growth in total passenger kilometres, tolal
passenger journeys and revenue
compared to the previous year This
demand for raif travel has been reflected
in the continued increase In imetabled
train kilometres operated on {he network
Likewise, both freight moved and lifted
has mirrgred past trends and grown aver
the past year

As a consequence, the network remains
increasingly congested and at pezak
umes of the day there I1s no spare
capacity on certain sectors of the
network Levels of overcrowding are
worsening as a consequence of this

demand As well as the effect on train
passenger capacity this demand s also
creating increasing congestion on the
station platforms and concourses

For the longer term, Network Ratl s
deveioping plans with train operators
and funders o increase capacity Key

to understanding the options 1o address
these 1ssues 1s the programme of Roule
Utiisation Strategies {(RUSs) which
Network Rail 1s taking forward in
conjunction with its rail ,ndustry pariners
These take a strategic look at the rail
network and its tmetable and form the
analytical and consultation process by
which opticns are evaluated to balance
capacity, passenger and freight demand,
operational performance and cost

Implementing the necessary
enhancements of the infrastructure to
cope with the nsing demand will require
the industry to achieve a consensus on
the nght solutions These solutions must
offer good value for money and be
affordable to funders Proposals for this
are sel out in Network Rail's Strategic
Business Plan published in Octaber 2007
and the Sirategic Business Plan update
pubbshed in Aprl 2008

Asset stewardship

One of the major components of Network
Rail's improvement plans 1s rehability and
long term sustainability of the network
This requires successful delivery of
Network Rail's asset management
responsibilties within the constraints of
the available funds as well as being
consisient with the reasonable
requirements of 1ts stakenolders
Development and implementation of the
asset management activities involves
comprehensive understanding of the
criternia and systematc organisation in
thetr delvery Focus 1s an tackling the root
causes of long-standing 1ssues that affect
asset performance In particular,
components that are not sufficiently
reliable will be progressively replaced
The rate of improvement, however, will
inevitably be slow Once again this year's
experience has shown that several of the
measures for assel relability are now at a
level where the impact of adverse
weather can significantiy affect the
performance measures This provides
both nsk and opportunities with strategies
being developed to minimise the effects
of adverse weather wherever possible

Recognising that some of the measures
used to monitor asset stewardship may
be neanng the end of their usefulness
(because they are stabilising at optimum
levels), Network Rail has continued iis
review (reported last year) of these
measures to determine what will be more
fnt for purpose for the next Control Penod
It 1s anticipated that these will measure
precursors to fallure, rather than failures
themselves This 1S in ing with our
strategy of 'predict and prevent’ rather
than *find and fix’

Efficiency

In the last four years efficiency savings
of 23 per cent have been made with
reductions in Network Rail's cost base

Technelogical innovation 1s an integral
part of improving the busingss Network
Raii continues the y/mportant work of
engaging with European rail bodies to
examing long term asset strategies and
working with suppliers and academia t¢
explore climate change and sustainability
improvements Itis also examining the
oppoertunities afforded by improved
communication technology and exploring
the applicaticn to the railway of
innovations developed in other industries

Sustamnabihity

Transport has a major role to play in
supporing economic, environmental and
sociai objectives Given that rall transport
itself 1s more sustainable than alternative
modes for many transpori needs, the rall
industry must promote rail usage by
improving the rail product and its
affordability in order for il lo coninbute {0
sustainability Work 1s progressing on this
front in various areas

Funding and financing

Network Rail's net debt was £19 7bn at

31 March 2008 and 1s forecast to increase
to over £21 6bn by March 2009 being the
end of this Control Period [t 1s anticipated
that funds required for this penod will be
raised through a combination of public
and pnivate bonds 1ssued under the debt
1Issuance programme o cover the
refinancing of existing debt as weli as
funding working capitat Hedgtng
arrangements have been put in place o
fix the Company's interest costs

Work continues on the passibility of
raising debt without the benefit of the
Government indemnity in the context of
wider discussions on CP4
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Further detarls of funding arrangements
are sel out In the Notes to the financial
slatements

Stakeholder relationships and
transformation

Network Rail continues to builld upon

Its iImproving relationships with its
slakeholders |t recognises, however, the
need for focus on further strengthening
of this with rail users, its customers — the
traon operators, 1ts wider stakeholders -
government, funders, taxpayers, its
suppliers and iis staff To achieve the
goal of an affordable and sustainable
railway requires these stakeholders’
supporl and co-operation

To deliver this Netwark Rail must have the
nghl leadership and management and
have people who share the same values
and behawviours to create a world class
organisation The iransformation
programme launched m 2006 aimed at
achieving this continues o progress well
with action plans across the business at
various stages of development and
delivery Significant resource s required
throughout the Company to deliver the
outputs sought from these plans

Long-term planning

The challenges Network Rail taces
require it to work with ts industry
pariners to develop the nght framework
and culture in order to create and deliver
the nght whole-industry salutions which
represent best value, most cost-effective
and sustainable strategies for the
Industry These plans must inform and
lake account of the high level
specificatrons from Governments and the
requirements of our other stakeholders

In readiness for the 2008 Penodic
Review, Network Rail worked closely
wilh the Department for Transport and
Transport Scotland to support the
development of their High Level Output
Specifications We also continued to
develop appropnate whole-industry
strategies with the train operators to
deliver the required outputs at an
affordable price Details of this were set
out in Network Rait's Strategic Business
Plan published in October 2007 and n
the update published in Apnl 2008

Control Period 4 Determination

In Cctaber 2008 the Office of Rail
Reguiation (ORR) will make its
determination for the funding settlement

for Network Rail for the next Control

Period (CP4) It has been Network Rail's
objective to assist the ORR to reach a
challenging but reakstic view of its plans
and to provide evidence to justify this view
1o help inform the ORR's review process
which will lead 10 iis determination

In Octeber 2007 Network Rail published
its Strategic Business Plan (SBP) setting
out what Network Rail plans to do in
CP4 consistent with an overall industry
strategy and a longer term view of how
the industry should meet the challenges
of the future The SBP was based on
extensive discussion with the Company's
rail tndustry partners It represented
Network Raill's mamn submission o the
ORR penodic review of our access
charges for CP4 i responded formally
to specifications of the outputs which
Governments (In England & Wales and
1in Scotland) want to buy from the railway
(the High Level Output Specifications
(HLOS) and therr corresponding
Siatements of Funds Available, or
SOFAs)

At that ime the Company recognised
that there were aspecis of its plans
which required further development
(such as performance plans and
financing pfans) and that further work
was needed to enhance co-ordination
with the rail industry partners to deliver
Network Rail s plans for CP4 and to
develop robust longer term plans for
Control Period 5 (CP5) and beyond

Following the publication of the SBP the
ORR published its initral assessment

of the affordability of the Governments’
output specifications It concluded that
there was a high likelihoog that these
specifications could be delivered within
the funds they had committed to the
raiiways for the next Control Period

Since the SBP was published Network
Rail has worked closely with train
operators and suppliers o develop and
improve s plans There remam, however,
challenges The plans need 1o be
delwerable on ime, at an accepiable
cost and without causing excessive
disruption to passengers and freight
users Moreover Network Rail 1s being
challenged to
« deliver substantial improvements

i efficiency on top of the progress

achieved over the last few years
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» reach levels of punctualty which have
never been seen before with more
peopte and improved journey tmes

+ deliver several billion pounds of
investment every year while continuing
to operate an increasingly congested
raitway

+ gperate an increasingly seven-day
raliway to create agditional industry
revenue and beller services to users

+ become more flexible i meeting
the aspirations of the Company’s
rall industry partners

Building on the work undertaken since
publication of the SBR Network Rail
published an update on 4 Apnl to the
SBP (SBP update) addressing the
cutstanding 1ssues associated with

the SBP [n particular, 1t sets out Network
Raii’s posttion i those areas which it
has acknowledged required further work
or it provides further justification and
evidence In support of the projections
the SBP The SBP update 1s not intended
to provide a full refresh of the SBP It
should therefore be read in conjunchon
with that plan and the supporting
matenal which was presented with it

The $BP and supporting documents set
oui In considerable detail Network Rail's
pohcies and strategies for delivering

the HLOS outputs The ORR's initial
assessment welcomed progress 1 a
number of areas including the ongoing
development of the Infrastructure Cost
Medel (ICM) and the closer working with
lrain operaiors In some areas ihere were
clearly a number of areas where Network
Rail had not provided sufficient evidence
to Jushfy its proposed plans Equally it 1s
essential that Network Rall understands
the basis of any adjusiments which the
ORR plans to make n its draft conclusions
to be published in June 2008 so thal
Network Rall can understand the
implications and how it might reprigntise
s activiies accordingly

The main areas where Network Rail

has done further work and updated

its projections following the publication

of the SBP are

« the budget for 2008/0S - the last
year of this Control Penod

» changes In Network Rail's core
maintenance and renewal volumes
for CP4

+ updating assessment of the cost
of delivering the HLOS periormance
targels m England & Wales




+ refining Network Rall's plans
for delivering the HLOS capacity
enhancements

fn order 1o build on the successes of

the rail Industry over recent years and

to further develop improvements, the
outcome of the current regulatory review
needs to conclude with challenging but
realistic targets for the next Control
Penod Network Rad will then be able

to focus on working with 1ts ranl iIndustry
partners {0 deliver its plans for CP4 whilst
also developing sound and affordable
plans for CPS and beyond

Performance indicators

The ORR sets certain regulatory financial
and non-financial performance targets
for Network Rail The key performance
incicators (KPIs) are summarised in the
table on the nght

Safety

Steady progress has been made in most
of he key safety performance indicators
as shown in ihe table on the nght

Train performance

There are two measures relating to train
performance - Train Delay Minutes being
the number of minutes of train delays
atinbutable to Network Rail, and Public
Performance Measure (PPM} baing the
percentage of trains arriving on ime at
their final destination

In 2003 the ORR set a targel for the
Company to iImprove the reliabilty of
the network by more than 30 per cent
by 2008/09 Over the last four years,
rehabiity has improved significantly and
total delays caused by Network Rail in
2007/08 are around 9 5 million minutes
and 1hus is reflecled in PPM which has
improved to 89 9 percent It reflects a
widely different performance between
areas diectly in Network Rail's control
and {he impact of external events The
PPM achieved, therefore, meets the larget
set by the ORR for 2008/09 a year early

Asset stewardship

The Assel Stewardship Incentive Index s
a basket of measures which are intended
io capture the underlying conchition of
Network Rail's assets In 2007/08 this
index continued to be significantly better
than the ORR target and even betier than
the more challenging targets set in
Network Rail’s business plans and
management Inceniive plans

Partormance Indicators Notgs 2007/08 2006107 200806
Safety

Public Safety Index 1 0303 Q581" 0543
Performance

Train Delay Minutes (mithon mins ) 2 g5 105 105

Public Performance Measure

[

859% 881% B64%

Asset stewardship

Asset Stewardship Incentive Index***

4 063 072 080

Financial control

s

Financial Efficiency index

5 781 gz2 851

1 The Public Safety Index figure for 2007/08 1s based on a new calculaticn aligning Network Rail s

[+

(%1

classification of trespasser accidental fatalties and suspected suicides with the classification of Railway
Safety Standards Board {RSSB) Figure for 2007/08 1s not comparable therefore with those shown for
2006/07 and 2005/06

Train Detay Minutes are the number of munules of train delays attnbutabla 1o Network Rail (rather than the
train operaling companies) as deflined in the contractual performance regime with operators

Public Performance Measure 1s the overall mil industry key perdormance indicator measunng punctualty
and rehabulity of train parformance 1t shows the percentage of trains that arnve on tima @t therr final
desunatan compared 1o the number of trains planned to run on a gven day On tme means arrval within
10 munutes of the pltanned destination tme for long distance operators and within 5 minutés for Londen and
south gast or regional operators

4 Asset Stewardship Incentive Index 15 an index proposed by the ORR in its December 2003 access charges

w

review The components of this index and weightings are track geometry index {20 per cent} number of
broken rails (15 per cent} Level 2 exceedances {15 par cent} total number of signalling failures {15 per
cent) wreng side signalling failures — hazard rating 20 or above {15 per cent) siruciure and earthworks
tran speed restnetions (10 per cent) and traction power supply failures AC and DC (10 per cent)

Financial Efficiency Incex 1s a measure of the efficiency of operations maintenance track renewals ang other
key central expenditure Pror year figures have been indexed in king with current year 1o enable companson

* To 31 December 2007
** To 31 Decembar 2006
* * A lower figure represents an improvement

Safaty Indicators 2007408 2006407 2005/08
Workfarce fatalihes 2 - 4
Severe Category A SPADs" 19 19 98
Broken rails 181 192 317
Collistons at level crossings 8 12 i5
Significant tran accidents 27 31 24
Passenger accidental fatahties™ 10 7 3

SPAD = signal passed at danger Figure for 2006707 15 based on a new calculaticn and tharefora 15 not
comparable with those shown for 2005/06 Current measuremnent 15 based on & 100 pomt scale
* Qne of the passenger fatalities in 2006/07 was caused by & train accident None of the passenger fataliies

in 2005/06 were caused by train accidents

The targets for two elements of this iIndex
were revised in 2006/07 As a resull of
significant improvement In the number

of leve! two exceedences and track
geometry in 2006/07 and further
opportunities to correct underlying
causes of track geometry faulis, these
targets were mades tougher for 2007/08
and the following year

Financial efficiency

The Financial Efficiency Index (FEI} 15 a

measure of how efficiently Network Rail

spends on operations, mainienance and

track renewals As efficiency improves
the Company should spend less to
deliver the same outputs and therefore
the FEI should reduce To make the
measure more meaningful over time the
FEl was turned into an index with the
outturn for 2003/04 being equal to 100

The currenl measure covers 68 per cent
of the total operating, maintenance and
renewals expenditure Work continues to
further widen the FE! in the future
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Directors' report

Business performance

Neitwork Rall believes that business
performance improvement 1s dependent
in part on the development of key skills
and behaviours of employees To improve
these, investment I1s being made in a
range of programmes

To measure progress (n behaviours an
employee engagement survey has been
developed Thrs survey 1s conducted
each year, the most recent being in
November 2007

The resulis of this latest survey showed
improvement In emgployee engagement
against the previous results Furiher
Improvemnent 15 now beng sought with
a programme of communication of the
resulls of the survey together with
training and action plans o increase
employee engagement The next survey
15 scheduled to be conducted in
November 2008 with further surveys
planned for subsequent years

Environment

Network Rail's approach 1s to focus on
the key environmental 1ssues facing It as
aperatar of the rail infrastructure but also
the 1ssues facing society as a whole -
chimate change, wasie, biodwversity and
land management |is commitied to the
on-going improvement of the railway's
existing environmental record

Network Rail's response to the challenge
of managing environmental nsk in¢ludes
improving the neside environment with

a policy of vegetation management that
balances the responsibility to provide

a safe and reliable raitway whilst
acknowledging the benefits of minimising
the impact on the natural habitat Its work
with Enghish Nature in this area

continues Waste management Is also
important with schemes in place 1o
improve responsible waste handhng and
recycling both by the Company and by
1ts contractors Climate change 1s also

an ongoing focus with participation in
research programmes organised by
various specialist bodies Likewise
energy and water usage are subjects

of ongoing programmes of reduction

A framework within which environmental,
societal and economic impacts are
considered with a view to continuing

to develop rail as a sustatnable form

of transport has been progressed

Health and safety

The health and safety of the Company's
employees, whilst working within the
business, and the public, whilst travelling
on the raillway infrastructure, are of great
imporiance to Network Rail The Company's
policies and procedures relating o health
and safety at work recognise the
requirements of current iegisiation and are
kept under constant review with the aim of
providing a safe working environment for
ali employees Significant resource 1s
committed 1o safety, health and
environmental matters and Network Rail
aspires to continuing iImprovement of its
performance In these areas

Previous incidents and recent
regulatory penalties

The derailment which tock place at Potters
Bar in May 2002 1s the subject

of continuing HMRI investigations, the
outcome s unknown at present The
derailment in Cumbria in February 2007

ts also the subgect of investigation, the
outcome 1S unknown at present

In July 2007 the ORR as economic
regulator concluded ihat Network Rail
breached 11s network licence in relation

to the planning and execution ¢of the
Portsmouth resignalling scheme and
imposed a penalty on the Company of

£2 4m The ORR has also levied a penalty
of £14m for breach of the network licence
resulting from network disruption over the
Chnistmas 2007 period

Corporate social responsibihity
Network Rail 1s commuited to carrying out
its actvities in a socially responsible
manner In respect of customers,
stakeholders, employees and local
cornmuniies As part of its objective of
operating in a transparent and
accountable environment, a further report
an these aspects within its business 15
due to be published in 2008

Network Rail also has an envircnmental
policy as detatled in its Corporate
Responsibility Report 2006 This has been
revised and details of this will be set out In
the Corporate Responsibilily Report 2008

Code of business conduct
The Company has adopted a code of
business conduct that 1s applicable to
all employees

Research and development
During the year the Company charged £1m
to the Income statement (2006/07 £1m} on
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research and development Other costs
relating to significant development work have
been capitalised i langible fixed assels

Most of the Group’s development activities
are appled as capital projects within the
investment programme The remainder I1s
charged against the Income statement

Directors

The Directors of the Company were
appointed on the dates as shown in the
table on the opposite page

Under the provisions of the Articles of
Association of Network Rail Limited al}
Directors, excep! the Spectal Birector (if
apponted — there being no Special Director
at the time of publcation of this report),
must retire by rotation, and may stand
{together with any new Director appointed
since the last general meeting) for re-
election by the Members of that Company
at least every three years Save as shown
In the table opposite there were no other
changes to the Board during the year

The biographical details of the Directors
can be found on pages 20 and 21

Directors’ interests
The Directors have no interests in the
Company

Employees

Details of the number of employees and
related costs are set outin Note 7 to the
financial statements on page 50

Network Rail recognises the role of its
employees In enabling the Company to
achieve Its business objectives This 1s
reflected in the Board’'s commitment to
equal opportunities and effective employee
communications

Network Rail celieves that success in
achieving 1ts objectives 1s influenced
sigrificantly by the skills, behaviour and
attitude of s employees Substantial
investment 1s being dedicated by the
Company to deliver high quality, accredited
tramning and development programmes
as a pnmary means of stmulating cultural
change and managemen! competence
Development programmes from
apprenticeship schemes through to
leadership skills are used

Effective communication in raising the level
of employee engagement 1S also important
To do this a wide range of communications
media I1s being used, encompassing local




Date of first Next dus data
Current Dirsctors Posltion appolntment for re-glaction
lan McAlhster Chairman 22 March 2002 July 2009
lain Coucher Chief Executive 22 March 2002 July 2008
Peter Henderson Group Infrastructure Director 1 October 2002 July 2010
Ren Henderson Group Finance Director 12 August 2002 July 2008
David Bailey Neon-Executive Director 15 August 2002 July 2010
lan Buchan Non-Executive Director 5 February 2008 July 2009
Yvonne Constance Non-Executive Director 1 May 2005 July 2008
Jim Cornell Non-Executive Director 3 October 2002 July 2009
Michael Firth Nan-Executive Director 4 December 2004 July 2010
Christopher Green Non-Executive Director 26 June 2005 July 2010
Steve Russell Non-Executive Director 19 September 2007 July 2008

information cascades and brefings,
videos, the Company's internal magazine,
email news bulletns, electronic data links
and brefings by the Directors 1o reach

all our employees

During the Business Brefings conducted
in January 2008 arcund 7,000 employees
wera able to altend the geographically
spread briefings at which the Company's
safety and cperational performance were
discussed and employees had the
opportunty to question the Executive
Directors and Chairman on any aspect of
the business that they chose to raise To
monior progress Network Rail conducts
an annual survey of employee
engagement with an active follow-up
programme o address practical issues

There 15 also a strong belief by the

Board of the Company in the importance
of consultation on 1ssues affecting the
workforce Frequent consultation and
information sharing 1s conducted therefore
at regular intervals through both nationai
and local procedures with representatives
from Network Rail and trades unions

Qur equa! apportunities policy is
communicated to employees We are
commilted to offering our employees

a fulfiling and challenging career in an
environment free from discnmination,
harassment, vichmisaticn and bullying
Network Rail continues 10 work with
trades unions N the area of equalty of
cpportunity and development of policy to
promote best practice within the business

Employee review processes are in
place to gllow every individual manager
to discuss key performance (ssues n a

structured, fair and consistent way and fo
identify training and development needs

Contributions for charitable
and political purposes

Duning the year the Company donated
£508,000 to chantable organisations
(2006/07 £496,000) A further £285.000
(2006/07 £477,000 ) was used to sponsor
chantable and community-related activities

In line with the Company's policy, no
donations to poliical parties were made
in enther year

Under company law disclosure 1$
required of particulars of any donations
to any EU polibcal arganisation and

E political expenditure mecurred The
definition of these types of donation 1s
uncertain On one stnct interpretation
lhe Company made payments dunng this
vear which may fall within the meaning
of this type of donation These payments
form part of the work Network Rail does
with community representatives such as
elected representalives {Members of
Parliament, Members of the Scottish
Execulive, Welsh Assembly and London
Assembly, regional assemblies, local
councils and others) as well as non-
government organisations, pressure
groups and campaigning organisations
This work includes meetings to discuss
1issues facing the Company and those
using the rail infrastructure, both
passengers and {reight customers
nationally and regionally Opportunily

1s also taken to explain the Strategic
Business Plan, operational performance
and significant developments within the
business These are scmetimes best
achieved through the Company

organising briefings and similar functions
at which presentations are given or
attendance takes place at party politica!
conferences and evenls

Creditors payment policy

s our policy, with respect Lo payment
of our suppliers, to settle the terms of
payment when agreeing the terms of
each transaction where standard lerms
are not used, to ensure that suppliers
are made aware of the terms of payment
and 1o abide by the terms of payment

AL 31 March 2008 the Company’s
creditor days compared with the value
of suppliers’ mvoices recerved in the
year was 44 days (2006/07 51 days)

Auditors

At the next Annual General Meeting of
Network Rail Limited on 16 July 2008, a
resolution will be proposed 10 reappoint
Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Group's
auditors and o authernise the Directors to
fix ther remuneraten Details of the fees
earned by Deioitte & Touche LLP during
the penod, for both audit and non-audit
work, are set cut in Note 6 on page 50

Pursuant to the Cempanies Act 1985
Section 234 ZA each of the Dieclors
confirms that, so far as he or she 1s
aware, there 1s no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s
auditors are unaware and that he or
she has taken all responsible steps in
order to make himself or herself aware
of any relevant audit information and
lo establish that the Company's auditors
are awareg of that information

By order of the Board

Jlh

Hazel Walker
Secretary
27 May 2008
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Board of Directors

tan McAlhster CBE

Charrman (2, 4}

lan McAllister 64 s the Company's
Non-Executrve Charman having
previously been Chairman and
Managing Director of Ford Motor
Company Limited lan s also
Charman of the Carbon Trust, a
Director of the Energy Saving Trust,
a Director of UCL Business plc and
until recently Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director of Scottish
& Newcastle plc He is Charrman
of the Greater Essex Prospenty
Forum lanis a member of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales' Corporate
Responsibility Advisory Group

lan Buchan

Non-Executive Director {2 5)"

lan Buchan, 61, joined the Board
in 2006 after retiring as Chief
Executive of National Express'
trains ¢ivision He was previously
Business Development Director at
FirstGroup Until earlier this year
he was a director of Manchester
School of Fiying Onginally an
economics graduate, lan has also
been a school governer

lain Coucher

Chief Executive (3, 5, 6)*

lain Coucher, 46, took over as
Chief Executive from John Armitt
N August 2007 Previously, since
Network Rait acquired Raiitrack
plc in October 2002 he was
Deputy Chief Executive Prior to
that he was Chief Executive of
Tube Lines, which followed
working for EDS for 16 years

+is career has included
experence In the transportation
sector, particularly with London
Underground He was seconded
to the TranSys consortum
between 1896 and 1998 as its
Chief Executive and led the
development of the Underground's
smartcard ticketing system lains
an Engineenng graduate from
Impenal College, London and also
has an MBA

Yvonne Constance OBE, JP
Non-Executive Director (3, 2)*
Yvonne Constance, 65, joined the
Board in 2005 having previously
been Charman of the Natonal
Electncity Consumers' Council
petween 1995 and 1999, a Non-
Executive Director of Innogy plc
from 2000 to 2002 and a Non-
Executive Director of St Mary's
Hospital NHS Trust Until its
cessation 1n 2005 she was also a
member of the Greater London
Magistrates’ Courts’ Authonty, as
well as being a Justice of the
Peace since 1976 and, in the
1980s, practised as a barnster
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Michael Firth

Non-Executive Director (1 2, 6)°
Michael Firth, 65, joined the Board
1N 2004 having previously been
Heac of Corporate Banking at
HSBC Bank plc until bus retirement
In September 2002 He s also a
Non-Executive Director of
Communisis plc and Gartmore
European investment Trust plc

He was previously a Nan-
Executive Director of Somerfield
plc and Fist Technology PLC
Michael 1s an Associate of the
Chartered Institute of Bankers

Ron Henderson

Group Finance Director (3 6)°
Ron Henderson, 62 was formerly
Group Finance Director of BICC
ple, Finance Director of Balfour
Beatty, and most recently Chief
Executive of Tuberall, one of the
bidders for the Landon
Underground public private
partnership Prior to this, Ron, a
Scottish Chartered Accountant,
was at Halliburton, Brown and
Root and earler with Arthur
Andersen

Chnistopher Green
Non-Executive Director (2, 5)°
Christopher Green, 84 joined the
Board in 2005 following his
retrement as Charman of Virgin
Rail Group Chns has over 40
years of ralway experience,
having joined British Rait upon
leaving university He held vanous
management positions including
Managing Director of Network
SouthEast and Intercity He was
Chief Executive of Virgin Trains
from 1999 to 2004 Chns was also
Chief Executive of Enghsh
Hertage a non-executive direclor
of Eurotunnel and past Charrman
of the Rallway Forum Hes a
Trustee of the Liverpool Royal
Philharmonic Orchestra

Peter Henderson

Group Infrastructure Director (3)°
Peter Henderson 54, has
responsibility for Engineering,
Maintenance, Projects and
Logistics He has over 25 years’
rall expenence Starting with the
construction of the Tyne and Wear
Metro he then spent 16 years with
the Hong Kong Mass Transit
Railway Corporation as Head of
Major Projects He returned to the
UK 1n 2000 to work for Bechtel
where he was Projects and
Engineenng Director for Rail




Jim Cornell

Non-Executive Director (2 4, 5)*
Jim Cornell, 68, joined Briish Rail
(BR) n 1959 as a student ¢l
engineer before taking up vanous
postions in BR including General
Manager of Scotrait Director of
Civil Engineenng and latterly
Group Managing Director of
Bnush Rai Infrastructure Services
between 1983 and 1996 He s
also Executive Director of the
Raiway Heritage Trust He was
appointed the Senior independent
Non-Executive Director of Network
Rall in January 2006

Dawid Bailey OBE

Non-Executive Director (1, 2, 4, 5)°
Dawvid Balley, 68, joined the Board
i August 2002 David has a
procurement and logistics
management background He was
formerly Commercial Directer for
Londen Transport having
previously held vanous director-
level roles within London
Underground Dawid 1s Chairman
of Allas-GOSS Limited and two
chanties, Home-Start North East
Hampshire and Rushmoor Children
and Young People's Parinership

Steve Russell

Non-Executwve Director (2)°

Steve Russell 63, joined the Board
n September 2007 Previously he
was Chief Executive of Boots
Group PLC between 2000 and
2003, working there since he
started his first job at the company
in 1967 He currently holds several
non-executive directorships
including Barclays PLC — where he
15 charman of the audit committee
and a member of the board nsk
commitiee and Business Control
Systems Groug He 1s alsc a
trustee of St John's Ambulance
and Tommy s the baby chanty

* Numbers against Directors
names indicate the commitiees
of the Board on which each of
them serves as follows

1 Audit Commitiee

2 Remuneration Committee

3 Executive Management Group

4 Nominations Committee

5 Safety, Health and Ervironment
Committee

6 Treasury Committee
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Directors’ remuneration report

The following repert has been prepared in accordance with the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 {the Regulations) and the Financial
Reporting Council's Combined Code issued in June 2006

The Remuneration Committee
Given the importance of remuneration
and incenlivisation to the business the
Remuneration Committee compnses all
of the Company’s Non-Executive
Directors including the Chairman of
Network Rall The Commitiee members
are

Jim Cornell - Chairman of the Committee
David Balley

lan Buchan

Yvonne Constance

Michael Firth

Christopher Green

lan McAlister

Steve Russell*

* Joined 19 September 2007

The Group Company Secretary 1s the
secretary to the Committee

The Commuitiee 15 required under its
terms of reference to meet at least once
a year and during the year 2007/08 it met
sIx times

The Committee 15 responsible for
determining all matters concerning the
remuneration and incentivisation of the
Executive Directors of the Company This
includes making decisions in respect of
the framework of the Executive Directors
remuneration and :ts cost as weil as
determining, on behalf of the Board,
specific remuneration packages for each
of the Executive Directars It decides the
remuneration package for the Chairman
without the Charrman being present |t
alsa decides upon the form and content
of the Executive Directors’ Management
Incentive Plan {(MIP) for each financial
year {within the terms of the incentive
Policy) Additionally the Commitiee
determines the framework of certain
senior executive employees’
remuneration as well as the form and
content of thewr MIP

The full terms of reference of the
Commuttee are available on reguest and
can be found on the Network Rall
website www networkrail co uk
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During the year the Committee’s activilies

included

+ determining the incentive awards o be
paid pursuant to the MIP 2006/07

+ finalising the MIP 2008/09

+ reviewing the benchmarking of bas:c
salaries

The Committee commissioned Hewitt
New Bridge Street Consuitants LLP to
provide independent expert advice on
the management incentive schemes and
remuneration generally Hewitt New
Bndge Street dees not provide other
services to Network Ratl

During 2007/08 Watson Wyatt Limited
advised the Company tn respect of
pension related matters included in the
remuneration policies

The Chief Executive and the Human
Resources Director also attend
Remuneration Committee meetings by
invitation and assist the Commitiee in 1is
considerations but do not participate

In discussions or decisions relaling to
their own remuneration The Human
Resources Director 13 responsible for
employees within Network Rail and 1s not
a Board Dwector nor s he appoinied by
the Committee

Directors’ remuneration policy
Network Rasi has a network licence
condition requirement to have a MIP
for its Executive Directors and senior
executives and for that plan {o be
cascaded throughout the Company

Under this condition Network Rail 1s
required, when fermulating its MIP,

to have particular regard o

+ securing the operation and
maintenance, renewal and
replacement, improvement,
enhancement and development of
the network especially operationat
performance, asset serviceability
and condiion, efficiency, economy
and safety

infningement by Network Rail of any
access contracts and safety faclors




» achievement of the licence
requirement of dealing with dependent
persons with due efficiency and
economy and in & timely manner

and comphance with Network Rail's
Code of Practice for dealings with
dependent persons

the extent to which Network Rail 1s
subject to crders and to statements by
the Office of Rail Regulavon (CRR} on
non-compliance with the licence

The ORR may also specify other
objectives in connection with the MIP

Taking into account these regulatory
requirements the Commitiee has
formulated Netwark Rail's remuneration
slrategy to atiract and retain competent
individuals and to create the potential
lo reward outstanding performance

at a compelitive market rate based on
individual contribution and the overall
success of Network Ratl in meeting the
abjectives of the Business Plan

These principles are reflected in the
terms of the Management Incentive
Policy which can be modified only with
the consent of the ORR Under this
policy the objectives and principles
are to
provide strong incentives {o deliver the
actions and objectives specified In the
Business Plan
identfy specific accountability for the
achievement of the aclions and
objectives laid out In the Business Plan
» enable Network Rail to recruit, retain
and molivate individuals with the nght
skills, knowledge, expenence and
competencies
= draw on best practice for listed
companigs in the UK where
approprate given the unique mission
and structure of Network Rall
recognise that Network Rail 15
accountable for the public interest as
a monopoly owner and operator of
an asset of considerable public
importance
recogrise that Network Rail Limited
15 & company imited by guarantee
founded on a 'noi-for-divideng’
principle
reflect the fact that the Company 1s
unable to offer the traditional benefits
of UK listed companies including
stock options and other profit-share
mechanisms

-

These are structured within a total
remuneration approach, defined as the
sum of base salary, incentives and
benefits The use of vanable pay through
the avallability of incentives to form a
significant part of totat remuneration Is
intended to ensure that each individual's
reward 1s clearly linked to the successful
delivery of Company abjectives

Account 1s taken of information from
internal and independent sources on the
remuneration for comparable positions
In relevant regulated ang unregulated
companias The strategy for Executive
Directors’ pay is for base salaries broadty
to reflect the relevant market median, for
benefits such as car allowances and
medical insurance to reflect market
practice, for pensions to refiect the rail
industry practice and for total direct
compensation {1 e base salary and
incentives) to be broadly competitive iIn
the appropriate marketplace, provided
always that performance Justifies the
amount This strategy s censistent with
the Company’s belief that performance
should determine a sizeable proporticn
of the total remuneration package for
Executive Directors

Through the following means the Company
sought transparency in respect of the
principles upon which remuneration

of the Directors of the Company has
been set

+ publcation in 2007 of a statement
detailing the contents of the Executive
Directors’ MIP 2007/08 (pursuant (o
the terms of Network Rail's network
licence)

publication in May 2008 of a statement
detalling the contents of the Executive
Directors’ MIP 2008/09 (pursuant

to the terms of Network Rail's

network cence)

-

Executive Directors’ reward
package

The current package for Executive
Dwectors under their service agreements
comprises the following elements

Base salary

This is a fixed cash sum payable over

13 penods dunng the financial year

The Committee reviews salanes annually
as part of the total reward package
recognising market levels and personal
contribution The aim 1s to ensure that
salanes are competitively set al broadly
median levels in relation to similar roles

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Annuai Report andg Accounts 2008 23



Direclors’ remuneration report

i appropnate regulated companies and
companies within the FTSE

Current salaries for the Executive
Duirectors, following the most recent salary
review effective from 1 Juty 2007 are

Annuat basa salary
as at 31 March 2008

Executive Directors £
lain Coucher* 585,000
Peter Henderson 420000
Ron Henderson 400000

' Due to appointment as Chied Executive on 1 August
2007 salary review was made effective on that date
and reflects promotion to this position

Incentive arrangements

The purpase of the MIP 1s to place
additional emphasis on the delivery of
the objectives of the Business Plan

MIP 2007/08 — annual incentive
As detalled in last year's Annual Report,
the annual bonus for 2007/08 was to be
calculated measuring actual Company
performance aganst the three equally-
weighted targets setin the MIP 2007/08
These were Reliability Index, Asset
Stewardship Incentive Index (ASIH and
Financia!l Efficiency index {FEI)

The structure of the MIP for 2007/08
incorporated for the first tme a taper
prnciple This allows significant
performance to be recognised against
a background of continued year on
year stretch performance charges The
spectiic targets and taper tngger points
are decided by the Remuneration
Commuttee, laking into account
Regulatory Targets

For each measure a taper level, target
level and maximum level of achievement
was set, with the maximum level
representing at least the achievement of
the 2008/09 Business Plan a year early
Achievement between the target level
and maximum 1s calculated on a 'siraight
e’ basis

The follow:ng level of bonuses became
payable under the terms of the MIP
2007/08
* In respect of Relabihty index, the taper
target was 1 320, target figure was
1 375 with a maximum target of 1 421
The actual result was 1 353, producing
a payment of 10 per cent of salary for
this element

« n respect of ASHl the target was 0 700
with a maximum target of 0 680 The
actual result was 0 634, producing a
payment of 33 33 per cent of salary for
this element

» In respect of FEI the taper target was
79 B, target level of achievement was
77 9with a maximum target of 73 0
The actual result was 78 1, producing
a payment of 14 7 per cent of salary
for this element

The resultant total potential award was
58 per cent of basic salary In accordance
with the terms of the MIR the Committee
then considered whether 10 use 11s
discretion by reducing the overall bonus
award for the Executive Directors

having regard 1o Network Rail's safety
performance, the extent to which the key
objectives of the Business Plan over the
performance penod have been achieved
and the requirements of Network Rail's
network licence

in exercising 1ts discretion the
Remuneraticn Committee recogrises the
incentive scheme as an important varable
element of the Executive Directors’

(and senior managers'} remuneration

To be effective, reward under the scheme
must be ased on clear, visible and
demonstrable measures 1t order to act
successfully as a reliable incentive
mechanism The overnding discretion
held by the Committee must be used,
therefore, on an equally consistent and
proportionate basis with significant
emphasis being placed on the three
measurable critena set out in the MIP
These have been carefully designed to
balance the competing aspects of
delivenng a successful rail infrastructure
performance The use of the discretion
must not undermine the confidence

of the Executive Directors in the
achievability of incentive awards

It1s still mpaortant, however, that the
Commitiee does consider each year
whether there are other factors which
should influence the decision on whether
the full award 15 payable under the
scheme for the year in question To assist
in its review of performance of the
Executive Directors, the Remuneration
Committee considers a wide range of
performance indicators beyond the three
set measurements contained within the
MEP These include
« safety performance — including
workforce fatahties and accident
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frequency rate, passenger accicent
fatalites, the safety Index, significant
train incidents and Category A SPADs
compliance with regulatory maltters
ncluding regulatory recovery plans,
comphiance with licence conditions,
whether there have been any breaches
of the network licence (whether or
not this has been followed by a
performance order) and compliance
with any other regulatory objectives
Imposed

+ breach of major contracts

operational performance impact of
POSSESSION Overruns

additional financial performance
including investment spend prafiles,
level of net debt of the Company
significant envirenmental incidents

The views of the ORR are aiso carefully
considered and in particuiar such views
expressed by the ORR to the Committee
Chairman which this year covered the
ORR’s views on reliability, efficiency,
asset stewardship, safety performance
and breach of licence

Industry relationships and end-user
reputation are also very important to
Network Rall Recegnising the disruption
caused to Network Rail customers and
passengers, the Christmas 2007
overruns were a major focus of the
Commuttee this year

It concluded that the inconvenience and
disruptton are reflected i the outturn of
the reliability performance measure of
the MIP The FEI measure was also
adversely affected by the ORR's fine
levied In combination the awards payable
under these two measures (which comprise
two thirds of the bonus measures) were
automatically impacted by the overruns
reducing them by 11 per cent

This reduction represents an important
validation of the robustness of the MIP
performance measurement structure
as having relevant and effective
mechanisms reflecting the significance
of performance tailures to TOCs, FCCs,
passengers and freight customers

Notwithstanding this the Committee
beheves that the adverse reputational
impact to the Company of the overruns
has been significant Consistent with the
Company's commitment te continuous
focus on operatianal excellence,
therefore, the Commitlee concluded that



i addition to the resulting automatic
reductions in Incentive awards it would
exercise Its discretion {o reduce the
awards further The awards in total were
reduced by the Committee, therefore,
by a further 10 per cent over and above
the initial reduction under the terms of
the MIP

Detalls of the resulting bonus payments
awarded io each Direclor are detalled on
page 28

MIP 2008/09 ~ annual in¢centive
Participants under the MIP 2008/09

will be eligible to receve bonuses
based again on demanding business
periermance measures and targels
The MtP 2008/09 uses key performance
indicators (KPls} based upon those
contained in the Strategic Business
Plan 2007 bul in certain respects

more stretching

The business and indwvidual performance
measures relale directly lo the objectives
set oul by the ORR in paragraph 3 of
Condition 28 of the network icence of
Network Rail Infrastructure Limited
{including the achievement of the
purpose of Cendition 7 (stewardship)
and Condition 25 {cede of practice on
dealing with dependent personsy)),
compliance with other icence condiions
and with conditions of access
agreements

Potential L-TIP awards (audited)

Business performance measures

The amount payable to Executive
Directors will be calculated by referance
10 performance against the same

ouiput measures to those used in the
2007/08 MIP

Relabifiity (weight one-third) — this

15 the iIndex established o measure
improvements In train performance,
compnsing of separate elements for
passenger reliabiity and freight reliability
weighted according {o therr respective
traific volumes It comprnises both Tran
Delay Minutes and PPM (weighted two
thirds/fone-third} For Train Delay Minutes
this 1s expressed as an index per 100
train kilometres, to ensure that the impact
of the volume of trains s correctly
refiected

Financia! Efficiency Index (weight one-
third) — this 1s & measure of the efficiency
of operating, mantenance and renewal
expenditure, normalised (o take account
of changes in the volume of work
required The coverage of the FEI is

68 per cent of total operating, maintenance
and renewals expenditure

Asset Stewardship Incentive Index
{weight one-third) — this 1s an index
propased by the ORR in its December
2003 Access Charges Review The
components of this sndex and weightings
are track geometry index {20 per cent),

Performance pariod

1 April 2006 to 1 April 2007 lo 1 Aprll 2008 to

¥ March mz . 31 March 2010 31 March 2011
Director 2007/08 200009 2003110 200809 2009/10 201011
lain Coucher 214 650 305,581 a o] a b c
Peter Henderson 160 153 219,391 a b a b c
Ron Hendersen 160 153 208 944 a b a b c
Total 534,956 733,16 a b a b c
Nates

For perormance penod 1 Apnl 2007 to 31 March 2010 and 1 Apnl 2008 to 31 March 2011 the L-TIP will be
calculated on an average of three annual award payments subject to performanca conditions

To assist n describing this calculation the above table has been annctated with a b 2nd ¢ 10 represent the

appropnate unknown annual payments

200710 The maximum L TIP payment for the performance penod 1 Apri 2007 1o 31 March 2(101s equal to
the average of the annual payments recened for the years 2007/08 2008/09 and 2008/10 For tain Coucher

the calculation to set the maximum award wil} be
L TIP maximum = (£305 581+a+b)/3

2008M1 The maximum L-TIP payment for the performance penod 1 Apnl 2008 to 31 March 201115 eguat to
tne average of the annual payments recerved for the years 2008/09, 2009/10 and 2010/11 For lan Coucher

the calculaton [© set the maximum award will be
L TIP maximum = (a+o+c)/3

These maximum sums will anly be paid If the performance measures outhned on page 26 are met in full

number of broken rails (15 per cent),
Level 2 exceedences (15 per cent), total
number of signalling faillures {15 per
cent), wrong side signalling failures -
hazard rating 20 ar above (15 per cent}.
structure and earthworks train speed
restnclions (10 per cent), and traction
power supply fallures AC and DC

(10 per cent)

Each of the above performance
measures stands alone ang 1s calculated
independently The total potential
incentive award payable 1s then the sum
of the outcomes of each measure

The structure of the MIP scheme for
2008/09 incorporates the laper principle
detalled above This allows significant
performance to be recognised against a
background of conunued year on year
stretch performance charges The
specific targets and taper tngger ponts
are decided by the Remuneration
Commuttee, taking into account
Regulatory Targets

Payments under each of the three
measures can only be made if
performance meels or exceeds the
tngger performance as determined by
the Remuneration Commitlee in
accordance with the taper principle If
target levels are achieved payments are
calculated for above-target performance
on a straight line basis up to maxirnum
target level, the maximum incentive could
be earned by achieving a level of
performance at least equal to delivenng
one year early the 2009/10 performance
on each measure as conlained In the
Strategic Business Plan 2007

The Committee may exercise its
discretion and reduce the amounts
payable If, over the year, the overall
business performance of Netwark Rail
including the level of saiety performance
and net debl, 1s deemed unsatisfactory

The potential annual incentive entitiement
if all three measures achieve target level
1S 50 per cent The maximum possitle
entitlement 1s 100 per cent of salary,
achievable only if all three measures hit
maximum performance, by achieving a
level of performance equal o or betler
than the 2009/10 performance descnbed
in the Straiegic Business Plan 2007
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Directors’ remuneration report

Personal performance measures
There are no individual performance
measures set for the Executive Direciors
The Commitiee continues to believe that
collective accountability of the Directors
necessitates a focus on collective
performance incentives without individual
performance measures Other senior
executives do have individual
performance measures in addition {0 the
busingss performance measures

Long-term incentive (L-TIP)
Under the terms of the Management
Incentive Policy there 1s a requirement to
have a long-term incentive element within
the MIP

As Network Rall Limited, being the
ultimate parent of the Company, is a
company limited by guaraniee it 1s not
possible to use fradibonal long-term
incentives due to the absence of shares
as the reward method The L-TIP i1s
based, therefore on a deferred
addiional cash award in which awards
are made after each three-year period
trnggered by relevant long-term
improvement in business performance
targets The Remuneration Commitiee
has designed this to incentivise the
organisation to work together as a team
and with external parties throughout the
industry over the long term o achigve the
key business obyjeclives of the Company

Al the 2007 Annual General Meeting

of Network Rail Limited ils members
approved the proposal by the Committee
that the long-term incentive for each

of the three years (starting 1 April 2008)
to be calculated on the basis of the
average of the awards made n each
year of the three-year performance
penod 2008/09 to 2010/11

The third performance period for the
long-term incentive ended on 31 March
2008 and payments under that L-TIP
have been calculated, based on the two
targets for the scheme

L-TIP for three-year period 1 Apnl 2005
to 31 March 2008
Public Performance

Maximum Target

88 7% 87 7% 89 9%

Minimum Target Actual

ORR cost reduction targets

Maximuem Target Minlmum Target Actual

£3,385m £2,708m £3,188m

26 Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Annual Report and Accounts 2008

Consequently payments were made al a
level of 85 per cent to participants in this
long-term plan, based on a maximum
amount equivalent to the annual incentive
earned in 2004/05 (as described in
previous years' remuneration reporis}

L-TIP for three years to 31 March 2008

{audited)

Name Amournt sarned
John Armuit” £178,339
lain Coucher £204,709
Peter Henderson £152 704
Ron Henderson £152 704
* John Armitt retred from the Comparny on

31 July 2007

The maximum potential value of the
long-term incentives recevable by each
Executive Director at the end of the
respective performance penods of the
other three-year penods 15 as shown in
the table on page 25

Performance measures
The two performance measures are

Public perfermance up to 31 March
2006 the Public Performance Measure
was the most approprate measure of
netwark performance for inclusion in this
fong-term incentive, reflecting delays
attributable both to Network Rail and the
train operating companies This measurg
1s the percentage of passenger trans
arrnving on time owver each twelve-month
period as published in ‘Natonal Rai
Trends’ ‘On ime’ s defined as running
as planned and arriving less than five
minutes late at final destination or less
than ten minutes late for inter-city
operalors

With effect from 1 Apnl 2006, it was
decided, following consultation with the
passenger and freight train operators, to
introduce a modified larget as the base
of the measure for public performance
This new measure Is the 'Public
Performance Targel'. which also includes
delays io freight trains, measured on

a similar basis to passenger delays
Passenger and {reight delays are
therefore both included in this measure
weighted according o the number of
train kitometres for each category of
traffic The target level of achievement
for full payment 1o be made under this
measure s a Public Performance Target
(PPT} at the level iIncluded In the relevant
Business Plan




For the period from 1 Aprid 2007 to

31 March 2010, the PPT target has yet to
be confirmed, at the time of publication
of this report, as this 1s subject to
discussions with the ORR regarding
Contral Period 4

Cost reduction this measure reflects the
cumulative cost reductions made in the
three-year penod For full payment under
the long-term incentive the target is
achievement of a level related to the
levels contained in the Business Plan
2006 No award under the long-term
incentive will be payable unless at least
80 per cent of the cumulative savings
set by the ORR are achieved

If these targets are achieved n fult,
significant improvement 1o the rail
network will have been delivered The two
measures are free standing and equally
weighted The Committee continues to
believe that these two measures provide
an appropriately challenging framework
for the long-term incentwe

Regulatory MIP statement

As reguired under the network licence
of Network Rail, a statement will be
published in May 2008 detailing the
contents of the Executive Directors’
MIP 2008/09

Pensions

Executive Directors are entitled to
pensions based on salary and length
of service with a maximum pension of
two-thirds of final base salary Delal's
are se! out on page 29

Directors’ service terms
Executive Directors

The Executive Direclors of the Company
are also the Executive Directors of
Network Rail Limied but their contractual
service agreements are with this
Company No other contractual
Qrovisions or remunegration arrangements
exist 1n relation to their directorships of
the Company or any other company
within the Network Rail Group

At the tme of drawing up the service
agreements the Committee took into
consideration the UK Listing Authority’s
corporate governance code and the
recemmendations contained within the
joint statement of the Association of
Bntish Insurers and the National
Association of Pension Funds published
1in December 2002 on best praclice on
executive contracts and severance
These were applied as f{ar as practicable
and appropnate having regard to the
nature of the business and the corporate
structure of the Company and then
current practice With the retirement of
John Armitt 1n July 2007 and tain
Coucher's appointment to the role of
Chief Executive at that time, the
opportunity was iaken to review lain
Coucher's service agreement against the
then best practice and again so far as
practicable and appropnate this has
been adopted

All the Executive Direclors’ service
agreements provide for notice periods of
no greater than one year, to reflect
current corporate governance best
practice Executive Directors are
required to give not less than six months'
notice i they wish to leave

The Chief Executive's service agreement
{and the letter of appointment of the
Chairman) als¢ contains provisions for
termination of his appointment without
compensation upon the occurrence of
certain significant financial falures of (he
Group unless a majonty of the Board of
the Company and the DfT (in its role as
provider of credit faciliies) decide that
these appointmenis should not be
terminated

Taking the principles contained wathin
current corporate governance best
practice relating to compensation in the
event of early termination of a direclor's
service agreement, each such
agreement contains an express provision
requiring the deparung director 10
exercise their duty to mitigate their loss
Network Rail will have regard 1o that duty
and contractual requirement on a case
by case basis when assessing the
appropriate level of compensation which
may be payable, including using phased
payments

Exscutlve Directors Effective date of contract

lain Coucher 1 August 2007"

3 Cctober 2002
3 October 2002

*Being a new service agreement upon his
appointment as Chief Executive and having
a previous service agreement as Deputy
Chief Executive with an effectve date of
3 Qctober 2602

Peter Henderson

Ron Henderson

Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors are appomted
by the Board on the recommendation

of the Nommations Committee Their
appointment 1s for an instial term of three
years, subject to efection by the
members of Network Rail Limited at the
first AGM following their appointment
They do not have service agreements
Instead the terms of thetr engagement
are set out in a letter of appointment and
their appointments may be terminated at
any time on six manths' notice without
compensation Further, as mentioned
above, the letter of appointment of the
Chairman also contains provisions for
terminauon of his appoiniment without
compensation upon the occurrence of
certain significant financial failures of the
Group unless a majonty of the Board of
the Company and the DIT {in its role &s
provider of credit facilities) decide that
these appointments should not be
terminated

Non-Executive Directors Effactive date of original contract

lan McAltister 3 October 2002
Dawid Bailley* 15 August 2002
lan Buchan 5 February 2006
Yvonne Censtance 1 May 2005
Jim Cornell*™ 3 Oclober 2002
Michael Firth 4 December 2004
Christopher Green 26 June 2005
Steve Russell 19 September 2007

* David Baley's appointment in 2002 was as Special
Dirgcter upon conversion of his appointment a
rew letter of appointment was issued in 2005

** Jim Cornelt had previously an appaintment letier
dated 14 Decamber 2001
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Directors’ remuneration repori

External appointments

It 15 recognised that Executive Directors
may be invited io become Non-Executive
Drrectors of other companies and that
such appointments can broaden therr
knowledge and expernence to the benefit
of the Company An individual Executive
Director will normally be required (o
account to the Group for all fees receved
in respect of such directorships unless
otherwise approved by the Committee

None of the Executive Directors currently
holds a Non-Executive Director position
with a listed company

Non-Executive Directors’
remuneration

The Non-Executive Directors of the
Company are also the Non-Executive
Directors of Network Rail Limited but
therr letters of appointment are with
this Company covenng both positions

N other contractual provisicns or
remuneration arrangements exist in
relation {0 therr directorships {If any) of
any other company within the Network
Rail Group For the purpose of this
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
Directors' Remuneration Report for
Network Rail Limited, therefore, the
following provisions of this report also
appear in the Annual Report of that
company The letters of apponiment are
avallable for inspection at the Company's
registered office

Non-Execulive Directors do not receve
any benefits from the Company other
than a fee together with their reasonable
expenses for altending meetings of the
Board and other meetings and events

Disclosure of Directors' remuneration for 2007/08 (audited)

Supple-
mentary!
Company
pansion Baneftts
tributions  (including
AVC payments pension
Salarles Bonuses L-TIP by the  altowances 200708
and fees Annoal payrients Company and fifa covar) Total
Name Notes EROo E00D £000 £000 £000 £000
John Armitt 1 195 101 178 58 6 538
David Balley 42 42
Rob den Besten 2 11 11
lan Buchan 42 42
Yvonne Constance 42 42
Jim Corneli 3 63 63
lain Coucher 539 306 205 169 25 1244
Michael Firth 4 57 57
Christopher Green a2 42
Peter Henderson 399 219 153 131 15 917
Ron Henderson 385 209 153 - 126 873
Charles Hoppe 5 13 13
lan McAllister 250 250
Steve Russell 6 21 21
Notes

1 Up to 31 July 2007 when he raured
2 Up ta 30 June 2007 when ha reured

3 Includes additional fees paid for his chairmanship of Board committees and membership of Membership

Seleclion Panel

4 Includes agdibonal fees paid for s chairmanship of Board commiitees

5 Up to 18 July 2007 when he retred

6 From 19 September 2007 when he joined the Board
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Directors' remuneration companson 2007/08 against 2006/07 (audited)
20607108

2008/07

Total Total
Currant Directors Notas £000 €000
David Bailey 42 40
lan Buchan 42 40
Yvonne Constance 42 40
Jim Cornell 63 60
lain Coucher 1,244 823
Michael Firth 57 53
Christopher Green 42 40
Peter Henderson N7 602
Ron Henderson 873 589
lan McAllister 250 236
Steve Russell 1 21 -
Past Directors
John Armitt 2 538 203
Rob den Beslen 3 11 40
Charles Hoppe 4 13 a0
Total 4,155 3,506

Notes

1 Joined 19 September 2007
2 Retired 31 July 2007

3 Retred 30 Jung 2007

4 Retred 19 July 2007

Core pension benefits (audited)

Inergasa in

Tolal Transfer value Transfer valus Total change Value of net

Gross accrued accrued of accrued of acgrued  intransfer  Incroass in

Increase RPS pension RPS pension  RPS penslon  RPS pansion valus acerual

In accrued netof a1 31 March at 31 March  at 31 March during over

RPS pansion Inflation 2008 2007 2008 pericd period

E £ E £ E £ 3

{A} 18) © o} {E} ) {G)

John Armt® 699 903 10569 192,657 217,262 20,880 14,833

lain Coucher 2,194 1,885 10,307 102,443 105697 (7.863) 8,220

Peter Henderson 2,194 1,885 10,307 143480 170,058 15452 19,994

Ron Henderson 2206 1,886 10,631 169,641 218,565 37,807 27,652
" Jobn Armitt retired from the Company on 31 July 2007

Notas

1 Pension accruals shown are the amounts which would be paid annually on retirement {or earlier leaving)
based on service 1o the end of the year

2 Transfer values as at 31 March 2007 (D) and 31 March 2008 (E) have been calcutated in accordance with
version 8 1 of guidance note GN11 issued by the actuanal profession

3 The change in the transfer value (F) includes the effects of fluciuations in the transfer value due 1o faclors
beyond the control of the Campany and Directors, such as stock market movements It 1s calculated after
deducting the Director's cantribution

4 The value of net increase (() represents the incremental value to the Chrector of their service dunng the
year calculated on the assumpiion that service terminated at the year end |t 1 based on the accrued
penston increase (B} after deducting tha Director’s contnbution
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Current annual fees (audited) for the
Non-Executive Directors are

Foo
Non Execuive Directors £
David Bailey 42 000
lan Buchan 42,000
Yvonne Constance 42000
Jim Cornell 63,000
Michael Firth** 57,000
Chnstopher Green 42 000
lan McAluster 250,000
Steve Russell™™* 42000

Includes addinonal fees paig for his chairmanship
of Board committees and membership of
Membership Selection Panet

* Includes addiionat fees paid for fus chairmanship
of Board committees

** With etlect from 19 Septermber 2007 baing the

date of his appainiment

With effect from January 2005, in view of
the additiona! responsibilites and time
commitment placed upen the chairmen
of Board committees, and in line with the
recommendations of the Higgs Report
and good corporate governance
practice, it was decided that additional
fees would be paid to a Non-Executive
Director who chairs any of the following
Board committees

Safety Health & Ervironment Committee
Audit Commuttee

Remuneration Committee

Treasury Committee

With the exception of the fee for the
Chairman (which s determined by the
Remuneraticn Commiitee), the fees of
the Non-Executive Directors are agreed
by the Executive Directors of the Board
These fees are designed o recognise
the significant responsibililies of
Non-Executive Directors and to attract
individuals with the necessary high
quality expernience and ability lo make
an impoertant contribubion to the
Company's busingss




Directors' remuneration report

Directors’ emoluments
(audited)

The fees, which are neither performance
related nor pensionable, are
benchmarked and periodically reviewed
against, and are in hne with, those paid
by other comparable private secior
companies taking into account time
commitment and competition for similar
positions in other companies

The totai amount of Directors’
emolumenis for services provided solely
to the Company dunng the year was
£4,155,000 (2006/07 £3,508,000)

Directors’ pensions {(audited)
The table on page 29 shows the pension
entitlement from the Network Rail section
of the Railways Pension Scheme (RPS),
and additiona! defined contribution
arrangements of each Executive Director
of the Company during the year ended
31 March 2008, together with the
ncreases in those benefils during the
year, calculated using the accrued
benefit basis

The increases In RPS benefits during the
year represert the amount of the extra
annual pension entitiement earned
resulting from additional length of
service or changes In salary

Additional pension benefits {audited)

The increase in accrued approved
benefit during the year 1s shown in the
table on page 29 Values are shown
before {column A} and after (column B}
the exclusion of the effect of nflation All
benefit values shown exclude the effect
of any addiional voluntary contnibutions
made by the Director

Executive Directors participate in the
RPS and benefit accrues at a rate of
one-sixtieth for each year of membership
They contribute to the RPS at the same
rate as other members of the Network
Rail section In addition, some Directors
are entitled to additional pension benefits
that are provided through the Network
Rail Defined Contribution Pension
Scheme

The following sections describe the
pension benefits recewved by Execulive
Directors in 2007/08

In normal circumstances the earliest age
at which the Executive Directors are
entitled to receive ther defined benefit
pension without actuanal recuction 1S
age 60 However, the Directors can retire
early on the same terms and congitions
that apply to other members of the
Network Rail section of the RPS from the
age of 530 The actuanal reduction factors
that apply under the RPS are a two per
cent per annum reduction between the

Company contributions Company paymants Matching Company

to additional to lonal vols Y

pansion provision panslon provision contibutlons

whiist a Director In respect ‘whilst a Director

during the year of prior yaar during tha year

E £ £

Current Directors H} U] (%]

lain Coucher 168,638 133,008 -

Peter Henderson 131,164 97.821 -

Ron Henderson - - -
Past Director

John Armitt 56,137 149,637 1,627

Notes

The current Directors were Directors for the whele year
2 Tne pasi Director was Director to 31 July 2007

3 Ron Henderson elecied to receive an equivalent acddiional allowance n lieu of addivonal pansion
contrbutions This payment 15 incluged in the banefit figure reporied on page 28
4 The contnbutions in respect of previous years are nol included in column (H)

w

None of the Non-Executive Directors 1s @ member of the Network Rail section of the RPS ana Non-Executive
Directors have no other pension entilements from the Company
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ages of 60 and 55 and a three per cent
per annum reduction for ages below 55
In keeping with other members of the
scheme, the nght to take early retirement
benefits 1s at the option of the ndividual,
subject only to having left the Company's
employment

In addition to members' benefits,
dependants’ pensions are payable after
the death of the member, In ine with
those payable to all members of the RPS
These are at the rate of half the pension
the member would have received at

age 60 on death In service or half the
member's basic pension on death in
retirement or after leaving service Basic
pension i$ pension before commutation
for cash and excluding any benefits
ansing from Additional Voluniary
Contributions In addition, the RPS pays
pensions to surviving children Where
two children survive, a pension additienal
to the dependant's pension I1s paid at
three-eighths of the pension the member
would have received at age 60, or three-
eighths of the member's basic pension
afier leaving service or In retirement
Children's pensions are pad to the age
of 18 or a later age, at the discretion of
the Network Rail Section Pensions
Commiitee, if the child 1s in full time
education or disabled The RPS provides
guaranieed increases to all pensions In
payment and deferment in ing with the
retall prices index

Additional pension benefits

As descnbed on the previous page,
some Directors are entifled to additional
pension benefits in which case the

Director could choose the extent to which

the gross payment was made ta the
pension arrangement, or taken as
cash Future contnbutions are ata
pre-determined level, and the amount
has been notified o each Director

The coniributions made durnng the year
together, where appropnate, with
contributions in respect of benefits
accrued prior 10 the year under review
are shown on page 30

The RPS also cperates a maiching
additional voluntary contnoution facility,
whereby voluntary contnbutions paid by
members are maiched by equivalent
payments from the Company, up (o
certain lmits These matching
arrangements were frozen for all
members of the Network Raill section
of the RPS at the levels applicable

on 6 November 2003, and this limit
was appiled to Directors as to other
members Matching payments made In
2007/08 are also shown on page 30

Performance graph

As the Company has no hsted shares
total sharehelder return cannot be
ilustrated

Directors’ interests

As the Company has no listed shares
Directors have no interests in shares of
the Company

On behalf of the Remuneration
Commitiee

Jirn Cornell
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
27 May 2008
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Corporate governance report

Corporate governance
principles

The Board considers that good corporate
governance Is central to achieving the
Company s objectives and to the
principle of safeguardmng stakeholders’
Interests in the rail infrastructure The
Company 15 committed to high standards
of business behaviour and has an
eslablished governance framework
which compnses an organisational
structure, internal control systems and
business conduct policies These form
the framework for effective decision-
making and delivery of the qualty rail
infrastructure this country needs

s also a condition of Network Rail's
network licence thai, from 3 Gctober
2002, i complies with the gavernance
principles contained in the code annexed
to the UK Listing Authonty's histing rules
(2s amended with effect on 1 June 2006)
(the Code) The Code includes a
requirement for companies {0 make
statements on corporaie governance in
their annual reports

Having reviewed the requirements of the
Code, the Directors consider that
Network Rail has complied throughout
the financial year ended 31 March 2008
with the provisions set out In Section 1 of
the Code This Corporate Governance
Report, coupled with the Directors'
Remuneration Report, explains how the
Company has applied the governance
prnciples set out in the Code Details of
the Company’s internal controls are set
oul on pages 38 to 39

Board of Directors

The Board 1s responsibie for the overall
managemaent of the Group and In
parucular for governing the strategic
direction of the business, supervising its
operational management and providing
leadership within a governance
framework which it oversees This
responsibiity extends to taking overall
responsibility for financial performance,
internal controis and nsk management of
the Company

The information on pages 20 and 21
shows thal at the date of this report the
Company 1s led and controlled by a
board currently compnsing three
Executive Direclors and eight Non-
Executive Directors The Board believes
its composition possesses wide
expenence both within the rait industry

and generally as well as the necessary
range of quaktes, skills and experience
to lead the Company effectively

Directors are appointed by the Board
and are also the Directors of Network
Rad Limited Under the provisions of the
Articles of Assocration of the Company
the Directors are not subject to retirement
by rotatiert due to it being a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Network Rail Limited
Under the provisions of the Articles of
Association of Network Rail Limited,
however, al! Directors {other than the
Special Director ~ see below) must retire
by rotation, and may stand (together with
any new Director appointed since the
last general meeting) for re-election by
the Members of the Campany at least
once every three years Ong new Non-
Executive Director has been appointed
since the AGM n 2007 - Steve Russell
joned the Board in September 2007

The names of the Directors due to stand
for re-election at Network Raill Limited's
Annual General Meeting (AGM) in July
2008 are set out on page 19 of the
Directors' Report and further information
will be given In the documents
accompanying the Nolice of the AGM

to be sent to members of Network

Ra# Limrted

The Board's responsibilities
Certain matters are formally reserved for
decision by the Board and its duly
authonsed committees These include
approval of

« the Group's overall stralegy and annual
operating budget

the imterim and year-end financial
statements of the Company

the business plan

matenal changes to the network
icence

key pension matters

appointments to the Board

adequacy of internal control systems
major capital investments and
expenditure

review of the performance of the
Board and its commitiees

-

.

Matters delegaled 1o Executive
Management Group or below are aiso
subject to financial imits above which
Board approval 1s required
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The roles of the Chairman and
Chief Executive

The responsibiities of the non-executive
Chairman include leading the Board and
ensuring its effectiveness He sets the
agenda for the meetngs of the Beard
and, with the assistance of the Group
Company Secreiary, arranges for the
Directors to recelve timely, accurate and
clear information before Board meetings
and updales on 1ssues ansing between
meetings The Chiefl Execulive 15
responsible for leading and managing
the business on a day-to-day basis within
the authonties delegated by the Board
and 1s accountable to the Board for the
financia! and operational performance of
the Group

The roles of the Charrman and the Chref
Executive are distincl and separate

and ther responsibibties are clearly
established being set out in wnting and
having been agreed by the Board The
Chairman is responsible for the workings
and leadership of the Board

Non-Executive Directors and
their independence

The Non-Executive Directors combine
broad business and commercial
experence {both from the rail industry
and from other indusiry sectors) (o
enable them lo challenge and contnbute
constructively to the development

of the strategy of the Group They

also scruiinise the performance of
management in meating agreed goals
and objectives and monitor operational
performance of the business

The current Senior Independeni Director
15 Jm Cornell He s avalable lo
Mermbers as an additional paint of
contact to the Chairman and the Chief
Executve

The Board considers that each of the
Non-Executive Directors 1s independent
of the Company With regards to

the guidelines on the meaning of
'ndependence’ as set out in the Code,
however, it 1s appropriate to disclose that

1 Jim Cornell was, unt! 1996, a {non-
Board) Director of British Rail He
currently receives a pension from the
Network Rail section of the Railways
Pension Scheme He 15 also Executive
Director of the Railway Hentage Trust
The Board considers, however, that as
a Non-Executive Director of Network




Rall, Jm Cornell I1s independent as he
was not an employee or Executive
Director of Raiitrack PLC Furthermore
the corporate structures of this
Company and of Network Rald Limited,
being a not-fer-dividend company,
eliminate any potential or perceived
conflicis between his being a Non-
Executive Director of the Company and
receving a pension from the Network
Rail section of the Rallway Penston
Scheme

Jim Cernell, having held vanous senior
roles within British Rail before retinng
on the creation of Railtrack PLC, 15 a
highly experienced and respected
rallwayman who contributes
considerable knowledge to the Group
This enables him to challenge
constructively and effectively
operational matters within the Group
as well as participating in the fuli range
of responsibilites of a Nan-Executive
Director

2 David Balley was previously the
Special Director appointed {o the
Board of Network Rail Limtted by the
Strategic Rail Authonty (SRA) pursuant
10 its then nghts under the Arucles of
Association of that company Following
the changes under the Rarlways Act
2005 with the responsibihties of the
SRA passing pnncipally to the
Cepariment for Transport {OfT), the
DfT has not exercised its night to
appomnt & Special Director

The Board considered that David
Balley makes a valuable contribution
to the Company in his Non-Executive
Director role His wide ranging
commercial experience has enabled
him to provide additional perspective
on issues and the Company wished
to retain him as it moved into Its new
roles Al the AGM of Network Ratl
Limited in 2005 his appoimtment as a
Non-Executive Director was approved

3 Christopher Green currently recewves a
pension from the Network Rail secthon
of the Ratlway Pension Scheme The
Board considers, however, 1hat as
Non-Executive Director of Network Rail
he 1s Independent as he was not an
employee of Railtrack PLC

None of the Non-Executive Direclors are
members of more than three committees
of the Board except David Bailley, who

1$ 2 member of the Nominations,
Remuneration, Audit and Safety, Health
and Envwironment Committees Upon
the conversion of his appointment in
June 2005 to Non-Executive Direclor,
he has continued to be a member of
these committees due to the vaiuable
contribution he I1s able {0 make to each
of these

Board meetings

The Board met formally nine times in
2007/08 There 1s a schedule of lems to
be brought to the Board throughout the
year and a format for each meeting 18
prepared and agreed which enables the
Directors to review corporate strategy
regularly together with the operaticns
and results of the business umts within
the Group and to discharge their other
duties Each meeting inciudes reports on
the safety, health and environmental
performance of the Group as well as on
operational and financial performance
against the Business Plan and targets
There are also penodical nsk
management reviews of the key stralegic
nsks to the Group and the Board
receives regular presentations from
senior management on both current
1ssues as well as future plans

Upon acquisition of the business in
2002 the demands on the Board's
management skilis in the early days
focused on the need for significant
overview of immediale day 1o day
management As the Company has
developed the demands on the Board
have maved o high level management
of the overall strategic development of
the business for the future

Following the annual review of the
workings of the Board and its
committees in February 2007, therefore,
the Board concluded that the number of
scheduled meetings and the format of its
meetings would be adjusted accordingly
to reflect the matuning state of Network
Rail's business With effect from January
2008 the Board adopted a timetable of
eight schegduled Board meetings each
year with the format of these meetings
enabling even greater focus on and
opportunity to debate fuiure sirategic
1ssues facing the rail ndustry in addition
to reviewing current performance of

the business

Annually the Chairman holds at least one
meeiing with the Non-Executive Directors

without the Executive Directors present
to discuss the performance of the
Company under the execulive leadership
Further, periodically a meeting of the
Non-Executive Direciors charred by the
Senior Independent Direclor 1s held
without the Chairman present

A table detailing the indwiduzl Directors’
attendance al each of the Board and
committee meetings 15 set out on

page 37

Organisational structure !
The Board has established an ‘
arganisational structure which 1s

designed to allow for effective and

efficient decision-making across the

business The Board has delegated

authonty to the commitiees descnbed

below on specific matlers, which are set

out in their terms of reference These

auihonties are reviewed regularly The

lerms of reference of the Safety, Heaith

and Environment, Audit, Remuneration,

Nominations and Treasury Commitiees

are published on the Campany's website

and copies are avallable on request

Minutes of all committee meetings are

made available to Directors

The compositien of each committee 15

designed 10 maximise the range of skills '
and expenence of Board members with

the aim of not ptacing undue reliance on

any ona incividual Each commitiee may

request any infarmation from the

executive management necessary to

discharge its functions and may, f 1t

considers necessary, seek independent

advice and counset

There are five standing Board
commitiees with defined terms of
reference as follows

The Safety, Health and Environment
Committee

Composttion This Commitiee comprises
three Non-Executive Directors and the
Chief Executive and 1s chaired by

Jim Corneil The Director, Safety &
Compliance usually atiends the meetings
by invitation

Role The Commitiee’s role 1s 1o monitor

the integnty of the metheds of discharge

of the safety, health and environimenial
responsibilities of the Company and to

satisfy itself as to the adequacy and |
effectiveness of the safety, health and

environment policies and strategies

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Annual Report and Accounts 2008 33




Corporate governance report

within the Company It also reviews the
prnnciples, policies and practices
adopted In complying with all statutory,
sub-statutory, standards and regulatory
requirements 1n respect of safety, health
and environmental matters affecting the
actvities of the Group

Process The Committee conducts its
responsibilities through a series of
scheduled meetings with forward
agendas set each year to meet the
responsipilities of the Committee

The Committee chairman reports on
the Committee's activities to the Board
meeating immediately following a
Committee meeting

Its werk in fulfilling 1ts respensibiiities
ncludes

monitonng of the Group’s safety,
health and environment pelicies

and strategies

considenng the areas of significant
corporate and individual safety, health
and envirenment risk and whether
management 1S managing these
effectively

reviewing the structure, adequacy and
effectiveness of safety, health and
environment managerial committees
within the Company including review of
any terms of reference for the same
reviewing the scope and results of any
safety, health and environment audit
on the effectiveness of the Company's
safety, health and environment audit
palicies and strategies and such
audit’s cost effectiveness and the
independence and the objectivity of
the audi body

considering the major findings of
internal ang external investigations and
management's responss thereto and,
where necessary, with a view 1o the
making of recommendations to the
Board in respect of the same

tn addition 1o this Committee, and
reflecting the recommendations in the
Culien Report, two executive committees
have been set up, dealing with strategic
and tactical safety matters Moreover, the
Board receives a report on safety, health
and environment matters at each of its
scheduled meetings

Activities 1n 2007/08 During the year
ended 31 March 2008, this Commitlee
met six tmes and Its principal activities
included review of the following

safety, health and environment
performance reports of the Company
significant internal safety related
incident reports
selected key operational safety risks
progress with imgplementation of the
Safety in the Line assessment project
the status of safety, health and
environment related activities and
responsibiities of the prnincipal
functions within the Company
analysis of emerging trends from
recent safety assurance activity and
significant accidents and incidents
key findings in annual regulatory safety
reports by the Rallway Accident
investigation Board, Rail Safety and
Standards Beard and the Office of Rail
Regulation
the status of safety incident inquines’
recommendations
the rall strategic safety plan for 2008
+ the Company’s safety, health and
environment risk management
« the Committee's annual performance
evaluation

-

The Audit Committee

Composition This Committee I1s
compnsed of three Non-Executive
Directors and 1s chaired by Michaal Firth
who has a financial background and
experience at chaimng a listed company’s
augdt committee The Chief Executive,
the Group Finance Director, the Group
Financial Controller and the Head of
Internal Audit normaily atiend meetings
of the Committee Two partners from the
external auditors also attend each of

the Audit Commiitee’'s meetings and
periodically meet with the Committee
without executive management present

The Board continues to be satished that
the composition of the Commuttee fulfils
the Code's requirement thal at least cne
member of the Commiitee has recent
and relevant financial expenence It also
considers that it complies with the Srmith
Guidance on Audit Committees in all
matenal respects

Role The main responsibilities of this
Committee are to monitor the integnty

of the financial reporting and the audit
process and to monitor that an effective
management and internal control system
is maintained The Committee has a
structured programme of actvities
inctuding receipt of regular detaifed
reports on relevant aspects of
management, focused to coincide with
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key events of the annual financial
reporting cycle

Its work 1n fulfiling 1ts responsibililies
includes

+ reviewing the internal control
framework and the register of financial
and non-financial nsks (so far as these
are not reviewed by other Board
committees such as the Safety, Health
and Environment Commitiee)
monitoning financial reporting practices
including considerng accounting
pclicies and practices and cempliance
with accounting standards

reviewing significant accounting
estimates and judgements

reviewing intenm and annual financial
statements before publication
considerng and making
recommendations to the Board

in relation to the appoiniment,
re-appointment and removal of lhe
external auditors following its
assessment of their independence and
objectivity (including the safeguards
that are In place to maintain such
independence) and therr terms of
engagement and remuneration
reviewng the internal and external
audit process including the scope of
its planned audit and subsequently its
audit findings

reviewing the policy and procedure
whereby employees can raise, in
confidence, concerns about pessible
improprieties

+

Process The Commitlee conducts its
responsibiities through use of a seres
of scheduled meetings with a defined
set of items of business for each meeling
The Commiltee chairman reports on
the Committee’s activities to the Board
meeting iImmediately following a
Committee meeting Between meetings,
the Committee chairman reviews
emerging 1ssues as approprate with
the Grougp Finance Director and other
$enior managers

Activities in 2007/08 During the year
ended 31 March 2008, this Committee
met four mes and its principal activiies
included consideration of the following
« intenm and full year financial results
+ the 2007/08 internal audit plan and
resources required
- guarterly internai control reparts
from the internal audit function
the effectiveness of the internal
audit function



the effectiveness of the external
audit process

the independence and objectivity
of the external auditors

the 2007/08 external audit plan and
associated audi fees

* the Company's internal control
framework including the nsk
management process and progress
on the management of the key risks
identified by the Company

the status of employee concerns
reportingfwhistle-blowing

« the Commitiee’s annual performance
evaluation

-

External Auditors Independence and
objectmity of the external auditors s

of great importance to the Committee
A palicy s In place to assist this whereby
employment of the external auditors on
work for Network Rail other than audit
services or tax consulting services 1s
prohibited without prior approval by the
Audit Committee A new lead partner

is appoinled every five years, with other
key audii pnncipals rotating every
seven years

The Commiitee has responsibility for
advising the Board on the appaintment,
re-appointment and the remuneration of
the external auditars Delaitte & Touche
LLP {Delciite) has been the Company's
external auditors since 2002 (and prior
to that to Railtrack plc since 1986) Each
year the Audit Committee conducls an
assessment of the effecliveness of
Deloitte and pencodically conducts a
more detalled review In 2008 the
Committee conducted agamn ihis more
detaled review, having previously done
son 2005

A lengthy questionnaire was completed
by the external auditors detalling their
procedures, training and audit processes
as well as how independence and
objectivity 1s maintained Consultation
within the Company as to the
performance of the external auditors
was also carrned out As aresult of the
assessment, the Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that at the
AGM in July 2008 « proposes the
re-appointment of Deloitte as auditors
untl the conclusion of the AGM in 2009

The Remuneration Committee
Composition This Committee comprnises
alt of the Company's Non-Executive

Directors and 1s chaired by Jin Cornell
It determines appropriate levels of
Directors' and senior executives'
remuneration including thesr incenlive
scheme The Commillee’s report 1s
contained In pages 22 to 31

The Nominations Committee
Composition This Committee 1s charred
by lan McAlister as the Chairman of
the Board and comprises two further
Non-Executive Directors

Role The role of the Committee includes

+ reviewing regularly the size, structure
and compaoasition of the Board
(including use of sutable perodic
periormance evaluation processes}
and making recommendations to the
Board on any adjustments that may
be deemed necessary and feasible
(including on matters such as
suUccession planning)

+ evalualing the balance of skiils,
knowledge and experience of the
Board

» dentifying and nominating candidates
for appointment as director for
approval by the Board

= satisfying itself that appropriate
succession plans and processes are
Iin place for the appointments to the
Board and 10 senior management
posIitions

Process The Commitiee conducts its
respensibilities through meetings held as
appropriaie The Committee chairman
reporis on the Commitieg's activiies 1o
the Beard meeting immedialely following
a Committee meeting Between
meetings, the Commitiee chairman
discusses matters of succession and
recruitment with the other members

of the Committee on an ad hoc basis

as required

Activities 1n 2007/08 During the financial
year 2007/08 the Nominations Commitiee
has met once to consider performance
evaluation of the Board, iis committees
and Directors, succession planning,
organisational structure and possible
candidates for appointment as Non-
Executive Directors of the Company

This process included consideration of
the experience and skills sought for the
role and commissioning Egon Zehnder
International to conduct various searches
for suitable candidaies

As a result of this process Steve Russell
was recommended by the Commultee to
the Board for appointment as a Non-
Executive Director - such appointment
was approved by the Board with effect
from September 2007 In accordance
with the Articles of Network Rail Limited
Steve Russell will be seeking election at
the Annual General Meeting of that
company in July 2008

Mare generelly for succession purposes
the Company reviews inlernal executive
skills regularly including through the use
of a t1alent pool that uses assessment
testing and other data to idenufy suitable
candidates for succession opportunities
Indwicduais identified with senior
management potential also attend
focused leadership development training
at the Company s own centre which
provides courses in cellaboration with
Warwick Bustness School (a part of
Warwick University)

The Treasury Committee

Composition This Commitiee comprses
three directars, with Michael Firth as
chairman The Director of Funding and
other senior funding managers attend
the meetings

Role The Commuttee’s role 1s to review
and salisfy itself as to the appropriateness
of proposed treasury transactions
Including banking, cash management,
debt raising and management and
invesiment management

Process The Commitiee conducts ds
responsibilities through a senes of
scheduled meetings The Committee
charman reports on the Committee s
activibigs to the Board mesgting
immedately following a Committee
meeting Between meetings, the Group
Finance Dhrector updates and discusses
with the Committee charrman matters
relating to the treasury activities

Activities in 2007/08 Duning the year

ended 31 March 2008 the Commiltee

met three times and its principal activities

included consideration or review of the

{ollowing 1n relation to the various funding

arrangements for the Group

+ the debt 1Issuance programme

« the current and forecast debt ratios
and valuation of the existing hedging
portiolio
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-

the interest rate hedging controls and
accounting

» the cash investment strategy, including
fund allocation strategy and investment
risk mitigation

renewal of the Company's cleanng
bank contract

risk capital options

funding and treasury nsk management
treasury policy and actwvties

» debt maturity profile

options relating to the Company's
financing structure for Control Period 4
Investor relations activity

the Commiitee's annual performance
evaluation

-

Executive Management Group
Composition At executive level In the
Company there has previously been the
Executive Commuittee chaired by the
Chief Execulive, and comprising all the
Executive Directors and a number of
senior executives

Foliowing review of this commitiee’s
responsibilities and activities in 2007
and with effect from October 2007 its
name was changed 10 the Executive
Management Group and Its compaosition
was revised with the inclusion of a
number of cther senior managers being
Functional Directors within the whole
business The Group 1S chatred by the
Chief Execulive

Role This Group manages the functions
of the business and implements the
operational and financial chjectves
within imiis set by the Board

Process The Group conducts iis
responsitilities through a senes of
scheduled meetings

Activities in 2007/08 Dunng the year
ended 31 March 2008, the Executive
Commitiee/Executive Management
Group met 11 times and its principal
activities included approval (within its
delegated authority} and review of
operational 1ssues and activities of the
Company including
+ the operational, financial and safety,
heaith and environment performance
of the Company
reports inio significant rail Incidents
+ the Company's budget for 2008/09
investment projects and contract
awards
+ progress reports on significant projects
and programmes

-

» route utilsation strategies

+ the regulatory penodic review process
including the development of the
Strategic Business Plan and 1ts update

» the Company's nsk management

« developmeni of corporate key
performance indicators

= the Company's industnal relaiions
activities

+ HR policies and strategic pians

« the status and actvities of the Waorld
Class Transformation Programme

+ the Company's response to regulaiory
consuliation decuments

Other management meetings
Addiionally there 1s a defined structure
of other executive steenng groups and
panels with terms of responsibilities
focusing on specified aspects of the
operaticnal needs of the business with
prescribed levels of authority

Meetings dunng 2007/08

The table on page 37 identifies the
number of meetngs held between

1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008 of the
Boarg, the five mamn Board committees,
the Executive Commitiee (to the creation
of the Executive Management Group

in October 2007} and the Executive
Management Group (from its creation
in Oclober 2007) and the attendance
record of individual Directors

There may be occasions when
crrcumstances arise which prevent a
Director from attending a meeting in
person ILis usual practice in these
circumstances for the Director
concerned to review the papers and
convey any views 1o the chairman of
the meeting n advance

information about the Direclors’
remuneration 1s given In the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 22 to 31
of this Report and details of how the
Board reviews financial ang operational
controls and nsk management generally
are shown on pages 38 to 39

Board effectiveness

Induction and development

There 1s a comprehensive programme
of induction for new Directors asmed at
ensuring that they are fully conversant
with their responsibilities as a Director
and with the business of Network Rail
This tncludes provision of a manual

of key documents and background
information relating to the Company

36 Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Annual Report and Accounts 2008

and the industry, guidance on Board
procedures and corporate governance
matters Thorough briefings on their
responsibilities are given and site visits
and oneg-to-one meetings with each of
the Executive Directors, key semor
managers and key stakeholders are
also held

Directors are then encouraged to update
their skills, knowledge and famiharity
with the Group through their on-going
participation at Board and committee
meetings, and through regular cccasions
for them to meet senior managers, other
employees and Members as well as
through site visits to operational locations

Ongoing professional development 1s
provided to Directors each year During
the past 12 months the Directors
received briefings on relevant 1ssues
including new developments relating o
company law and other new legislation
Directors are also encouraged to atlend
externally organised seminars Addibonal
personal development (s available to

all Directors

Board evaluation review

The Nominations Commitiee 15 charged
by the Board to review annually the
performance of the Board, its principal
committees and individual Directors
This 1s achieved through a formal process
whereby gwdelines to areas of focus
have been drawn up with the assistance
of external consultants These guidelnes
form the basis for the evaluation process
Each review focuses on matters such

as company strategy, performance,
delegation and accountability, corporate
responsibihity, succession, relationships
with stakehclders, Board and committee
composition, Board communication and
the contribution and effectiveness of
individual Directors The findings of the
review of the Board are considered and
discussed by the Board The review of
individual Directors 1s considered by

the Chairman of the Board and each
Director receives personal feedback

The policy adopted by the Nominations
Commiitee (s for external assistance also
to be provided in conducting the review
on a bi-annual basis In the intenm year
the review Is to be conducted internally
by the Group Company Secretary
Separate meetings are held with each

of the Direclors




Executive
Safety, Committes
E.f:‘nh i Remur Audii ua:n.::l: Treasury
Boards Commites Committes Committes Committae Group Committes
Number of meetings held 9 B 1 6 4 1" 3
Directors
John Armiti! 4 2 - 3 - 4 2
David Bailey 9 5} 1 6 4 - _
Rob den Besten® 3 - - 3 1 - -
lan Buchan 9 3 - 6 - - -
Yvonne Constance g - - [ 4 - _
Jim Cornell 9 6 1 B - - -
lain Coucher 9 5 - 3" 4" 10 2
Michae! Firth 9 - - 6 4 - 3
Chnstopner Green 2] 5 - [ - - _
Peler Henderson 9 - - - - " -
Ron Henderson 9 - - - 4" 11 3
Charies Hoppe®* 3 2 - 2 - - -
lan McAllister 9 - 1 6 - - -
Sleve Russel? 5 - - 2 - - -

Until hus retirement on 31 Juty 2007
Until hus retrremeant on 30 June 2007

Until s retirement on 19 Juty 2007
Fram his appountment on 19 September 2007
As attendee

+ Db Wk -

In ine with this policy, consultants, Egon
Zehnder Internationat, were again
engaged 10 assist with the process for
2007/08 This fatest review, conducied in
February 2008, has led the Board to
conclude that it and its commutlees
cantinue to operate effectively and they
are meeing the needs of the Company
Opportunities were also 1dentified for
development of enhancements to such
effectiveness which are to be explored

The Nominations Committee has also
concluded that each Director 1s
continuing to contnbute 10 the overall
effectiveness and success of the
Company and that each of the Directors
who are proposed for election or
re-election at the AGM 1n July 2008
continue to demonstrate the necessary
commitment to the Company and to be
fully effective members of the Board

Company Secretary

The Group Company Secretary I1s the
secretary to the Board and all of the
above Board committees and 1s

From his appeintment to this Committee on 20 September 2007
FromAn readiness for s appaintment as Chief Executive on 1 August 2007

responsible for advising each of these,
through therr ¢chairman, on all
governance matlers All Directors have
access to the Group Company Secretary
for agwice on corporale governance,
Board procedure and compliance
matiers As well as supporling the
Chairman with hus responsibiity for
management of the Board and Board
matiers, the Group Company Secretary
1$ also responsible for facilitaling the
induction and professional development
of Board members and ensunng good
flow of information within the Board,

its Commuttees and between the
Non-Executive Directors and senior
management The appointment and
removai of the Group Company
Secretary 1s a matter for the Board as

a whole

Advice

There is a procedure whereby

Direciors, wishing to do so in furtherance
of their duties, may take independent
professional advice at Network Rail's
expense

Relations with Members and
stakeholders

The Board of Network Rail Limited 15
extremely committed to, and recognises
the importance of, developing and
maintaining an ongoing relationship
based on regular communication and
dalogue with its wide range of
stakeholders

Members

A variety of forms of contact with

Members of Network Rail Limited 15 used

to help them hold the Board to account

for the performance of the Group and

io help the Members be aware of and

understand developments within the

business Opportunities are also

arranged on a frequent basis o enable

discussion by the Members to take

place The vanous forms of

communication include

+ publication of full Annual Reports

and Accounts

publication of Interim and Preliminary

Resulis

Annual General Meeting and other

general meetings of Network Rail

Limited as required

supply of key press releases, business

documents and other material

copies of the Company s staff

magazine

+ regular meetings with Directars and
senior Network Rad staff

« perodical local briefings and site visiis

« regular presentations on key 1ssues

+ copies of documents published by
other bodies € g the ORR's quarterly
moniter on Network Rail, key ORR
consultation documents and ather
reports

+ the services of a staff member
dedicated 1o respending to enquines
and ssues raised by Members

« information contained on the
Company's website —
www networkrall co uk

In addition, following the network
disruption experienced at the end of the
Chnstmas 2007 public holiday, a special
meeting was arranged at which the
Directers reported to Members on therr
izl indings 1nto the causes of the
disruption and the actions the Company
would be taking o aveld repetition of
such disruption

Network Rail's website i1s updated
frequently with announcements, the
Strategic Business Plan and the Strategic
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Corporate governance report

Business Plan update, the Annual Report
and Accounts, the Management Incentive
Plan statement and other documents and
information Members of Network Rail
Limited also have therr own internet site

Members have the opportunity to meet
the Board both before and after the
formal general meetings as well as to
ask questions at the AGM (including
by submission of wrntten questions in
advance) Before the AGM Members
are also encouraged to request areas
of the business on which they would
like preseniations

Members are also inviied to a meeting
facitated by Network Rail at which the
ORR, tha rail industry’s regulating body,
presents the ORR's views on the current
performance of Network Rall against its
regulatory oblgations

In connection with the AGM of Network
Rail Limited, the level of proxy voles 15
disclosed (including the details of the
votes for, against and the abstentions for
each resolution) The charmen of the
Boarg committees are available at the
AGM to answer guestions in refation to
their committee’s area of responsibility
In addition and In line with best practice,
the Notice of the AGM and any related
papers were sent out 1o Members o
arrive at least 20 business days before
the date of the meeting to ensure that
Members have sufficient ime in which
o consider the tems of busmess

The next AGM will be he'd on 16 Juty 2008

Other stakeholders

The Company also recognises the
importance of good relationships with its
wider stekeholder base especially its
customers - the passenger and freight
{rain operators, its supphers, funders and
Is own employees Empbhasis is placed,
therefore, on developing existing
relationships as wel! as expanding the
breadth of relationships This Includes
the Chief Executive, other Executive
Directors and Functional Directors having
regular meetings with representatives of
the ORR (as both economic and safety
regulator), passenger and fraight train
operators and other rail stakeholders

Independent retaticnship surveys are
conductied regularty with each of the
Company's customers (the train
operators}, passengers and freight

end users, suppliers and s employees
(using an employee engagement survey
- see page 19 of the Directors' report for
more detall)

Corporate responsibility
Corporate responsibility 1s also an
imperiant aspect of the role of Network
Rail which the Company takes seriously
A report on its corporale respons:oiity
priorities and activities during the year
will again be published n 2008

There 1s also a Corporate Responsibility
Committee chaired by the Chief
Executive which has responsibility for co-
ordinating the strategy for the Company's
achievement of ts responsibiities in

this area

Internal control

The Board 1s responsible for the Group's
syslem of internal control and for
reviewing its effectiveness Such a
system 1s designed to manage, rather
than eliminate, the nsk of failure to
achieve business objectives it can only
provide reasonable, (rather than
absolute), assurance against matenal
misstatement or loss

The Beard considers the management
of nsk and internal control to be
fundamental to achievement of the
company's objectives and has formally
established a policy, strategy and
process for identfication, evaluaticn and
on-going review of the significant nsks
faced by the Group which accords with
the Turnbull Guidance Dunng the year
the Executive Directors have formally
reviewed the key nsks faced by the
Group The Directors keep the
effectiveness of the system of internal
control under review and have done so
throughout the year

The nsk management process 1s now well

established and forms an integral part

of the Network Rall planning and review

actwity Risk types actively managed

include safety, reputation, performance

and financial nsks Risk management

processes Incorporate the following

+ the identification of nsks o the
achievement of business abjectives by
all business units and major projects
together with the ikelihood/impact
analysis and the development of
mitgation actions to manage nsks at
the desired levels
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a Company Standard for nsk
management to provide consistency

of approach across busmess units

a self certification process which
reqguires function heads to confirm that
risk management processes are being
complied with and that their nsk data
1$ accurate and complete

the caplure and recording of risks, nsk
scoring and action plans in a company
wide nsk management system

the regular reporing and review of
business unit and major project nsks
by the Executive Directors at monthly
business reviews

During the year the sk management
system has been further strengthened
through the following inibatives

- the peer review of causal sk maps
which provide an overview of strategic
risk interaction across functions and
support regular review of the rnisk profile
by the Audit Committee and the Board
the introduction of nsk assessment into
mvestment planning processes using
the corporale nsk matnx scornng system

There are established internal controt

procedures for managing the nsks faced

by the Group The key elements are

= regular structured reviews of all
business units and major projects by
the Executive Directors assessing
progress agamst objectives with action
being taken as required

- a framework of delegated authonty
and accountability based on a
templated organisation structure

* board approval of business strategies

and objeclives, together with plans,

annual budgets and 1argets

the monthly reporting of financrat

results, safety and other operational KPls

= procedures for planning, approving
and managing ali invesiment
expenditure Including the use of the
Guide to Railway Invesiment Projects
(GRIP) specifying the requirement and
timings for approvals sought by the
Investment Panel and, where above 1t’s
delegated financial levei, by the
Executive Committee and the Board

+ suite of Financial Regulations goverring

the accounting and stewardship of all

financial transactions During 2007/08

the Financial Regulations were fully

revised and re-issued

centrahsed treasury operations acting

within defined limits and overseen by

the Treasury Committee




monthly accounting reviews to scruiinise

financial data and increase confidence

in the integrity of the accounts

+ conknuous mornitoring by the Legal
Services function within the Company,
of claims and lihgation issues affecling
the Group

* governance of all business change
iniabives through the Executive
Management Group

« commiiment o continuous Improvement
In fevels of competence via leadership,
competency and training programmes

* Insurance assessment and approprate
cover for residual nsks

+ business continuity and disaster

recovery plans for key operational assets,

corporate offices and IT applications

The Company has an independent
Internal Audit team that s affiliated to the
Institute of Internal Auditors Its pnmary
role 1s lo provide objective and
Independent assurance regarding the
adequacy of the Group s internal controi
framework and compliance with policies,
laws and regulations Internal Audit I1s
also responsible for reviewing the
effective operation of the company wide
nsk management system as well as
improving precesses, providing agvice
and proliferating best practice

The work of internal audit 1s focused

on the areas of pnonty as dentified by
nisk and matenalty analysis and 15

in accordance with an annual audit

plan which 1s approved by the Audit
Committee The Audt Commitiee
receves regular reports on audit findings
from the Head of Internal Audit, who has
direct access to the Chairman of the
Audit Committee Recommendations 1o
improve the internal control framework
are reported 1o the Audit Committee
through this process

Internal Audit work ciosely with the
External Auditors and other assurance
providers to encourage co-crdination of
audit plans and optimisation of audit
resources The Head of internal Audit
and the External Audit Pariner meet on
a reguiar basis

The Company also nas an established
process by which staff may, in
confidence, raise concerns about
possible improprieties Malters ansing
from the investigation of fraud are
reporied to the Audit Committee by the
Head of Internal Audit There is an

angoing pregramme undertaken by
Internal Audit to raise awareness of
fraud sssues with management

Dunng the course of its review of the
system of internai control, the Board has
not identified nor been advised of any
farings or weaknesses which it has
determined to be significant Nevertheless,
the Board recognises that there 1s shill

an ongoing need to bulld an the above
framework and uses the opportunity to
review internat control processes agamst
incidents when they arise in order to
promote continual improvement of the
internal control system

Going concern

The Directars are satisfied that the
Company has adequate resources to
continue to operate for the foreseeable
future For this reason they continue to
adopt the going concern basis in
prepanng the accounts

Statement of Directors’
responsibilities

The Directlors are responsible for
preparing the Annual Report and the
financeal statements The Directors are
required to prepare financial statements
for the Group in accordance with
International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) and have also elected
to prepare financial statements for the
Company in accordance with IFRS
Company law requires the Direclars (o
prepare such financial statements 1in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Siandards, the Companies
Act 1985 and 2006 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation

International Accouniing Standard 1
requires that financial statements present

farrly for each financial year the Company's

financial position, financial performance
and cash flows This requires the

faithful representation of the effects of
transactions, other events and conditions
in accordance with the definitions and
recagnition critena for assets, tiabilities,
iIncome and expenses set out in the
International Accounting Standards
Board's ‘Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements’
In wirtuatly ali circumstances, a farr
presentation will be achieved by
compliance with all International
Financial Reporting Standards

Directors are also required 10
» select applicable accounting policies
and apply them properly
present mformabion, including
accounting policies, N a manner that
provides relevant, reliable, comparable
and understandable information
provide additional disclosures when
comphance with the specific
requirements in IFRS 1s insufficient to
enable users to understand the impact
of particular transactions, other events
and condiions on the entity's financial
position and financial performance
+ prepare the accounts on a going
concern basis unless, having assessed
the abiity of the Company 1o continue
as a going concern, management
either intends to lquidate the enlily or
to cease trading, or has nc realistic
alternative bul to do so

The Directors are responsible for
keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any tme the financial positicn of ihe
Company and Group, for safeguarding
the assets, for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregulanties and for the
preparation of a Directors’ Repori and
the Directors’ Remuneration Report
which comply with the requirements of
the Companies Act 1985 and 2006

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integnty of the
Company websie Legislation in

the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination

of financial statements differs from
legislation in other junsdictions
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We have audited the Group and
indvdual Company financial statements
{the 'financia! statements') of Network
Rall Infrastructure Limited for the year
ended 31 March 2008, which comprise
the consolidated Income statement, the
consalidated and indwidual Company
Statements of recognised income

and expenses, the consolidated and
indwidual Company Balance sheets,

the consolidated and indwidual Company
Cash flow statements and the related
Notes 110 33 These financial statements
have been prepared under the
accounting polcies set oul therein

We have also audited the information 1n
the Directors' remuneration report that

1s described as having been audited

This report 1s made solely to the
Company's members, as a body, in
accordance with section 235 of the
Comparmies Act 1985 Our audit work has
been undertaken sc that we might state to
the Company’s members those maliters
we are required to state to themn an
auditors' report ang for no other purpose
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume respansibilily
to anyone other than the Company and
the Company s members as a body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities

of Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for
prepanng the Annual Report, the
Directors’ remuneration report and the
financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Financial
Reperting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted
{or use in the European Union are set
out In the Statement of Directors’
Responsibiities

Our responsibiity 1s to audit the financial
statements and the part of the Direclors’
remuneration report to be audited in
accordance with relevant legal and
regulatory requirements and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
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I ndependent au d itO I'S’ I'e pOI"t to the Members of Network Rail Infrastructure Limited

We report to you our opinion as 1o
whether the financial statements give

a true and farr view and whether the
ftnancial statements and the part of the
Direciors’ remuneration report t¢ be
audited have been properly prepared

in accordance with the Companies

Acl 1985 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the

IAS Regulation We also reporl to you
whether in our opinion the information
given in the Directors’ report is
consistent with the financial statements
The information given in the Direciors’
report Includes that specific information
presented in the Group Finance
Director's review that 1 cross-referred
from the Directors’ report In addition,
we report to you if, In our opinion, the
Company has not kepl proper accounting
records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require
for our audit, orif information specified
by law regarding Directors’ remuneration
and other transactions 1s not disclosed

The Directors have asked us to report
to you if, in our opinion, the Company
nas not complied with any of the four
Directors' remuneration disclosure
requirements specified for our review
as If the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authonty applied These
comprise the amount of each element
in the remuneration package and
information on share options, details
of long term incentive schemes, and
money purchase and defined beneafit
schemes We give a slatement, o

the extent possible, of details of any
non-comphance

The Directors have asked us 10 review
whether the Corporate governance
report on page 32 reflecis the
Company's compliance with the nine
provisions of the 2006 Combined Code
specified for our review as If the Listing
Rules of the Financial Serwices Authonty
apphbed, ang we report if it does not

We are not required to constder wheiher
the Board’s statements on internal
control cover all nsks and controts, or
form an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Group's corporate governance
procedures or its nsk and control
procedures




We read the other information contained
in the Annual Report as descnbed in the
contenis sectron and consider whether it
15 consistent with the audited financiat
stalements We consider the implications
for our report If we become aware of
any apparent misstaternents or matenat
inconsisiencies with the inancial
statements Our responsibilities do not
extend 10 any further infoarmation outside
the Annual Repaort

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing
(UK and Ireland} 1ssugd by the Auditing
Practices Board An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant 1o the amounts and disclosures
tn the financial slatements and the part of
the Directors’ remuneration report to be
audited It also includes an assessment
of the significant esimales and
judgements made by the Directors in the
preparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies
are appropnate to the Group's and
Company's circumstances, consistently
applied and adegualely disclosed

We planned and performed our audit
s0 as to obtain all the information and
explanations which we considered
necessary In order to provide us with
sufficient evidence ta give reasonabie
assurance that the finangial statements
and the part of the Directors'
remuneration report to be audited are
free from matenal misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregulanty

or error kn forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of

the presentation of information n the
financial statements and the part of
the Directors' remuneration report to
pe audited

Opinion

In our opinion

+ the Group financal statements give a
true and fair view, in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, of the state of the Group's
affairs as at 31 March 2008 and of

its profit for the year then ended

lhe individual company financiat
slatemeants give a true and farr view,
In accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union as applied in
accordance with the prowsions of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of
the individual company's aifairs as at
31 March 2008

the financizl statements and the part of
the Dhrectors' remuneration report to be
audited have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation

the information given in the Directors’
report 1s consistent with the financial
statements

%[,Aéd. el L p

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered
Auditors

London, United Kingdom

27 May 2008
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I n CO m e state ment for the year ended 31 March 2008

2008 2007
Group Group
Noles £m £m
Revenue 3 5,960 5,795
Net operating costs 5 (3,548) (3,517)
Operating profit 2,412 2,278
Revaluation movements and profits on disposal of properties 34 102
Total profits from operations 6 2,446 2,380
Investment revenue 8 132 67
Cther gains and losses 9 33 (25)
Finance costs 10 {1,014) (944)
Profit before tax 1,597 1,478
Tax 11 {408) (443)
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 1,189 1,035
Ali amounts In the current and pnor years relate (¢ continuing operations
Under section 230 of the Company's Act 1985 the Group has elected o take the exemption with regard to disclosing the
Company Income statement The Company’s net profit for the year was £1,212m (2007 £1,129m)
and eXPeNSEe e year onded 31 March 2008
2008 2007 2008 2007
Group Group Company Company
£m Em Em £m
Recognised income and expense 1n the year
Gains on revaiuation of the rallway network 403 73 403 73
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 370 {183) {32) 33
Exchange differences on retranstation of foresgn currency
deb! taken to hedging reserve (393) Kis) - -
(23) 168 (32) 33
Actuarizl (lossesy/gans on defined benefit pension schemes (133) 122 (133) 122
Tax on iems taken directly to equity (69} {106) {67) (64)
Impact of change in corporation tax rate 134 - 135 -
Net income recognised directly in equity 312 257 306 164
Transfers
Transferred to the Income siatement on cash flow hedges 4 4 4 4
Tax on items transferred from equity (1) (1) ()] 4
3 3 3 3
Profit for the year 1,189 1,035 1,212 1,129
Total recognised income and expense for the year attributable
to equity shareholders 1,504 1,295 1,521 1,296
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Balance sheets .. vacn 20

2008 2007 2008 2007
Group Group Company Company
Notes €m Em £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 12 74 75 - -
Property, plant and equipment - the railway network 13 31,443 28,304 31,443 28,304
Investment property i4 949 948 949 948
Investment In subsidianes 15 - - 49 49
Loan to tmmediate parent company 19 368 348 368 348
L.oan to other Group company ig - - 91 a3
Denvative financial instruments 22 98 41 19 39
Finance lease recevables 18 12 18 12 16
Total non-current financial assets 478 405 430 496
32,944 28,732 32,90 29,797
Current assets
Inventones i7 64 49 64 49
Finance lease recewvables 18 3 3 3 3
Trade and other receivables 19 680 626 788 538
Dernvative financial instruments 22 307 1 55 1
Held-to-maturity investmenis 16 8 - - -
Avallable-for-sale financial assets 16 47 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 28 543 193 - 13
1,652 872 910 604
Total assets 34,596 30,604 33,841 30,401
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 20 {2,388) {2,210} {2,423) {2 043)
Bank loans and overdrafts 21 {5,077) (2,862) (4,412) {2,913)
Derwvative financial instruments 22 {69} (105) (24) (42}
Shart-term provisions 23 {12) (15} {12) (15}
(7.546) (5,192} (6,871) (5.013)
Net current habilities {5,894) {4,320} (5,961) (4 409}
Non-current habilities
Bank toans 21 {15,255) {15,715) (15,227) {15,902}
Dervative financial instruments 22 (60) {199) - -
Other payables 20 (1,429) {(1,129) (1,429} {1,129)
Retirement benefit obligation 32 (370) {248) (370} (248)
Long-term provisions 23 - {18) - (18)
Deferred tax llabilities 24 {2,765) (2.435) (2,768) {2 435)
Obligations under finance leases 25 9 {10) (9) (10
(19,888) (19,754) (19,803} (19742)
Total iabilities (27,434) {24,946) (26,674) (24,755)
Net assels 7,162 5,658 7,167 5,646
Equity
Share capial 26 160 160 160 160
Share premium account 27 85 85 85 85
Revaluation reserve 27 4,511 4,247 4,511 4,247
Other reserve 27 1,458 1,451 1,458 1,451
Hedging reserve 27 (72) (57) (54) (33)
Retained earnings 27 1,020 (228) 1,007 (264)
Total sharehelders’ funds and equity atinbutable
to equity holders of the parent company 7,162 5,658 7,167 5646

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 27 May 2008

They were signed on its behalf by

lain Coucher Director Ron Henderson Director
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CaS h fl OW State mentS for the year ended 31 March 2008

2008 2007 2008 2007
Group Group Company Company
Note £m Cm Em £m
Net cash generated from operating activities 28 2,434 2,428 2,486 2,460
Investing activities
Interest received 90 71 10 47
Purchases of property, plant and equipment - the railway network {3,544) (3,256) (3,544) (3,255}
Proceeds on disposal of investment property 63 51 63 51
Capital grants receved 328 169 328 169
Capital element of finance leases' receipts 3 3 3 3
(Purchase)/sale of financtal investments {53) 161 - -
Net cash used in investing activities (3,113) {2 801) {3,140) {2.986)
Financing activities
Repayments of borrowings (4,414) (9.900) {4,822) {9,927)
Repayments of obligations under finance leases (1) - (1) -
New loans raised 5,444 10,435 5,464 10,435
Net cash generated from financing activities 1,029 535 641 508
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 350 162 (13) (18)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 193 31 13 31
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 543 193 - 13
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NOteS tO the finanCial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2008

1 General information
Network Rall Infrastructure Limited 1s a company incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales under the
Companies Act 1985

The Company registration number 1s 2904587
The Company's registered office 1s situated at 40 Melton Street, London NW1 2EE
The Company's principal activities are detalled n the Direclors' report on pages 14 to 19

Details of the Group's business activities, key events and changes durning the year and likely future developments are contained
in the Chairman’s statement, the Chief Executive’s review and the Group Finance Director's review These financial statements
should also be read in conjunchion with the Corporate governance report and the Directors’ remuneration report

The Company's parent 1s Network Raill Holdco Limited, a company incorporated in Great Brtain and registered in England and
Waies The Company's ullimate parent company 1s Netwark Rail Limited, a company kmited by guarantee incorporated in Great
Bntain and registered in England and Wales

2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with tnternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted
for use In the European Union, and therefore comply with Articte 4 of the EU IAS regulation

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of the ralway network to the
lower of iis same siate replacement cost and value in use and the revaluation of investment properiies, financial assets and
llabihties measured at fair value through profit and loss {FVTPL} and dervative financial instruments to fair value

The principal accounting policies adopted by the Directors are set cul below

Adoption of new and revised standards

In the current year, the Group has adopted IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosures which 1s effective fer annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007, and the related amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements The
impact of the adoption of 1IFRS 7 and the changes to IAS 1 has been to expand the disclosures provided in these financial
statements regarding the Group's financial instruments and management of capital (see Note 31) Five interpretations 1ssued by
the International Financial Reporting committee are effective for the current pernod These are IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement
Approach under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hypennflationary Econamies, IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2, IFRIC 9 Reassessment
of Embedded Dernvatives, IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and impairment, and IFRIC 1l /FRS 2 - Group and Treasury
Share Transactions

Al the date of authonsaton of these financial statements, the following Standards and interpretations which have not been applied
in these financial statements were In 1ssue but yet to come inlo effect

Amendments to IAS 1

IAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

IFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

IFRIC12 Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyally Programmes

IFRIC 14 1AS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Assel, Minimum Funding Requirements and thewr Interaction

The Directors anticipate thal the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in the future peniads will have no matenal effect
on the financial statements of the Group

Basis of consolidation

The consohdated financial statements ncorporaie the financial staiements of the Company and enbities controlled by the
Company This includes special purpose financing companies which are not members of the Network Rail Group but are treated
as subsidianes in the Consolidated accounts of Network Rail Infrastruciure Limited All intra-group transactions, balances, inccme
and expenses are eliminated on consokdation

Revenue recognition

Revenue 15 measured at the fair value of the consideration received or recevable Revenue represents amounts derived from
the management and provision of assets for the use n the operation of the raiway, property rental income, and the sale of
commercial and development properiles net of value added tax, and takes account of any performance penalties or bonuses
in respect of the year

Supplements lo the access charges and bonuses recewable from, less penalties payable 1o, cusiomers are included in revenue
Additional contract amounts and bonuses payable (0, less penalties recevable from, suppliers and the Office of Rail Regutation
are included in operating expenditure

Interest income 1s accrued on a ime basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate apphcable,
which Is the rale that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipls through the expected hfe of the financial asset to that
asset s net carrying amount
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Notes to the financial statements

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Grants

Grants and other contributions receved towards the cost of property, plant and equipment are included in trade and other
payables as deferred income and released to the Income statement over the estimated vseful economic ife of the railway
netwerk Revenue grants earned for the management and provision of railway network assets are credited to the Income
statement in the period {o which they relate

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the lerms of the lease transfer substantizlly all the nsks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee All other leases are classified as operatng leases

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Group's net iInvestment in the
leases Finance lease income 1s allocated to accounting periods so0 as to reflect a constant penodic rate of return on the Group's
net investment outstanding in respect of the leases

Rental Income from operating leases, and imitial direct costs are recognised on a straight ine basis over the term of the
relevant lease

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease The corresponding liabihity o the lessor 15 included in
the Balance sheet as a finance lease obligation Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of
the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability Finance charges are
charged 1o the Income stalement, unless they are directly attributable to gualifying assets, in which case they are capialised in
accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see below)

Rentals payable under operaling leases are charged to income on a straight-line basts over the term of the relevant lease

Foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilties expressed in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at rates of exchange prevailing at the
Balance sheet date Indwiduat transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the exchange rates
prevaiting on the dates payment takes place Gains and losses ansing on retranstation are, with the exception of items thal form
part of a designated cash flow hedge relationship, included In the Income statement for the penod and are classified as either
operating or financing depending on the nature of the monetary item giving nse 1o them

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs direcily atinbutable to the construction of qualifying assets which are assets that necessarily take a substantal
penod of time 1o get ready for therr intended use are added to the cost of those assets, until such ime as the assets are
substantially ready for therr intended use

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the Income statement in the penod in which they are incurred

Operating profit
Operating profil 1s stated before investment income, finance costs, other gains and Iosses and revaluation gains and profis on
disposal of properties

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to the defined contribution retrement benefit scheme are charged as an expense as they fall due

For the defined benefit scheme, the cost of providing benefits 1s determined using the Projected Unit Crecit Methed, with full
acluarial valuations being carned out at least every three years and updates 10 these valuations carried out 1 Inlervening years

The Group’s share of the actuanal gains and losses are recognised i full in the perncd 10 which they occur They are recognised
outside the Income statement and presented in the Statement of recognised mcome and expense {see Note 32)

Past service cost 1s recognised immedately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise 1s amortised on a
straight line basis over the average penod until the beneiits become vested

The retirement benefil obligation recognised in the Balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obhigation,
as adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets Any asset resuiting from
this calcutation 1s imited to past service cost, pius the present value of avallabte refunds and reductions in future contributions
to the plan

Tax
The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax payable and deferred tax The Group's current tax hability 1s calculated
using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance sheet date

Current taxes are based on the taxable results of the Group and calculated in accordance with tax rules in the United Kingdom

Ceferred tax 1s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on the temporary differences that anse when tax authonties
recognise and measure assels and liabiities with rules that differ from those of the consclidated accounts Deferred taxes are
calculated under the Balance sheet lability method at the rate of tax expected to prevail, subject to the rate being enacted or
substantively enacted by that date, when the temporary differences reverse Deferred tax s not discounted
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Tax continued

Deferred tax labilites are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assels are recogrised on all
deductible temporary differences 1o the extent that it 1s probabte that there will be taxable profits available against which the
temporary tming differences can be utilised

Deferred tax assets/labiliies are not recognised If the temporary differences arise from the iniial recognition of goodwill, non
deductible goodwill or from initial recogrution (other than business combination) of other assets and liabiliies in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit or loss nar the accounting profit or loss

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Income statement, excepl when it relales to ilems charged or credited directly to equity,
in which case the deferred tax i1s alse dealt with in equity

Property, plant and equipment — the railway network

The railway network 1s valued at depreciated replacement cost This 1s calculated at the lower of 1ts same state replacement cost
and 1ts value 1n use The value In use 15 based on a discounted future cash flow thal assesses the value to the business of the net
ncome stream of the railway network

The rallway network 1s depreciated on a strasghi-ine basis over Its estimated remaining werghted average useful economic Iffe
The estimated remaining weighted average useful economic bfe of the network 1s currently 25 years {2007 25 years)

The remaining weighted average useful econemic lives are estimated annually, with external venfication of the valuation and
asset ives carned cut where required

Investment property

Investment property, which i1s property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, 1s stated at its fair value at the Balance
sheet date Gains and losses ansing from changes in the fairr value of investment property are included in the Income statement
for the penod in which they anse

Research and development

Research and general development expenditure 1s charged to the Income statement as incurred  Expenditure on the development
of specific projects 15 recognised only If all of the following conditions are met

+ an asset 1s created that can be dentified

+ 1118 probable that the asset created will generate future ecanomic benefits

+ the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably

Intangible fixed assets

An intangible asset 1s only recognised If 1t ts probable that future economic benefits will flow 10 the Group and 1ts cosls can be

measured reliably Intangible fixed assets are measured initially at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis

Licences are amortised over the length of therr contractual agreement Intangible fixed assets are tested for impairment at each \
Balance sheet date by companng their carrying value and the expected discounted cash flows expected to anse from them over
their contractual agreements If the carrying value exceeds the discounted cash flows expected to anse from the assels, the
carrying value would be impaired accordingly

Inventories

Invenlories are staied at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost comprnses direct matenals, direct labour costs and those
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to thew present location and condition Cost 1s calculated using the
weighted average method

Financial instruments
Financial assels and financial habilities are recognised on the Group's Balance sheel when the Group becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument

Trade receivables
Trade recevables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances for
eslimated irrecoverable amounts, recognised in the Income statement

Investments

Investiments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an invesiment 1s under contract
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the imeframe established by the market concerned, and are inihially
measured at cost, including transaction costs

Invesimenis are classified as held for trading, held-to-matunity or available-for-sate, and are measured at subsequent reporting
dates at far value Where securties are held for trading purposes, gains and losses ansing from changes in farr vaiue are included
in the Income statement for the penod A financial asset 1s classified as hetd for trading If 1t has been acquired pnncipally for the
purpose of selling in the near future, it 1s part of an identified portfolio of financial INstruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking or it 1s a dernvative that 1s not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument For avallable-for-sale investments, gains and losses from changes In fair value are recognised directly in equity, untl
lhe secunty 1s disposed of oris determined 1o be mpaired, at which timg the cumulative gain or ioss previously recognised in
equity 1s included in the Income statement for the penod Investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity
dates that the Group has the positive intent and ability 1o hotd to maturity are classified as held-to-matunity investments Held-to-
malunty investments are recorded at amortised cost less any impairment, with revenue recognised on an efiective yield basis
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Investments continued

Financial assets, other than those measured at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each Balance sheet date
Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any resullant gain or loss recognised In the Income statement Financial
assets are imparred where there 1s objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the tihal
recegnition of the financiat asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been 1mpacted

The carrying amount of the financial asset 1s reduced by the imparment loss directly for all financial assets I, in a subsequeni
peniod, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 1o an event occurnng after the
imparment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 1s reversed through the Income statement to the extent
that the carrying amount of the investment at the dale the imparrment 1s reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recogmsed

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents compnse bank balances held by the Groupy and money market deposit invesiments The carrying
amount of these assets approximates to therr fair value

Financial habilities and equity instruments
Financial habihiies and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the coniractual arrangements entered into
An equity instrument 1s any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its habilites

The Group derecognises financial iabiliies when, and anly when, the Group’s obligations are discharged. cancelled or expire
Financial labilibes at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recogrised in the Income statement

Financial labilites are measured at FVTPL either because the financial iability (s held for trading, or because 1t 1s designated o be
measured at FVTPL

A financial habibly 15 classified as held for trading if it has been incurred pnncipally for the purpose of disposal in the near future,
it1s a part of an dentified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
shori-term profit-taking or it 1s a derivative that 1s not designated and effective as a hedging instrument

A financial lability other than a financial abiity held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon inttial recognition if such
designalion eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that woutd otherwise exist or the
financial hiability form a part of @ group of financial assets or financial habilities or both, which 1 managed and its performance

1s evaluated on a far value basis or If it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded dervaives and 1AS 39 permits
the entire combined contract to be designated as al FVTPL

Debt

Debt nstruments nat designated at FVTPL are initially measured at far value, net of discount and direct issue cosls Finance
charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct Issue Costs are accounted for on an accruals basss
to the Income stalement using ihe etfective interest rate method and are added to the carrying value of the debtinstrument to the
extant that they are not seitled in the penod in which they anse

Trade payables
Trade payables are ordinarly not interest bearing and are stated at cost

Drerivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group's actvities expose it prnmarly to the financial nisks of changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates
The Group uses interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge these exposures

The use of financial denvalives s governed by the Group's policies approved by the Treasury Committee of the Board, which
provide written principles on the use of financial dervatives

Derivatives are intially recognised at farr value at the date a dervalive contraci is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
lo thetr fair value at each Balance sheet date

The Group designates certain hedging instruments as erther cash flow hedges or farr value hedges Hedges of interest rate nsk
and foreign exchange rate nsk on firm commitmenis are accounted for as cash flow hedges Al the inception of the hedge
relationship, the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking vanous hedge transactions Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge
and an an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument that 1s used in a hedging relationship 1s highly
effective in offseting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item

Some denvatives, while complying with the Group's financiat nsk management policies, do not qualify for hedge accounting and
are lherefore classified as held for trading

Changes in the fair value of denvative financial instruments that do not qualify for cash flow hedge accounting are recogrused In
lhe income statement as they anse

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the hedging nstrument expires or 1s sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer gualifies
for hedge accounting Al that tme, any cumulative gain or loss an the hedging instrument recognised In equity 13 retained in
equily until the forecasted transaction occurs 1If a hedged transaction 1s no longer expected 1o oceur, the net cumulative gain or
loss recognised 1n equity 1s transferred to the Income stalement In the year
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2 Significant accounting policies continued

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting continued

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate denvatives when their risks
and characteristics are not closely related to those of host contracis and the host contracts are not carried at fair value, with gains
or tosses are reported in the Income statement

Note 22 seis out details of the fair values of the denvative instruments used for hedging purposes Movemenis in the hedging
reserve N equity are detaled in the Statement of recegnised income and expense and in Note 27

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of dernvatives that are designated and qualfy as far value hedges are recarded in the Income siatement
immediately, tagether with any changes in the farr vaiue of the hedged tem that is atinbuted io the hedged nsk The change in the
fair value of the hedging mstrument and the change in the hedged item attrnbutable to the hedged nisk are recogrised in the
Income statement ang are included in ‘other gains and losses’

Cash flow hedges

Changes n the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are
recognised directly in equity and the ineffective portion 1s recogrised immediately in the Income statement, and 1s included in
‘other gains and losses’ If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or forecasted transaction results in the recognition of an
asset or a labihity, then, at the ime the asset or lability 18 recognised, the associated gans or losses on the denvative that had
been previously recognised 1n equity are included in the iniial measurement of the asset or lability For hedges that do not result
it the recognition of an asset or a akility, amounts deferred In equity are recognised in the Income statement in the same period
In which the hedged items affect net profit or loss

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has & present obligatien as a resull of a past event, and it 1s probable that the Group
will be required to settle that ebligation Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required o
settle the obligation at the Balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where the effect 1s matenal

Key sources of uncertainty

() Property, plant and equipment — the railway network the estimate of the velue in use of the railway network 1s based on the
Regulatory Asset Base, which is, in effect, a discounted future cash flow calculation adjusted for the net present value of any
vanances from the Office of Rail Regulation’s determination ncluded in the Group's Business Plan Further details are set out
in Note 13

{n) Retirement penefit obhigation the Group recognises and discloses iIts retirement benefit obligation m accordance with the
measurement and presentational requirement of 1AS 19 'Employee Benefits' The calculations include a number of judgements
and estimations 1n respect of the expected rate of return on assets, the discount rate, inflairon assumptions, the rate of
ncrease n salanes and Iife expectancy amongst others Changes in these assumptions can have a signiiicant effect on the
value of the retirement benefit obligation The key assumptlions made are set out In Note 32

3 Revenue
2008 2007
Group Group
£m £m
Passenger franchise revenue 2,301 2,206
Revenue grants 3,283 3227
Freight revenue 90 95
Property rental income 219 206
Other income 67 61
5,960 5,795

The net effect of the performance regimes on the resuits of the Group and Company was net income of £68m
(year 1o 31 March 2007 £89m})
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4 Segmental analysis

No segmental analysis 1s provided because the Greup operates one class of business, that of managing the national rail
infrastructure, and undertakes that class of business Iin one geographical segment, Great Britain

5 Net operating costs

2008 2007
Group Group
£m £m
Employee costs (see Note 7) 1,536 1,401
Own costs capitalised (575) (482)
Other external charges {(including infrastructure maintenance costs) 1,603 1,691
Other operating income {175) (148)
Net operating costs before depreciation 2,389 2,462
Depreciation and other amounts written off non-current assets 1,195 1,086
Capital grants amertised (36) {31}
Net operating costs 3,548 3,517
6 Profit from operations
Profit from operations is staled after charging/(crediting)
2008 2007
Group Group
£m £m
Research and development costs 1 |
Depreciation and other ameounts wnitten off progerty, plant and equipment 1,195 1,086
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 1 2
Profit on sale of properties (62) (4an
Decrease/(increase) In the fair value of investment properties 28 (55)
. Cost of inventones recognised as an expense 184 187
Employee costs {see Note 7) 1,536 1,401
Amounts payable to auditors
Fees payable to the Company's auditers for the audit of the Company's annual accounts 035 035
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for other services (o the Group
- The audit of the Company's subsidianes pursuant to legislation 003 003
Total audit fees 0338 038
Other services pursuant to legislation
- Regulatery accounts audit and interim review 012 012
- COther 001 00
Total non-audit fees 013 013
Total amounts payable to auditors 0 51 05
7 Employee costs
The average number of employees (including Executive Directors) was 2008 2007
Group Group
Number Number
Management and operation of the railway 34,770 33,446
2008 2007
Group Group
£m £m
Ther aggregate remuneration comprised
Wages and salanes 1,297 1,178
Social secunty cosls 113 102
Defined contribution pension costs (see Nole 32) 15 11
Defined benefit pension costs - current service costs {see Note 32) 1M 110
1,536 1,401
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8 Investment revenue

2008 2007
Group Group
Em £m
Interest receivable from immediate parenl company 26 21
Interest recevable on inwvestments and deposits 85 27
Inierest receivable on finance leases 2 2
Expectled return on assets less interesi on llabiliies in respect of defined benefit pension scheme 19 17
132 67
Investment revenue earned on financial assels analysed by category of asset, Is as follows
2008 2007
Group Group
£m £m
Avallabte-for-sale financial assets 21 -
Loans and recevables (including cash and bank balances) 75 45
Held-to-matunty investments 17 5
113 50
9 Other gains and losses
2008 2007
Group Group
£m £m
Gains ansing from ineffective portion of cash flow hedges 25 35
Losses ansing from ineffective porlion of cash flow hedges (12) (49}
Gain on disposal of cash {low hedge 8 -
Fair value losses on interest rale swaps transferred from equity (4) (4)
Gains/(losses) ansing from cash flow hedge accounting 17 {18)
Increase In fair value of fair value hedges 105 -
tncrease n fair value of fair value hedged debt (111) -
Decrease in fair value of fair value hedges - (85)
Decrease in fair value of far value hedged debt - 85
Losses ansing from farr value hedge accounting (6) -
Increase In fair value of denvatives not hedge accounied 58 2
Increase in fair value of non-hedge accounted debt (33) -
Decrease In farr value of denvatives not hedge accounted (5) (50)
Decrease In fair value of non-hedge accounted debt 1 41
Increase in fair value of non-hedge accounted invesiments 1 -
Gans/{losses) ansing from non-hedge accounting 22 {7)
Total other gains and (losses) 33 (29)

No other gains and losses have been recognised 1n respect of loans and recevables or held-to-matunty investments other
than those disclosed in Note 8 and impairment losses recognised/reversed in respect of trade recevables (see Noles 5 and 19}
No gains and losses have been recognised on financial labiities measured at amortised cost other than those disclosed in Note 10

The gainfloss ansing on adjusiment for the hedged item 1n a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship, the change
in fair value of debt designated as far value through profit and loss, and the exchange differences on retranslation of foreign
currency debt forms part of the net gains/losses on other financial habilities carned at amortised cost and relates to debt

iIssuances disclosed in Note 21

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Annual Report and Accounts 2608 51




Notes 1o the financial statements

10 Finance costs

2008 2007
Group Group

£m £m

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts 71 65
Interast on bonds 1ssued under the Debt Issuance Programme 672 475
Interest on debt 1ssued under the Medium Term Note Programme 253 296
Interest on Commercial Paper 12 78
Interest on obligations under finance leases 16 12
Other interest 82 93
Total borrowing costs 1,106 1,019
Less amounts included in the cost of qualfying assets (92) (75)
Total finance costs 1,014 944

Borrowing costs are included n the costs of qualifying assets to the extent that the assel 1s financed by the Group The average

rate used dunng the year was 5 0% (2007 5 0%}

11 Tax
2008 2007
Group Group
£m £m
Current tax
UK Corporation tax at 30% (2007 30%)
Corporation tax charge {19) (11)
Less advance corporation tax (ACT) set-off 13 7
Corporation tax lability (6) (4)
Group relief payable to Network Rall Holdco Limited (8) (€)
Total current tax (14) (10}
Deferred tax
Deferred tax at 28% (2007 30%)
Current year charge {440) (424}
Change of corporation tax rate 28 -
Prior year credit/{charge) 18 (9)
Total deferred tax (394) {433)
Total tax (408) (443)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the Income statement as follows 007
2008
Group Group
£m £m
Profit before tax 1,597 1478
Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 28% (2007 30%) 447 443
Adjustments in respect of prior years (18) 9
Change of corporation tax rate (28) -
Permanent differences 20 (2)
Advance corporation tax previously written off {13) {7}
Tax charge for the year 408 443

In addition to the amounts charged to the Income statement, deferred tax relating to the revaluaton of the railway network

amounting to £113m (2007 £19m) has been charged directly to equity Movementis on the hedging reserve amounting to £7m
{2007 £50m charge} movements relating o retirement benefit obligabons amounting to £37m (2007 £37m charge) and £134m
{2007 £ni) relating to the impact of corporation tax rate change on brought forward deferred tax balances have been crediied

directly to equity

Deferred tax 1s calculated at a rate of 28% (2007 30%) 28% (2007 30%} Is also used for the reconcihation above as the tax

charge 1s substantially deferred tax
UK corporation tax i1s calculated at 30% (2007 30%)

The Company and the Group have £26m (2007 E£39m) of surplus ACT carried forward No deferred tax asset has been provided

i respect of this amount as 1115 uncertain that it can be utiised against tax habilities in the foreseeable future
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12 Intangible assets

Concessions

Group tm
Cost

At 1 Apni 2006 and 1 Apnt 2007 83
Fully wntten down licences de-recagnised in the year (5)
At 31 March 2008 78
Amortsation

AL 1 Agril 2006 (6)
Charge for the year (2)
At 1 Apnl 2007 (8)
Charge for the year (1
Fully written down licences de-recognised in the year 5
At 31 March 2008 4
Carrying amount

At 31 March 2008 74
Al 31 March 2007 75

The Intangible assets above are held by the Company's wholly cwned subsidiary Network Rail (CTRL) Limited

The concession to run the operations, maintenance and renewal business of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link 1s being amortised over
84 years lo 2086

13 Property, plant and equipment - the railway network

Group and
Campany
£Em
Valuation
At 1 Apnl 2006 25 991
Additions 3,326
Depreciation charge for the year {1,086}
Revaluation in the year 73
At 1 Apnl 2007 28,304
Addiions 3,952
Depreciation charge for the year (1,185)
Transfers 1o Investment property {(21)
Revaluation in the year 403
At 31 March 2008 31,443

In the year ended 31 March 2003 Ove Arup and Partrers reviewed Network Rail Infrasiructure Limited's engineering assessment
of the replacement cost, depreciated replacement cost and useful economic lives of all the assets thal comprise the railway
network and confirmed :n writing 1o the Directors that the basis upon which the assessment had been prepared was approprate
and that the resultant valuations and estimates were reasonable

Ove Arup and Partners carried out an intenm review in the year ended 31 March 2005 of the Company’s engineering assessment
of the replacement cost, depreciated replacement cost and useful economic lives of the railway network assets This interim
review updated the fult review carned out in the year ended 31 March 2003 Ove Arup and Partners confirmad in wnting that the
basis upon which the assessment was prepared cantinued 1o be appropriate and that there had been no matenal changes to the
valuations and estimates derved in the year ended 31 March 2003

The Direclors have reviewed the assessments in the current year and are satisfied that they remain valid and appropnate al
31 March 2008 A full review of the valuation and asset ives 1s prepared and externally verfied as required

The unimpaired depreciated replacement cost of the network (after excluding the replacement cost of embankments, cutlings
and tunnels) 1s estimated at £63bn

As the depreciated replacement cost of the rallway network significantly exceeds its value in use, 1t 15 impaired down 1o Ifs value
in use at each reporuing date Given the interdependency of the assets compnsing the railway network, the Group has conciuded
thal the rallway network 1s a single cash generating unit and that iis value in use is the estimated future cash flows that will be
generated n perpetuity, discounted at the Group’s pre-tax cost of capital, as set by the Office of Rail Regulatien (ORR) in its
Access Charges Review The estimate of the value in use 1s based on the Regulatory Asset Base (RAB) which is, In effect,

a discounted future cash flow calculation adjusted for the net present value of any vanances from the ORR's Determination
included in the Group's Business Plans
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13 Property, plant and equipment — the railway network continued

The depreciation charge for any year 1s calculaled using the average carrying value for the year and the estimated weighted
average remaining useful economic life of the railway network The estimated remaining weighted average useful economic
hfe of the network I1s currently 25 years (2007 25 years)

As at 31 March 2008 the comparable valuation of the railway network according to the histonic cost convention 1s £25,748m

As at 31 March 2008 ang 31 March 2007 1t 1s not possible to identify the undepreciated capitalised interest or the undepreciated
finance leases, within the net book value of fixed assets The undepreciated interest capitalised since the date of adeption of
the network value as deemed cost on 1 Apnl 2002 was £278m {2007 £195m) No finance leased assets have been acquired
since t April 2002

Al 31 March 2008, the Group had enlered into contractual commitments in respect of capital expenditure amounting to £1,130m
(2007 £1,077m)

14 Investment property

Group and
Company
£m
Fair value
At 1 Apni 2006 892
Additions >
Disposals 4)
Increase n fair value in the year 55
At 1 Apnl 2007 948
Additions 9
Transfers from property, plant and equipment 21
Disposals ()
Decrease In far value in the year (28)
At 31 March 2008 849

The far value of the Group's iInvesiment properties at 31 March 2008 has been arnved at on the basis of a valuation carried out ai that
date by Jones Lang LaSalle, external valuers not connected with the Group, and by a qualified chartered surveyor working for
Netwaork Rail

The valuation which conforms to International Valuation Standards, was arrived at by, firstly, the external valuaton of the 15 largest
properties amouniing to 14% of the total valuation Secondly, the balance of the estate, amounting to 6,420 properties, was
valued using the Beacon method The portfohio was analysed into 12 homogenous classes of property and areas Jones Lang
LaSalie independently assessed the appropriate yield 1o be adopted within each of the portfolio classes/areas in order 1o enable
the Directors to estimate market values by applying the adopted yields to the net rental ncome in accordance with a traditionai
UK investment property valuation

The property rental iIncome earned by the Graup from its investment property, all of which 1s leased out under operating leases, amounted
to £74m (2007 £72m) Direct operating expenses ansing on the investment properties in the year amounted to £4 4m (2007 £4 4m})

The Group’s Investment properties are let on a tenant repainng basis The Group's maintenance abligatons are limited to comman
areas and vacanl property units

15 Investment in subsidiaries: Company

At cost

£m
Investment in subsidianies at 1 Apnl 2006, 1 Aprl 2007 and 31 March 2008 49
The Company's subsidianes are set out below
Proportion of all
classes of 1ssued
sharg capial owned
Dlrectly owned Counlry of incerporation by ihe Company Pnincipal activity
Network Rail insurance Limited Guernsey 100% Insurance
Network Rail (CTRL) Limited Great Britain 100% Holds St Pancras concession
and CTRL Raillway Services
Agreement
Network Rail (Spacia) Limited Great Britain 100% Dormant
Network Rail (Stations) Limited Great Britain 100% Dormant
Nelwork Rail (Projects) Limited Great Britain 100% Dormant
Network Rail (Property) Limited Great Britain 100% Dormant
Spacia (2002) Limited Great Britain 100% Dormant
Network Rail Defined Contribution Pension  Great Britain Company imited by Administration of defined
Scheme Trustee Limited guarantee contnbution pension scheme
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15 Investment in subsidianes: Company coninued
Shares held by a trustee

Network Rail MTN Finance PLC Great Britain Shares held by HSBC Administration of Medium
Trustee (C! } Limited Term Note Programme

Network Rail Infrastructure Finance PLC Greal Bntain Shares held by HSBC Administration of Debt
Trustee (C1 } Limited Issuance Programme

The shares in Network Rail MTN Finance PLC and Network Rail Infrastructure Finance PLC are held by HSBC Trustee {C 1) Limited
for chantable purposes The sole activity of these companies Is to act as a special purpose funding vehicle, including 1ssuing debt
under the Medium Term Note Programme and the Debt Issuance Programme respectively The companies are treated as
subsidianes for accounting purposes as proceeds from the Medium Term Note Programme and the Debt Issuance Programme
are on-lent to Network Rail Infrastructure Limited and are used 1o finance the activities of the Company and to refinance the
existing debt of the Group

16 Investments

2008 2007 2008 2007
Group Group company Company

£m £m £m £m

Held-to-maturity investments carned at amortised cost 8 - - -
Availlable-for-sale financial assets carned at fair value 47 - - -
Total investments 55 - - -

The Group has not designated any financial assets that are not held for trading as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
The held-to-matunty investments consist of one item with a maturity date of August 2008 that returns a fixed rate of interest (5 6%)

Avallable-for-sale financial assets compnse instruments with a matunty profile of between 103 and 341 days from the Balance sheet
date All avaizble-for-sale financial assets carry a fixed rate of return The weighted average interest rate 1s 4 1%

17 Inventories

2008 2007

Group and Group and

Company Company

£m Em

Raw materals and consumnables 64 49

18 Finance lease receivables

Present value of

Minimum lgass payments minmum lgase payments
2008 2007 2008 2007
Group and Group and Group and Group and
Company Company Company Company
Em fm £m £m
Amounts recevable under finance leases
Within one year 5 5 3 3
In the second lo fifth years inclusive 10 13 8 10
After five years 5 7 4 6
. 20 25 15 19
Less unearned finance income (4) (6) n/a n/a
Present value of mimmum lease payments receivable 16 19 15 19
Analysed as
Current finance lease receivables (recoverable within cne year) 3 3
Non-current finance lease recevables {recoverable after one year) 12 16
15 19

The Group has entered into finance lease arrangements with third parties for various types of telecommunications equipment
Leases are due to expire in 2017/18

The interest rate inherent in the leases is fixed at the contract date for il of the lease term The average effective interest rate
centracted 1s aporoximately 8 4% (2007 8 4%) per annum

Finance lease recevable balances are secured over the equipment leased The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the
collateral in the absence of default by the lessee

The fair value of the Group's finance lease recewvables at 31 March 2008 1s estimated at £13m (2007 £16m) using a 5 0%
(2007 5 0%) discount rate based on the current average cost of capital
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19 Other assets
Trade and other recewables

2008 2007 2508 2007

Group Group Company Company

£m £m £m fin

Trade receivables 318 320 313 308
Capital grants receivable 77 43 77 43
Other receivables 195 158 326 82
Prepayments and accrued income 90 105 72 105
680 626 788 538

Trade receivables include an allowance for estimated irrecoveratle amounts from the supply of services of E5m (2007 £4m)
This allowance has been made by reference 10 past defaull experience Average debtor days were 44 days (2007 37 days)

The Directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other recevables approximaies their fair value All balances are non
interest bearing and denominated in sterling The Group provides fully for recervables overdue by over six months because
historical experience 1s thal such recevables are generaily not recoverable All other trade recervables are provided for on the
basis of esimated rrecoverable amounts, determined by reference o past default experience

The Group's and Company’s credit rnisk 1s primarily attnibutable to its trade receivables Around 94% of the Group's Income 1s
received from Train Operating Companies (TOCs) and in the form of revenue grants from Government Franchises are issued to
TOCs by the Department for Transport in England and Wales and Transport Scotland in Scotland The Group beheves that
amounts receivable from Government and the TOCs represent a high level of crednt guality This i1s because in the event that a
TOC was financially distressed and unable to meet 1is obligations then provisions i the franchise agreements allow the DT to take
over services at any tme Before accepting any other new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system 1o assess
the potential customer's credit guahty

Included in the Greup’s trade recevable balance are debtors with a carrying value of £24m (2007 £13m) which are past due at
the reporting date for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in the credit quality and the
amounts are still considered recoverable The Group does not hold collateral over these balances The average age of these
recewvables 1s 85 days (2007 75 days)

The following table shows the age of financial assets for the Group and Company which are past due and for which no specific
provision has been raised

2008 2007 2008 2007
Group Group Company Company

£m im £m Em

Past due by 1-28 days 10 7 10 7
Past due by 29-56 days 4 2 4 2
Past due by 57-84 days 4 1 4 1
Past due by 85-180 days 6 3 6 3
24 13 24 13

Loan to immediate parent company
The loan to the iImmediate parent company 1s receivable in full In 2052 Interest 1s charged on an arm’s length basis

Loan to other Group company !
The loan to other Group company (Network Rail (CTRL) Limited} 1s recewvable in full in 2022 Interest 1s charged on an arm’s length basis
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20 Trade and other payables
Current liabilities Trade and other payables

2008 2007 2008 07
Group Group Company Company
£m £m Em £m
Tradle creditors 594 621 584 808
Payments received on account 17 12 17 12
Taxation and sociat secunty 31 38 kh | 38
Other creditors 358 325 358 294
Other interest accruals 252 227 292 221
Other accruals and deferred income 1,136 987 1,141 870
2,388 2,210 2,423 2,043
The average credit perod taken for trade purchases s 44 days (2007 51 days)
The Directors consider that the carrying value of trade and other payables approximates to therr farr value All balances are
ordmarily non interest bearing and denominated n sterling
Neon-current habilittes Other payables
2008 2007 2008 2007
Group Group Company Company
£m £m £m £m
Deferred development income 38 87 39 a7
Captal grants deferred income 1,276 851 1,276 951
Other payables 114 91 114 91
1,429 1,129 1,429 1,129
21 Bank loans and overdrafts
2000 2007 2008 2007
Group Group Company Company
£m im £m £m
Bank loans and overdrafts 1,398 1,482 349 329
Bonds 'ssuecd under the Debt Issuance Programme
{less unamortised discount and fees) 14,662 10,794 - -
Debt 1ssued under the Medium Term Note Programme
{less unamortised discount and fees) 4,072 4,826 - -
Commercial Paper - 1260 - -
Kreditanstatt fur Wiederaufbau working capital facility 200 215 - -
Loans from subsidianes - - 19,290 18,486
20,332 18,577 19,639 18,815
The borrowings are repayable as follows
On demand or due within one year 5,077 2,862 4,412 2,913
Due within one 10 two years 1,158 4,722 1,188 4,761
Due within two to five years 2,783 3,051 2,762 3,140
Due in more than five years 11,314 7,942 11,277 8,001
20,332 18,577 19,639 18,815
.ess amounts repayable within one year (shown under current liabilittas)
Bank loans and overdrafts {100) (100) {20) -
Bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme
(less unamortised discount and fees) (705) (399) - -
Debt 1ssued under the Medium Term Note Programme
(less unamortised discount and fees) {4.072) (888) - -
Commercial Paper - (1,260) - -
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau working capital facility (200) (215) - -
Loans from subsichary - - {4,392) {2913}
Amounts repayable within one year {5,077) (2,862) (4.412) (2913)
Amounts repayable after more than one year 15,255 15,715 15,227 15,902

All borrowings are denominated in or swapped into sterling
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21 Bank loans and overdrafts continued
Bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme are analysed as follows*

2007

2008

2007

Group Group Company Company

Em £m £m Lm

1 085% sterling index hnked bond due 2052 102 - - -
0% sterling index hinked bond due 2052 101 - - -
0% sterling index linked bond due 2051 101 - - -
1 125% sterhng index inked bond dug 2047 509 - - -
0% sterling index inked bond due 2047 62 - - -
1 5646% sterling index linked bond due 2044 217 207 - -
1 2219% sterling index linked bond due 2040 217 207 - -
4 6535% sterling bond due 2038 100 - - -
1 375% sterling index inked bond due 2037 1,012 - - -
7 05% US dollar bond due 2036 12 13 - -
6 91% US dollar bond due 2036 12 13 - -
4 75% sterling bond due 2035 1,221 1,220 - -
1 6492% sterling index linked bond due 2035 328 315 - -
4 375% sterling bond due 2030 868 868 - -
1 75% sterling index inked bond gue 2027 1,545 - - -
4 57% Norwegian krone bond due 2026 13 11 - -
4 615% Norwegian krone bond due 2026 a7 40 - -
1 9618% sterling index Iinked bond due 2025 276 264 - -
4 75% sterling bond due 2024 722 720 - -
4 3775% sterhng bond due 2023 200 200 - -
2 28% Japanese yen bond due 2021 51 43 - -
2 315% Japanese yen bond due 2021 54 45 - -
2 15% Japanese yen bond due 2021 51 43 - -
2 76% Swiss {franc bond due 2021 140 123 - -
4 §25% sterling bond due 2020 995 995 - -
5 0575% US dellar bend due 2017 25 24 - -
4 40% Canadhan dollar bond due 2016 254 219 - -
6% Australian dolar bond due 2016 217 202 - -
4 875% sterling bond due 2015 989 988 - -
4 375% sterling bond due 2011 447 448 - -
5 25% US dollar bond due 2011 h45 515 - -
3% US dollar bond due 2011 502 - - -
5 50% Austrahan dollar bond due 2010 391 349 - -
5 125% sterling bond due 2010 498 498 - -
3 875% US dollar bond due 2009 504 507 - -
4 875% US dollar bond due 2009 654 636 - -
4 46% sterling bond due 2008 50 50 - -
4 125% US dollar bond due 2008 630 634 - -
4 50% sierhng bond due 2008 - 399 - -
14,662 10,794 - -

Amounts are shown net of unamoertised discount and fees
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21 Bank loans and overdrafts continued
Debt 1ssued under the Medium Term Note programme s analysed as follows*

2008 2007 2008 207
Group Group Company Company
£m £m Em Em
4 7/8% sterling Medium Term Note due 2009 2,084 2,244 - -
3 1/6% euro Medium Term Note due 2009 1,988 1,694 - -
2 5/18% US dallar Medium Term Note due 2008 - 634 - -
2 5/8% US dollar Medium Term Note due 2008 - 254 - -
4,072 4,826 - -
“Amounis are shown net of unamaortised discount and fees
Bank loans are analysed as follows
2008 2007 2008 2007
Group Group Company Company
£m £m £m £m
index-nked European (nvesiment Bank due 2037 369 3583 - -
HSBC Bank due 2019 repayable by instalments 206 208 206 206
Barclays Bank due 2017 repayable by instalments 55 55 55 55
Reyal Bank of Scotland due 2017 repayable by instaiments 68 68 68
68
5 57% European Investment Bank due 2013 200 200 - -
5 77% European Investment Bank due 2012 300 300 - -
6 42% European investment Bank due 2011 100 100 - -
6 42% European Investment Bank due 2009 100 100 - -
European Investment Bank due 2007 - 100 - -
1,398 1,482 329 329
The weighted average interest rates on borrowings at 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007 were as follows
2008 2007 2008 2007
Group Group Company Campany
% % % %
Bank loans and overdrafls 524 545 429 545
Debt 1ssued under the Debt Issuance Programme 493 485 - -
Debt 1ssued under the Medium Term Note programme 518 525 - -
Debt 1ssued under the Commercial Paper programme - 525 - -
At 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007 the Group had the following undrawn committed borrowing faciliies
2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007
Drawn Undrawn Total Drawn Undirawn Total
£m £m £m £m Em £m
Working capital faciity - 1,000 1,000 - 1,000 1,000
Standby faciity A - 4,000 4,000 - 4,000 4,000
- 5,000 5,000 - 5,000 5,000
Undrawn commitled facihties expire as follows
2008 2007
Em £m
Within one year 1,000 1000
Within one to two years - -
Within two to five years 4,000 4,000
5,000 5,000

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Annual Report and Accounts 2C08 59




Notes to the financial statements

21 Bank loans and overdrafts continued

In addition the Secrelary of State for Transport has provided support faciliiies in respect of the faciibies histed below
= unhimited financial Indemnity 1n respect of borrowings under the Debt Issuance Programme

+ Medium Term Note Programme
+ £1,050m European [nvestment Bank
+ £200m Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau

The suppeort faciliies provided by the Secretary of State for Transport cover amounts payable under the relevant faciites

22 Denvative financial instruments

2008

2008

Group Company
Fair Notlonal Fair Notlonal
value amounts vatue amaounts
£m £m £m £m
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt 1ssuance Programme 18 391 - -
Cross-currency swaps (o hedge debtissued under the Medium Term Note Programme 289 1,990 - -
Interest rate swaps 19 1,890 19 1,890
Forward starting interest rate swaps 6 150 - -
Fair value hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debl 1ssued under the Debt Issuance Programme 22 382 - -
Forward starting cross-currency swaps 25 750 - -
Embedded denvatives in the inter-company borrowings - - 51 5,383
Non-hedge accounted derivatives
Cross-currency swaps lo hedge debl issued under the Debl Issuance Programme 22 240 - -
Forward starting cross-currency swaps 4 61 4 61
405 5,854 74 7,334
Included in non-current assets 98 - 19 -
Included In current assels 307 - 55 -
Dervative financial instrument assets 405 - 74 -
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps (o hedge debt 1ssued under the Debt Issuance Programme  (73) 1,638 - -
Forward starting interest rate swaps (10) 1,425 (2) 1,000
Fair value hedges
Cross-currency swaps 1o hedge dent issued uncer the Debt Issuance Programme  (44) 1,380 - -
Embedded dernvatives in the inter-company borrowmings - - (22) 1,990
Non-hedge accounted dervatives
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme  (2) 27 - -
(129) 4,470 (24) 2,990
Included in current llabilties (69) - (24) -
Included in non-current iabilities (60) - - =
Dervative financial instrument habilities (129) - (24) -
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22 Denvative financial instruments continued

2008 2007
Group Group
Falr Notional Faw MNotonal
value amounts value amounts
Em £m Em Em
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps 10 hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme  (55) 2,029 (63) 3.376
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt 1ssued under the Medium Term Note Programme 289 1,990 (93) 2,642
Forward starting interest rate swaps (4) 1,575 5 1.487
interest rate swaps 19 1,890 8 400
Forward starting cross-currency swaps - - 1 547
Fair value hedges
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debtissued under the Debt Issuance Programme  (22) 1,762 (22} 1,786
Forward starting cross-currency swaps 25 750 - -
Non-hedge accounted derivatives
Cross-currency swaps to hedge debt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme 20 267 (28) 1,539
Forward starung cross-currency swaps 4 61 - -
276 10,324 {262) 11,777
2008 2007
Company Compgny
Falr Notional Faw Notiongl
value amounts value aimounty
Em £m Lm £m
Cross-currency swaps o hedge cebt issued under the Debt Issuance Programme - - 27 1790
Interest rale swaps 19 1,890 8 400
Forward starung interest rate swaps {2) 1,000 5 1,237
Forward starting Cross-currency swaps 4 61 - -
Embedded derivatives in the inter-company borrowings 29 7,373 (42) 8,350
50 10,324 (2} 11,777
23 Provisions: Group and Company
Emargnmental Other
provision provisions Total
£m £m Em
At 1 Apnl 2006 A7 22 39
Addiional provision 1n the year - 13 13
Uttisation/release of provision (17) {2) (9
At 1 Apni 2007 - 33 33
Additional provision in the year - 2 2
Utlisailon/release of provision - (23) 23
At 31 March 2008 - 12 12
Included in current labiliies - i2 12
Included in non-current habihbies - - -
- 12 12

The Group has provided against a number of commercial claims from third parties included in other provisions for which

selilement 15 expecled to be achieved n the next year

The Group had previously provided for the anticipated costs of remedial works on land inhented from the Briish Railways
Board which has suffered contamination, and where contractual or other abligations require the Company to clear up these
sites Following a review of the planned expenditure, it 1s estimated that all costs have been incurred and so no further

provision 15 required
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24 Deferred tax

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and Company and movement thereon

during the current and prior years

Short term
tming dilferences

Acceleraled tax Revaluaton of including retirement
deprecralion rabway network  benefit obhgations Dervalives Tax losses Tolal
Group Cin Em tm £m m tm
At 1 Apnl 2006 2,264 1,861 {116) (70} {2,044) 1,895
Charge/{credit) io iIncome 276 - 4) (10} 171 433
Charge/(credil) 1o equity 61 (42) 37 51 - 107
At 1 Apni 2007 2,601 1,819 (83) (29) (1,873) 2,435
Charge to income 49 - 12 8 325 394
Chargef(credil) to equity 42 (65} (37) (4) - (64}
At 31 March 2008 2,692 1,754 (108) (25) (1,548) 2,765
Shorl leem
ming ¢itferences
Accelerdled tax Revaluation of incluging retirement
aepreciation raiway network  benefil obhigations Dervatives Tax louses Total
Company £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 April 2006 2,264 1,861 (118) {70) (2,044) 1,895
Chargef(credit} to ncome 276 - {4} 29 174 475
Charge/(credit) to equily 61 (42) 37 a - 65
At 1 April 2007 2,601 1,819 (83) (32) {1,870) 2,435
Charge to income 49 - 12 19 320 400
Charge/(credit) to equity 42 {65) (37) (7) - (67)
At 31 March 2008 2,692 1,754 (108) (20) {1,550) 2,768
Certain deferred tax assets and liabilihes have baeen offset The following 1s the analys:s of the gross deferred tax balances
2008 2007
Em £m
Deferred tax liabilities 4,446 4,420
Deferred tax assets (1,681) (1,985}
2,765 2,435

Network Rail Infrastructure Limitec has a potential deferred tax asset relating to the disposal of the track bed which is carred at
zero in the accounts 11 1s not pdssible (o determine rehiably the tax base of the asset which would be determined by negotation

with HM Revenue and Customs and therefore it has not been possible 1o reliably quantify the potential deferred tax asset
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25 Obligations under finance leases

Present value
Mirumum of mirmum
lease payments lease payments
2008 2007 2008 2007
Group and Group and Group and Group and
Company Campany Company Company
£m £m Em £m
Amounts payable under finance leases

Within one year 1 1 - -
In the second to fifth years inclusive 4 4 2 2
Afier five years 9 10 7 8
14 15 9 10
Less future finance charges (5) (5) nfa n/a
Present value of lease obligations 9 10 9 10
Less amounis repayable within one year {shown under current latilibes} - -
Amounts repayable after more than one year 9 10

The Group leases certain fixtures and fitttngs under finance leasas from third parties All lease abligations are denominated In
sterling The fair value of the Group's lease obligations approximates therr carrying amount The Group’s obligations under finance
leases are secured by the lessors’ charges over the leased assets For the year ended 31 March 2008, the effective borrowing
rate was 5 1% (2007 5 1%) Interest rates are fixed at contract date All leases are on a {ixed repayment basis and no
arrangements have been entered into for contingent rent paymenis

26 Share capital 2008 2007
Group and Group and
Company Company
Em £m
Authonsed

50,200 000 ordinary shares of 0 1p each - -

500,000,000 redeemable shares of £1 each 500 500
500 500

Issued and fully paid
50,084,937 ordinary shares of 0 1p each - -
160,000,000 redeemable shares of £1 each 160 160

160 160

The Company has the option to repurchase any or all of the redeemable shares at any date after 31 March 2003 No premium s
repayable on such redemption and the option to repurchase has no expiry date The redeemable shareholders have no nght to
redemption at therr instigation Redeemable shares do not carry voting nghts, or rank for dwvidend, bul may do sof the Company
passes a resolution o that effect
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27 Reconciliation of changes in equity

Shara Share Revaluaton Other Hedging Retained
capual Premium Reserve Reserve Reserve Earmngs Total

Group £m £m £m Em £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2006 160 85 4,337 1,451 (178} {1,492) 4,363
Revaluation of the rallway network - - 73 - - - 73
Transfer of deemed cost depreciation

fram revaluation reserve - ~ (205) - - 205 -
Increase in deferred tax habsity on

the railway network - - 42 - - (61) (1)
Actuanal gains on defined benefil

pension schemes - - - - - 122 122
Deferred tax on actuanal gains - - - - - (37 (37)
Decrease In far value of

hedging dernvatives - - - - (183) - (183)
Exchange differences on reiranslation

of foreign currency debt - - - - 351 - 351
Deferred taxation on all hedging

reserve movemenis/retained earnings - - - - (50} - (50}
Transfers
Recycling of balances in hedging

reserve 1o other gains and losses

in the Income statement - - - - 4 - 4
Deferred tax on transfers - - - - (1) - (1)
Net profit for the year - - - - - 1,035 1035
At 31 March 2007 160 85 4,247 1,451 {57) (228) 5,658
Impact of change in tax rate - - 121 7 (2) 134
Revaluation of the railway network - - 403 - - 403
Transfer of deemed cost depreciation

from revaluation reserve - - (204) - - 204 -
Increase In deferred tax liability

on the railway network - - {56) - - (57) {113}
Actuanal logses on defined benefit

pension schemes - - - - - {133} (133)
Deferred tax on actuanal losses - - - - - 37 37
Increase in fair value of

hedging denvatives - - - - 370 - 370
Exchange differences on retranslation

of foreign currency debt - - - - (393) - (393)
Deferred taxation on all hedging

reserve movements/retained earmngs - - - - 7 - 7
Transfers
Recyching of balances in hedging

reserve to other gains and losses

in the Income slatement - - - - 4 - 4
Deferred tax on transfers - - - - (1} - (1}
Net profit for the year - - - - - 1,189 1,189
At 31 March 2008 160 85 4,511 1,458 (72) 1,020 7,162

Ciher reserves of £1458m (2007 £1 451m) include the vesting reserve on privatisaion
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27 Reconciliation of changes in equity continued

Share Share Revaluation Qther Hedging Retained
capiial Premum Reserea Reserve Reserve Earnings Total

Company £m £m Em £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2006 160 85 4,337 1,451 {61) (1,622) 4,350
Revaluation of the railway network - - 73 - - - 73
Transfer of deemed cost depreciation

from revaluation reserve - - {205) - - 205 -
Increase in deferred lax hability

on the raillway network - - 42 - - (61) (19}
Actuanal gains on defined benefit

pension schemes - - - - - 122 122
Deferred tax on actuanal gains - - - - - (37) (37}
Increase in fair value of

hedging denvatives - - - - 33 - 33
Deferred taxatien on all hedging

reserve movements/retained earmngs - - - - (8) - (8)
Transfers
Recychng of balances in hedging

reserve {0 other gains and losses

in the income statement - - - - 4 - 4
Deferred tax on transfers - - - - (M - (1)
Net profi for the year - - - - - 1,129 1,129
At 31 March 2007 160 85 4,247 1,451 (33) {264) 5,646
Impact of change n tax rate - - 121 7 m 8 135
Revaluation of the railway network - - 403 - - - 403
Transfer of deemed cost depreciation

from revaluation reserve - - (204} - - 204 -
Increase in deferred tax labiity on

the rallway network - - (56) - - (57) {(113)
Actuanal losses on defined

benelit pension schemes ~ - - - - {133) (133)
Deferred tax on actuanal losses - - - - - 37 37
Decrease in fair value of

hedging dervatives - t - - - (32) - (32)
Deferred taxation on all hedging

reserve movements/retained earnings - - - - 9 - 9
Transfers
Recycling of balances in hedging

reserve to other gains and losses

in the Incoeme statement - - - - - 4
Deferred tax on transfers - - - - {1) - (1)
Net profit for the year - - - - - 1.212 1,212
At 31 March 2008 160 85 4,51 1,458 (54) 1,007 7,167

*Other reserves of £1 458m (2007 £1 451m) include the vesting reserve on prvausanon
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28 Notes to the Cash flow statement

2008 2007 2008 2007
Group Group Company Company
£m Em £m £m
Operating prefit from operations 2,412 2,278 2,408 2,298
Adjustments for
Depreciation of the raiway network 1,195 1,086 1,195 1,086
Amortisation of capital grants (36) {31) (36) (31)
Amorlisation of intangible assets 1 2 - -
Decrease In provisions (21) (6} (21) (6}
Operating cash flows before movements in working camital 3,561 3,329 3,546 3,347
increase In inventones (15) (5) {15) {9)
Increase in receivables (10} (199) {201) (34)
(Decrease)/increase In payables {202) 125 {76) (2%
Cash generated from operations 3,324 3,250 3.254 3279
income taxes paid (4) - {4) -
interest paid (886) (822) {764) (819)
Net cash generated from operating actvities 2,434 2,428 2,486 2,460

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents {which are represented as a single class of assels on the face of the Balance sheet) compnise cash at
bank and money market deposit Investments with an average matunty of 29 days from the Balance sheet date (2007 2 days)

29 Analysis of changes in net debt

Al Foreign A

1 Apnl Non cash Capital AMmortsation Fair valug exchange 31 March

2007 Cash fiows MOVEmEnts agcerelon ol discounl  remeasuremenis aifferences 2008

£m £m fm £m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash eguivalents 193 350 - - - - - 543
Berrowings due within one year  {2,862) 2,914 (4,748) - (20) (1) (362) {5.077)
Borrowings due after one year  {15,715) (3,944) 4,746 (151) (18) (142) (31) (15,255)
Obhgations under finance leases {10) 1 - - - - - (9)
Financial invesiments - 53 - - 1 - 1 55
(18,394) {626) - (151) (37) (143) (392) {19,743)

At Foreign Al

1 April Non cagh Capntal Amortisation Fair value exchange 31 March

2006 Cash flows movements accreton of discounl remeasuremenis aifferences 2007

Em £m £m £m Em £m Em £m

Cash and cash equivalents 31 162 - - - - - 193
Borrowings due within one year (4,188} 2,733 {1.502) - (80) - 173 {2.862)
Borrowings due after one year (14,197} (3,268) 1,495 (36) (13) 105 199 (15.715)
Obligations under finance leases (10 - - - - - - (10
Availabte-for-sale invesiments 161 (161) - - - - - -
(18,201) (534) (7 (36) (93) 105 372 {18,394}
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30 Operating lease arrangements

The Group and Company as lessee 2008 2007 2008 2007
Group Group Company Company
£m £m £m Im

Mimimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in the Income
statement in the year 49 38 48 38

Al the Balance sheet date, the Group and Company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under
ncn-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows

2008 2007 2008 2007

Group Group Company Company

£m £m £m tm

Within one year 49 36 49 36
In the second to hith years inclusive 103 64 103 64
After five years 42 48 42 48
194 148 194 148

Operating lease payments largely represent rentals payable by the Group and Company for certain of its office properties
Leases are negobated for an average term of seven years and rentals fixed for an average of three years (n addion rentals are
paid for [and adjacent to the ratway as required for maintenance and renewal actvities

The Group and Company as lessor

Operating lease rentals earned in the year by the Group and Company were £542m (2007 £516m) The majonty of this income is
earned from station and depot leases to train operating companies Further rentals are earned from investment properties other
station letings. advertising, telecoms and rail contractors

At the Balance sheet date, the Group and Company had contracted with customers for the following future miamum lease paymenis

2008 2007 2003 2007

Group Group Company Compuany

£m £m £Em £m

Within one year 409 420 409 420
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,162 1,188 1,162 1,188
After five years 1,459 1.667 1,459 1,867
3,030 3,275 3,030 3,275

31 Funding and financial nsk management

Introduction

The Company's uttimate parent company 1s Network Rail Limited, a company hmited by guarantee without sharehofders The
Group 1s almost entirely debt funded Debt 1s 1ssued through special purpose financing companies (Network Rai Infrastructure
Finance PLC and Network Rail MTN Finance PLC) which are not members of the Network Rail Limited Group but are treated as
subsidianes for accounting purposes The majority of the Group's debt 1s 1ssued by Network Rail Infrastructure Finance PLC under
the Debt Issuance Programme {DIP) which has been highly rated (AAA by Standard & Poor's, Aaa by Moody's and AAA by Fitch}
The DIP 1s supported by a financial indemnity from the Secretary of State for Transport which expires in 2052

The DIP allows access, through a single platform, to the widest pessible sources of funding, at the lowest possible cost, including
the long term capital markets This gives Network Rail a stable base for funding a continuing programme of long-term investments
in the national rail network Debt 1s issued in a number of currencies and a range of maturities which gives rise to interest rate,
foreign currency and inflation nsk Financial nsk management aims to mitigate these nsks (see below)

Externally imposed capital requirements

The Regulatory Asset Base (RAB) Is the Regulator's valuation of Network Rall's assets This 1s an important business ratio
because the value of the RAB and the amount of debl that the business can sustain are very closely related Generally speaking,
Network Rail's debts cannot exceed the value of the RAB, a debt lo RAB ratio of significantly less than 100 per cent indicates that
the business 1s more robust to future cost shocks (because it 1s more hkely to be able 10 sustain the additional debt that woutd
arise from any 10sses incurred)

The Company owns and operates Britain's rail network under hcence from the Office of Rail Regulation {ORR) The licence
imposes conditions on the Company with regard to its net debt Should the value of the Company's qualifying net debt exceed
85% of the ORR s RAB then the ORR will be formally notified
The Company's debt io RAB ratio at 31 March 2008 and 2007 were as follows

2008 2007

Debt RAB ratio 69 4% 735%
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Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the crteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, In respect of each class of financal asset,
financial hatility and equity mstrument are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements

Surmmary table of financial assets and habilities
The following iable presents the carrying amounts and the farr values of the Group's and Company's financial assets and labiliies
at 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007

The far values of the financial assets and habilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged for in
a current transaction between wiling parties, other than in a forced or iquidation sale The following methods and assumptions
werg used to estimate the farr values

+ cash and cash equivalents — approximates to the carrying amount

* commercial paperiworking capital facility — approximates to the carrying value because of short matunty of these instruments

* bank loans and overdraft — based on market daia at the Balance sheet date and the net present value of discounted cash flows
= bonds issued under the Debt Issuance Programme ~ based on market data at the Balance sheet date Where market data 15 not
avallable valuations obtained from dealing banks

debt 1ssued under Medium Term Note Programme — based on market data at the Balance sheet date

= lcans and receivables and payables — approximates to the carrying value

- lease receivables/obligations - approximates to the carrying value

dervatives - based on market data at the Balance sheet date

2008 2007
Carrylng Fair Carrying Fair
valua value vdlug vdlue
GI'OLlp £m Em £m £m
Financial assets
Cash and cash eguwvalents 543 543 193 193
Other non-derivative financial asseis
Loan to immediate parent company 368 68 348 348
Finance lease recevables 15 15 19 19
Held-to-maturity investments 8 8 - -
Avaitable-for-sale financial assets 47 47 - -
Trade and other receivables 590 590 521 521
Derwvatives
Derivalives designated as cash flow hedging instruments 332 KXY 42 42
Dervatives designated as fair value hedging instruments 47 47 - -
Other denvatives 26 26 - -
Total derivatives 405 405 42 42
Total inancial assets 1,976 1,976 1,123 1,123
Financial llabilities
Fmancial labilities held at amortised cost
Commercial Paper - - (1,260) {1,260)
Obhgations under finance leases (9) (9) (10} (10)
Working capital facility (200) (200} (215) (215)
Bank loans and overdrafts {1,398) (1,464} (1,482} {1,492)
Bonds 1ssued under the Debt Issuance Programme” (13,254) (13,743) (9,516} {9,551
Debt issued under Medium Term Note Programme* {4,072) {4,065} (4.826) (4,758)
Financial habxliies designated as farr value through profit and loss
Bonds 1ssued under the Debt Issuance Programme* {1,408) (1,408) (1,278) (1,278)
Total borrowing (20,341) (20,889) (18,587) {18,564)
Trade and other payables (2,502) (2,502) (2 301) (2,301)
Derivatives
Denvatves designated as cash flow hedgaing instruments (83) (83) (92} (92)
Dernvalives designated as farr value hedging instruments (44) {44) (n84) (184)
Other derivatives (2) {2) (28) {(28)
Tolal dervatives {129) (129) (304) (304)
Total financial abilities (22,972) (23,520) (21,192) (21,169)

Amounts are shown net of unamortised discount and fges
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2008 2007

Carrying Falr Carrying Far
value value valug value
Company £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - 13 13
Other non-derivative financial assets
Loan to immediate parent company 368 368 348 348
Loan to other Group company 91 9 93 93
Finance lease recevables 15 15 19 19
Trade and other recevables M6 716 433 433
Dernvatives
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedging instruments 19 19 40 40
Dernvatives designated as farr value hedging mstruments 51 51 - -
Other derivatives 4 4 - -
Total denvatives 74 T4 40 40
Total financial assets 1,264 1,264 846 946
Financial habhties
Financial hlabilkbies held at amortised cost
Obhgations under finance leases 9) (9) {10) (10}
Bank loans and overdrafts (349) {349) (329) {329)
Loans from subsidianes* (19,290) (19,290) (18.486) (18,486)
Total berrowing (19,648) {19,648) (18,825) (18,825)
Trade and other payables {2,537) (2,537) (2,134) {2,134)
Dervatives
Denvatives designated as cash flow hedging instruments (2) (2) - -
Denvatives designated as fair value hedging instruments (22) (22) (42} (42)
Total denvatives (24) {24) (42) (42)
Total financial liabilities (22,209) (22,209) (21001} {21,001}

Amounts are shown net of unamorises discount and fees

Derivalives

The Group and Company use derivative financial instruments {o reduce expasure to foreign exchange rsk and interest rate
movements The Group and Company do not use dervative financial instruments for speculative purposes Certain denvalives are
designaled as hedges Such derivatives that are not hedge accounted are fair valued immediately through the Income statement
The Group and Company have a comprehensive nsk management process The Board of Network Rail Limited (the ulimate
parent company of NRIL) through & treasury sub-committee (‘the Treasury Commutteg’) have approved and monitor the risk
managemeni processes including documented treasury policies counterparty imits, controllting and reporting structures

The use of denvalive Instruments can give nse to credit and market sk Market risk 1s the possibilty that future changes in foreign
exchange rates and interest rates may make a denvative more or less valuable Since the Group and Company uses dervatives
for nsk management. market risk retating 1o derivative Instruments wil principally be offset by changes in the valuation of the
underlying assets, llabilites or transactions being hedged

Credit nsk

The credil nsk with regard 1o all classes of denvative financial instruments and other funds is limited because counterparties ara
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credii-ratings The Treasury Commiliee authonises the policy for setting
counterparty imits based on credit-rating agencies The Group and Company spread their exposure over a number of
counterparties, and have sinct policies on how much exposure can be assigned to each counterparty The concentration and
amount of the Group's Investmenis varies depending on the level of surplus hiquidity the Group chooses (o hold at any pontin
time However, because of the strict crnitena gaverning counterpariies sudabity the nsk 1s mitigated The Treasury Commuttee also
authonses the investment and borrowing instruments that can be used

For debt designated as fair value through profit or loss there has been no change as a result of credit nsk changes The losses
in the Income statement ansing from the re-measurement of FYTPL debt items of £32m (2007 gains of £41m) are all attnbutable
o changes In market nsk
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31 Funding and financial nsk management continued

Foreign exchange nisk

Network Rail 1s exposed 1o currency risks from its investing, financing and operating actvities Foreign exchange risk for all
currencies Is managed by the use of forward exchange contracts, and currency swaps to limit the effects of movements in
exchange rates on foreign currency denominated liabilities

It s estimated that a general increase of ten percentage points in the value of any currency aganst sterling would have no
matenal effect on the Group's profit before tax or equity due to all debt related currency positions being 100% hedged

Interest rate nsk

The Group and Company are exposed 1o changes in interest rales as funds are borrowed at both fixed and floating interest rates
The hedging sirategy approved by the Treasury Committee defines the appropniate mix between fixed and floating borrowings
Cross-currency and interest rate swap contracis are used to manage the fixed/floaling ratio

Debt with a carrying vatue of £20,092m (2007 £18,369m) 1s arranged at or swapped into fixed interest rates and exposes the
Group to far value interest rate nsk Other borrowings were arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow
Interest rate nsk

The Group has interest rate swaps of £3,465m maturing over the next two years Under these swaps the Group pays an average
fixed rate of 506%

The sensitvity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both dernvatives and
non-derivative Instruments at the Balance sheet date A 1% increase or decrease represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible changes In average interest rates

Sensitivity analysis
If average interest rates had been 1% higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit before tax for the
year ended 31 March 2008 would decrease by £6m (2007 £13m)

If average interest rates had been 1% higher and all other variables were held constant, the Company's profit before tax for
the year ended 31 March 2008 would decrease by £5m {2007 £13m}

The Group's and Company's sensitivity 10 Interest rates has decreased dunng the pernod as all new long-term debt raised
In the year were 1ssued at fixed or inflatien-linked interest rates

Inflation rate sk

The Group and Company have certain debt 1ssuances which are index-inked and so 1s exposed to movements in inflation
rates The Group and Company do not enter into any dervative arrangements to hedge 11s exposure to inflation in relation to
its Index-linked debt

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to inflation rates for both dernvatives and
non-dervative instruments at the Batance sheet date A 1% increase or decrease represents management s assessmenl
of the reasonably possible changes in inflation rates

Sensitivity analysis

If RPI had been 1% higher and all other vanables were held constant, the Group's finance costs for the year ended 31 March
2008 would increase by £52m (2007 £12m) and other than a corresponding movement in the profit and loss reserve there would
be no 1mpact on the equity

If RP1 had been 1% higher and all other varables were held constant, the Company's finance costs for the year ended 31 March
2008 would increase by £52m (2007 £12m) and other than a corresponding movement in the profit and ioss reserve there would
be no impact on the equity

The Group and Company's sensitivity to inflation rates has increased during the pened due 1o further 1ssuances of index-linkec
debt instruments

The Group and Company believes that the above analysis 1s unrepresentative of the nsks inherent in 1ssuing index-Inked debt
Passenger franchuse revenue and revenue grants constitéle £5,584m (2007 £5,433m) of revenue which is far in excess of an
Index-linked interest expense of £137m (2007 £36m) Currently, these sources of income are contraciually index-linked and
whilst there 15 no absolute contractual guaraniee for future regulatory Control Periods that this will continue, the Group and
Company are highly confident that thss will remain to be the case Therefore, the natural hedge that exists between finance costs
and revenue mitigates the nsk of Retail Price Index movements

Embedded denvatives

The obligations and nghts of Network Rail Infrasiructure Limited under the inter-company loan agreement with its financing
companias give nse to embedded denvatives in that agreement which reflects the external currency and interesl rates nsks o
which the financing companies are exposed The embedded denvatives are treated as separate dernvatives and accounted
for in accordance with the accounting policy Note 2
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Liquidity sk management

The ulumate responsibility for lquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors The policy manual ratified by the
Treasury Committee includes an appropriate kquidity nsk management framewaork covering the Group’s short, medium and
long-term funding and hquidity management requirements Treasury 1s subject to regular internal audits Group palicy 1s to ensure
that there are sufficient faciliies and short-term investments to cover, as a minimum, the next 12 months' funding requirements
Treasury ensures sufficient iquidity 1s available to meet the Group and Company's needs, while reducing financial nisks and
prudently opimising the balance between interest receivable and credit risk on surplus cash

The Group manages iquidity nsk by maintasning sufficient banking facilities to cover at least one year's working capital requirement
by continuously monitaning forecast and actual cash flows and matching maturity profiles of financial assets and hzbiliies Included
in Note 21 1s a descnption of addiional undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity nsk

The following table detalls the Group’s remaining cantractual matunty for its financial liabilties The table has been drawn up on
the undiscounied cash flows of financial habilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay and,
therefore, differs from both the carrying value and fair values The table includes both interest and principal cash flows

Within 1 year 12 years 2 Syears 5+ years Total
GTOUD £m Em £m £m Em
31 March 2008
Sterling denominated DIP bonds 339 287 1,720 8,348 10,694
Sterling denominated index-linked bonds 66 68 219 12,695 13,048
Foreign currency denominated bonds 831 1,283 1,634 1,180 4,928
Effect of foreign currency swaps on foreign currency
denominated bonds 93 70 32 (235) {(40)
924 1.353 1,666 945 4,888
Medium Term Notes 4,412 - - - 4,412
Effect of foreign currency swaps on Medium Term Notes {285) - — - (285)
4127 - - - 4,127
Bank toans and gverdrafts 147 56 548 1,757 2,508
Effect of inlerest rate swaps on bank loans and overdrafts - - - 1 1
147 56 548 1,758 2,509
Working capital facility 221 - - - 221
Finance lease habilites 1 i 3 9 14
Trade and other payables 2136 114 - - 2,250
7.961 1,879 4,156 23,755 37,751
Effect of discount/financing costs/dervativas (748) (607) {1,371) (12,434) {15,160}
7.213 1,272 2,785 11,321 22,591
Within 1 year 1 2 years 2 5 years S+ yoars Total
Company £m fm £m £m £m
31 March 2008
Inter-company loan 5,781 1,732 4,085 23,515 35113
Effect of embedded derwvatives on inter-company loan {29) - - - (29)
5752 1,732 4,085 23515 35,084
Bank loans and overdrafts 36 16 50 395 497
Finance lease liabilities 1 1 3 9 14
Trade and other payables 2,224 114 - - 2,338
8,013 1,863 4,138 23,919 37,933
Effect of discount/financing cosis/dervatives (1.470) (561) (1,374) {12,635) {16,040)
6,543 1,302 2,764 11,284 21,893
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within 1 year 12 years 2 5years 5+ years Tota!
Group £m £m £m £m tm
31 March 2007
Sterling denominated DIP bonds €90 335 1,752 8,367 11,144
Sterling denominated index-linked bonds 17 17 55 3,095 3,184
Foreign currency denominated bonds 156 791 2,303 1,121 4,371
Effect of foreign currency swaps on foretgn currency
denominated bonds 19 7% 125 142 362
Effect of interest rate swaps on foreign currency
denominated bonds (t (1) - - (2)
174 866 2,428 1,263 4,731
Medwm Term Notes 1,075 4,11 - - 5,186
Effect of fereign currency swaps on Medium Term Notes 139 16 - - 155
1,214 4,127 - - 5.341
Bank loans and overdrafts 166 162 262 2.064 2,654
Effect of interest rate swaps on bank loans and overdrafls - 1 2 1 4
166 163 264 2,065 2,658
Commercial Paper 1,269 - - - 1,269
Effect of foreign currency swaps on Commercal Paper 3 - - - 3
1,272 - - - 1,272
Working capital faciity 221 - - - 221
Finance lease habilities 1 1 3 10 15
Trade and other payables 1,883 91 - - 2,074
5,738 5,600 4,502 14,800 30,640
Effect of discountfinancing costs/derivatives {893) (787} {1,449) (6,850) {9,979}
4,845 4,813 3.053 7.950 20.661
Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 yoars b+ years Total
Company £m £m £m £m Lm
31 March 2007
Inter-company loan 3714 5,482 4,439 14,292 27.927
Effect of embedded dervatives on inter-company loan 42 - - - 42
3,758 5,482 4,439 14,292 27,989
Bank loans and overdrafts 16 16 49 412 493
Finance lease liabiilies 1 1 3 10 15
Trade and other payables 1,822 9N - - 1,913
5,585 5,590 4,491 14,714 30,390
EHect of discountfinancing costs/denvatives (860) (738) (1,349) (6.705) (9,652)
4,735 4,852 3,142 8,009 20,738
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Cash flow hedges
The following table shows the contractual matunties of payments under cash flow hedges for the Group and Company

2008 2008 2007 2007

Group Company Group Compdny

£m £m £m L£m

Less than one year 24 15 15 3
One to two years 3 2 1 {10)
Two 1o five years 2 (9) 2 )]
More than five years 43 46 43 45
72 54 57 33

Borrowings
Delails of the Group's undrawn commilted faciliies and types of debt instrument used can be found in Note 21

Hedge ineffectiveness
Al 31 March 2008 the Group has recognised a net gain of £13m (2007 net loss of £14m} relating to ineffectiveness ansing from
the Group's cash flow hedges in the Income statement

Denvative matunty
The interest rate and foreign exchange denvatives have the following matunties

2008 2007
Group Group
Fair Notional Fair Natonal
valua amounls valug Amounis
Group £m £m £m £m
Interest rate denvatives
Less than one year {2) 1,825 4 300
One to five years 17 1,640 10 1,465
More than five years - - - -
15 3,465 14 1,765
Foreign exchange dervatives
Less than one year 240 2.4 (105) 2,252
One to five years {17} 3,075 (151) 6,678
More than five years 38 870 (20) 1,082
261 6,859 (276) 10,012

32 Retirement benefit schemes

Defined contnbution schemes

With effect from 1 Aprit 2004 the Company introduced a defined contribution pension scheme the Network Rail Defined
Contrbution Pension Scheme (NRDCPS) This scheme 1s the enly Company-sponsored pensian offered to all new employees of
Network Rail, except those who have the lagal nght o join the Railway Pension Scheme (RPS) Any employee who wishes to
transfer from the Network Rail Section to the NRDCPS 1s entitled to do so

At 31 March 2008, the NRDCPS has 10,163 members (2007 8,495) and the average employer contribution rate 1n the year was
57% (2007 56%)

Defined benefit schemes

The prncipal pension scheme in which the Group participates 1s the Raillway Pension Scheme (RPS), which was established by
slatutory instrument, commenced on 1 October 1994 and 1s a funded defined benefit arrangement The assets and liabilities
under the predecessor scheme, the British Rail Pension Scheme (BRPS), were transferred to the RPS on that date The RPS 1s an
industry-wide scheme for all eigible employees within the railway industry There are different sections within it for different
employers The assets and llabihues of each section are identified separately from those of the other sections The Group has ils
own section, the Network Rail Shared Cost Section {the 'Network Rail Sectien’} This scheme, the assets of which are held
separately from the Group 15 coninbutory and provides pensions related o pay at retrement

The assets transferred to the RPS from the BRPS on 1 Ociober 1994 were apportioned amongst the vanous sections of the RPS in
accordance with the methods and assumptions specified in The Railways Pensions {Transfer and Miscellaneous Prowisions) Order
1994 (ihe 'Transfer Order’) which effected the transfer The amount credited to the Network Rad Section included a share of the
surplus at that time
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32 Retirement benefit schemes continued

Defined benefit schemes continued

Since 1 April 2004, new members can only join the Network Rail Section of the RPS afier completing five years' service Benefits
for existing members and employees joining up to and including 31 March 2004 were not affected by the revised eligibility rules
of the Network Rall Section In addition to deferring entry to the scheme to new employees the Company announced its decision
to cap iis contribution to Bntish Railways Additional Superannuation Scheme (BRASS) malching at current levels for existing
employees and to dispense with maiching for new employees The Company will continue to match regular contributions but wall
not increase them in cash terms in the future

A revised tnennial actuanal valuation of the Network Rail Section by the scheme actuary was underway at 31 December 2007
The results of this are expected in September 2008 Qualified actuanes Watson Wyait have valued the scheme on an IAS 19 basis
al 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007

The total contribution rate payable under the RPS 1s normally sphit in the proportion 60 40 between the Group and the members
The Group reflects its share of the contribution In the financial statements

The Group and members pay contributions of 16 2% (2007 15 51%) and 10 8% {2007 10 34%) of section pay respectively as
at 31 March 2008

If a surplus or deficit anses, the provisions in the RPS rutes mean that the Group and members benefit from or pay for this
respectively in the proportion 60 40

2008 2007

% %
Key assumptions used
Discount rate 690 540
Expected return on equity assets 8 50 B 00
Expected return on bond assets 410 440
Expected return on property assels 6 30 620
Expected rate of price inflation 370 320
Fuiure earnings increases” 520 470
Future pension Increases 70 320
*Inclusive of a promotional salary scale of 0 5% per annum

2008 2007
Malas Famales Males Famales
Average life expectancy for mortalty tables used to determine
defined benefit obligations
Member aged 65 now 205 232 178 201
Member aged 65 in 20 years' ime 244 270 187 212
Amounts recognised in income In respect of the Group's pension arrangements are as follows
2008 2007

£m Em
Current service cost 126 121
Interest cost 116 102
Expected return an scheme assets (135) (119)
Past service cosls - -

107 104
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32 Retirement benefit schemes continued
Defined benefit schemes continued

The current service cost has been included in employee costs, the expected return on scheme assels less interest on liabilities

has been included in finance costs

Actuanal gains and losses have been reperled in the Statement of recognsed income and expense

The amount included In the Balance sheet ansing from the Group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit scheme 1s

as follows
2008 2007
£m £m
The defined benefit obligation 1s made up as follows
Active members (2,550) (2,523)
Deferred pensioner members {282} (253)
Retired members (740} (648)
Present value of defined benefil obligation (3,572) (3,424)
Fair value of scheme assets 2,955 3,010
Deficit in the scheme {617) (414)
Company's share {60%) of the scheme deficit recognised in the Balance sheet {370) (248}
This amount is presented in the Balance sheet as {ollows
Included i current liabilites - -
Included mn non-current llabiities (370) (248)
(370} (248)
Cumulative gains or losses are recognised in equity
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations {including members’ share) in the current year were as follows
2008 2007
£m £m
At 1 Apnl (3,424) (3,234)
Current service cost including members' share (194) (188)
Interest cost (193} {169}
Actual benelit payments 75 56
Actuanial gains and losses 164 111
Past service cost - -
At 31 March {3,572) (3.424)
Movements in the present value of fair value of scheme assets in the current year were as follows
2003 2007
£m £m
At 1 Aprif 3,010 2,635
Expected return on scheme assets 225 188
Acluaral gains and losses (380) 87
Contrnbutions from scheme members 57 54
Contributions from employer 118 92
Actual benefit payments (75) (56}
At 31 March 2,955 3,010
The analysis of the scheme assets and the expected rate of return at the Balance sheet date was as follows
Expegied return Fair value of assels
2008 2007 2008 2007
% % £m Em
Equity Instruments 8 50 8 00 2,266 2,332
Debt instruments 410 4 40 388 372
Property 630 620 29 296
Other 470 4 20 10 10
2,955 3,010
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32 Retirement benefit schemes cortinued

Defined benefit schemes continued

The expected return on assets assumption was determined as the average of the expected returns on the assets held by

the Network Rail Section on the accounting gale The rates of return for each class are set out in tha table above and were

determined as follows

- equities and property The rate adopted 15 consistent with the median assumption used in Watson Wyatt's Asset Liability
Modelling work

« bonds The overall rate has been set to reflect the yields cn the bond holdings

- other assets This class 1s mostly made up of cash holdings and the rate adopted reflects current short-lerm returns on such
deposits

Actuarial assumption sensitivity

The discounl rate 1s sel by reference to market conditions at the reporling date, and can vary significantly between penods

The mortality assumptions used are set by considenng the experience of the scheme's members, and by making an allowance
for possible future iImprovements in longevity Mortality assumptions are difficult to set accurately, and forecasting rates of future
mortality impravement s inevitably speculative

The following table shows the effect of changes in these assumptions upon the defined benefit cbligation
2008

£m
Biscount rate
Decrease In defined benefit obligation at year end from a 25 basis ponts increase 156
Increase in defined benefit obligation at year end from a 25 basis points decrease 164
Mortality
Increase in defined benefit obligation from a one year increase In longevily 71
Decrease in defined benefit obligation from a one year decrease In longevity 77
The history of experience agjustments 1s as follows
2008 2007 2006 2005
£m Fm £m Fm
Present value of defined benefit obligations (3,572) (3,424) (3,234} (2,527)
Farr value of scheme assets 2,855 3,010 2,635 1,849
Deficit in the scheme (617) (414} (599) (678)
Company's share (60%) of the scheme deficit recognised in the Balance sheet {370) (248) (359) (414)
Expenence adjustments on scheme habilites
Amount (£m) (114) {14) (67) {217)
Percentage of scheme habilities 319% 041% 207% 8 59%
Expernence adjustments on scheme assets
Amount (Em) (222) 52 229 79
Percentage of scheme assets {7 51)% 173% 8 69% 4 27%

The estimated amounts of contnbutions expected ta be paid by the Group and members to the scheme dunng the year ended
31 March 2009 are £118m and £60m

33 Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and 1Its subsidianes, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and
are not disciosed in this note

The Company considers its key management personnel to be its Directors Detadls of their remuneration can be found in the
Directors' remuneration report (see page 22)

The Company's ultimate parent company and controliing entity 1s Network Rail Limited, a company imited by guarantee without
shares The Company's immediate parent company 1s Network Rail Holdco Limited Both parent companies are incorporated in
Great Britain and registered in England and Wales The largest group of undertakings of which the Company 1s a member and
for which Graup accounts are drawn up 1s Network Rall Limited Copies of the parent companies’ financial statements can be
obtained by contacting the Company Secretary at 40 Melion Street, London NW1 2EE
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